Potential drivers of the atopic march – unraveling the skin-lung crosstalk

Inaugural-Dissertation

to obtain the academic degree Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)

submitted to the Department of Biology, Chemistry, Pharmacy of Freie Universität Berlin

> by Patrick Graff

> > 2021

This thesis and all associated experiments were prepared and performed from July 2017 to May 2021 under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Sarah Hedtrich at the Institute of Pharmacy – Pharmacology and Toxicology, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany.

1 st Reviewer	Prof. Dr. Sarah Hedtrich
	BIH-Standort Berlin Buch, Charité Universitätsmedizin
	Käthe-Beutler-Haus
	Lindenberger Weg 80
	13125 Berlin

2nd Reviewer Prof. Dr. Charlotte Kloft Freie Universität Berlin Institut für Pharmazie Kelchstraße 31 12169 Berlin

Date of defense 08.02.2022

III

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

First, I want to thank Prof. Dr. Sarah Hedtrich. It was a pleasure and a great opportunity to work on such an interesting, interdisciplinary, and challenging project. Thank you very much for your trust in me, the constant scientific support and advice as well as the creative scientific discussions.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Charlotte Kloft for taking effort and time evaluating this thesis as a second reviewer.

Also, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Monika Schäfer-Korting and Prof. Dr. Burkhard Kleuser for giving me the opportunity to finish my project in their laboratories.

I thank all the cooperation partners who worked with me, gave me tons of input, and supported my work. Thank you, Pascal Canbolat, Dr. Viviane Filor, and Dr. Jenny Wilzopolski. Thank you, Zheng Tan, Anne Voß, Jason Rogalski and Renata Moravcova, Preety Panwar, and Travis Blimkie.

I am very grateful to the groups of Prof. Dr. Monika Schäfer-Korting and Prof. Dr. Günther Weindl for a great time at the Institute of Pharmacy. Especially I would like to thank my boulder-buddy Dr. Christian Hausmann and my party-buddy Dr. Charlotte Lübow (#fromBtoB#fertig).

Moreover, I would like to thank the "Hedtrich Crew", in particular brilliant Dr. Guy Yealland for his fantastic support in the very beginning. Thank you, Dr. Marijana Jevtić and Anne Eichhorst; we had a great time being the "last Hedtrichs" in the lab and supporting each other through some tough times until the very end. It was really a pleasure working with you in the "Keller-Büro"! I would also like to thank hard-working Dr. Anna Löwa for her super creative ideas.

Thank you very much Carola Kapfer, Uta Hirt, and Susanne Scheu for supporting me with cells and, of course, for all those silly conversations during lunch time when I was the "really last Hedtrich" in the Institute. I owe you a lot. A special thanks goes to "Schmidti" (Petra Heine) for her organizational help.

I want to thank for the financial support from the SFB 1112, the "Elsa-Neumann Stiftung" and the "Studienstiftung des deutschen Volkes".

Finally, I would like to thank my wife, my parents, and my mother-in-law for always supporting me. Thank you Elina for being who you are.

STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP

Hiermit versichere ich, Patrick Graff, die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig verfasst zu haben. Alle verwendeten Hilfsmittel und Hilfen habe ich angegeben. Die Arbeit wurde weder in einem früheren Promotionsverfahren angenommen noch als ungenügend beurteilt.

Berlin, den 11.11.2021

Patrick Graff

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AA	allergic asthma	KRT	cytokeratin
AD	atopic dermatitis	LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
AHR	airway hyperresponsiveness	IVL	involucrin
ALI	air-liquid interface	LC	langerhans cell
APC	antigen-presenting cell	LOR	loricrin
AR	allergic rhinitis	MHC	major histocompatibility complex
BALF	bronchoalveolar lavage fluid	MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
BSA	bovine serum albumin	NFκB	nuclear factor kappa B
C3	complement factor C3	NHBE	normal bronchial epithelial cells
CD44	cluster of differentiation 44	NHDF	normal human dermal fibroblasts
COL	collagen	NHEK	normal human epithelial keratinocytes
DC	dendritic cell	NHLFb	normal human lung fibroblasts
DE	differentially expressed	NMF	natural moisturizing factor
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium	OVA	ovalbumin
ECM	extracellular matrix	PAR-2	protease-activated receptor 2
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay	qRT-PCR	quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
EMT	epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition	SD-4	syndecan-4
EoE	eosinophilic esophagitis	siRNA	small interfering RNA
FA	food allergy	TEWL	transepidermal water loss
Fb	fibroblast	TGF	transforming growth factor
FBS	fetal bovine serum	TIMP	tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase
FLG	filaggrin	Тс	cytotoxic T cell
GCH	goblet cell hyperplasia	Th	T helper cell
GCM	goblet cell metaplasia	TNF	tumor necrosis factor
GWAS	genome-wide association study	Treg	regulatory T cell
IFN	interferon	TSLP	thymic stromal lymphopoietin
lg	immunoglobulin	TSP-1	thrombospondin-1
IL	interleukin	VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
ILC2	group 2 innate lymphoid cell	WT	wild type
KC	keratinocyte		

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTIV			
STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIPV			
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	VI		
SUMMARY	Х		
ZUSAMMENFASSUNG	XI		
1. INTRODUCTION	1		
1.1 Atopy	2		
1.1.1 From early to late stage of the atopic march	2		
1.1.2 Epidemiology	4		
1.1.3 Late stage: allergic asthma	6		
1.2 Underlying mechanisms of the atopic march	11		
1.2.1 Environmental factors	12		
1.2.2 Genetics	13		
1.2.3 Immunological mechanisms	15		
1.3 Preclinical models of atopic diseases	19		
1.3.1 The gold standard: animal models	19		
1.3.2 Human-based alternatives: 3D reconstructed tissues	21		
1.4 Aims	23		
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	24		
2.1 Materials	25		
2.1.1 Cells and human material	25		
2.1.2 Equipment	25		
2.1.3 Consumables	26		
2.1.4 Reagents	27		
2.1.5 Antibodies	28		
2.1.6 Primers	29		
2.1.7 siRNA	30		
2.1.8 Kits	30		
2.1.9 Buffers	31		
2.1.10 Cell culture media	32		
2.1.11 Software	33		
2.1.12 Mice	33		
2.2 Methods	34		
2.2.1 Cell culture	34		
2.2.1.1 Isolation of NHEK and NHDF from juvenile foreskin	34		
2.2.1.2 Generation of in vitro 3D skin (disease) equivalents	34		
2.2.1.3 ISOLATION OF NUMBER NAIVE CD4+/8+ 1 CEILS FOR PRIMING EXPERIMENTS. 2.2.1.4 Isolation of nation-derived fibroblasts	35 25		
2.2.1.5 Generation of self-assembled ECM models	36		

	2.2.1.6 Generation of in vitro 3D bronchial epithelial equivalents	36 37
	2.2.1.8 Co-culture of skin and bronchial epithelial equivalents	37
	2.2.2 Cryo- and micro-sectioning	38
	2.2.3 De-waxing of paraffin sections	39
	2.2.4 Hematoxilin and eosin staining	40
	2.2.5 Alcian blue staining	40
	2.2.6 Immunofluorescence staining	41
	2.2.7 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)	43
	2.2.8 Isolation of proteins	44
	2.2.9 SDS-PAGE and western blot	44
	2.2.10 LDH-Assay for cell viability	45
	2.2.11 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	45
	2.2.12 ECM characterization	46
	2.2.13 Proteomics analysis of skin equivalent secretome	46
	2.2.14 Proteomics analysis of ECM models	48
	2.2.15 RNA-sequencing of patient-derived fibroblasts	49
	2.2.16 In vivo experiments in BALB/c mice	49
	2.2.17 Statistical analysis	52
3.	RESULTS	.53
	3.1 Co-cultivation of skin and bronchial epithelial equivalents	54
	· · ·	
	3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54
	3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium3.1.2 Skin disease equivalents induce asthma-like inflammation in bronchial epithelial equivalents after co-culture	54 62
	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73
	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 73
	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 73 78
	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 73 78
	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 73 78 78
	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 73 hial 73 78 78 88 93
4.	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 78 78 93 93
4.	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 78 78 78 93 93 98
4.	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 78 78 78 93 93 98 101
4.	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 73 78 93 93 93 93 93 101 111
4.	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 73 78 78 93 93 97 98 101 111 113
4.	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 78 78 78 78 93 93 97 98 101 111 113 114
4. R	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 73 78 78 93 93 93 98 101 111 113 114 116
4. RI	 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium	54 62 73 hial 73 78 93 93 93 97 98 101 111 113 114 116 144

CURRICULUM VITAE	
APPENDIX	

SUMMARY

Atopic diseases such as atopic dermatitis (AD), food allergy, allergic rhinitis, and allergic asthma are not only an economical burden to the healthcare system but also a highly physiological and psychological burden for patients. Similar pathophysiological patterns like increased IgE plasma concentration as well as Th2-dominant inflammation characterize these diseases. By now, it is well-accepted that AD is the "entry point" for a successive development of further atopic diseases during the first 10 years of life - a process known as the atopic march. However, the underlying mechanisms are still not fully understood and by far not all responsible factors have been identified; a drawback resulting in poor options for prevention.

In this thesis, a human-based two-organ co-culture of skin disease equivalents, mimicking hallmarks of AD, and healthy bronchial epithelial equivalents was established for studying the pathophysiological crosstalk between skin and bronchi. Already a short co-cultivation period of six days induced a clear hyperproliferative phenotype with elevated mucus-secretion and an increase of inflammatory markers as determined on gene and protein level. Consequently, this led to the suggestion that either epithelial or dermal factors might play a role due to missing immune cells in this co-culture. Secretome of skin disease equivalents as well as proteome and transcriptome analysis patient-derived fibroblasts revealed significant changes of extracellular matrix (ECM)-related genes and proteins. In an exemplary study, the effect of five ECM-related compounds (complement factor C3, fibronectin, syndecan-4 (SD-4), cluster of differentiation 44 (CD44), and thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1)) was tested on bronchial epithelial equivalents and naïve activated CD4+ T cells. For all compounds, an asthma-like inflammation was induced in bronchial epithelial equivalents. Furthermore, a compound-specific polarization of naïve activated CD4+ T cells into different Th subsets was observed.

In addition to the human-based *in vitro* co-culture model, three out of five ECM-related compounds (SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1) were tested *in vivo* in healthy BALB/c mice in the context of a translational study. In line with the *in vitro* experiments, a polarization of murine CD4+ T cells towards Th1, Th17, and Th22 subtypes was observed in a first low-dose approach. Interestingly, no histological changes in skin and lung were observed. However, treated mice had an increased size and weight of spleen.

Taken together, the established human-based two-organ co-culture system not only enables investigation of the crosstalk between healthy skin and bronchus, but also of the pathophysiological communication in the context of the atopic march by using diseased skin equivalents. The results of this thesis demonstrate the importance of ECM in the complex pathophysiology of the atopic march - a hitherto underestimated feature. In this regard, further research is needed to finally assess new targets for the prevention of the atopic march.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Atopische Erkrankungen wie atopische Dermatitis (AD), Nahrungsmittelallergie, allergische Rhinitis und allergisches Asthma stellen nicht nur eine wirtschaftliche Belastung für das Gesundheitssystem dar, sondern sind auch eine große physiologische und psychologische Belastung für die Patient*innen. Ähnliche pathophysiologische Muster wie eine erhöhte IgE-Plasmakonzentration und eine Th2-dominante Entzündung kennzeichnen dieses Krankheitsbild. Es ist inzwischen allgemein anerkannt, dass AD der Ausgangspunkt für die sukzessive Entwicklung weiterer atopischer Erkrankungen in den ersten 10 Lebensjahren ist - ein Prozess, der als atopischer Marsch bekannt ist. Die zugrundeliegenden Mechanismen sind jedoch noch immer nicht vollständig geklärt und es sind bei weitem nicht alle relevanten Faktoren identifiziert, welches in mangelnden Präventionsmöglichkeiten resultiert.

In dieser Arbeit wurde eine humane Zwei-Organ-Kokultur aus Haut-Modellen mit AD-Merkmalen und gesunden Bronchialepithel-Modellen etabliert, um die pathophysiologische Wechselwirkung zwischen Haut und Bronchien zu untersuchen. Bereits eine kurze Kokultivierungszeit von sechs Tagen führte zu einem hyperproliferativen Phänotyp mit erhöhter Schleimsekretion und einem Anstieg von Entzündungsmarkern auf Gen- und Proteinebene. Daraus lässt sich schließen, dass entweder epitheliale oder dermale Faktoren eine Rolle spielen könnten, da Immunzellen in dieser Kokultur fehlten. Das Sekretom von AD Haut-Modellen sowie die Proteom- und Transkriptomanalysen von Patientenfibroblasten ergaben signifikante Veränderungen der Expression von Genen und Proteinen, die mit der extrazellulären Matrix (ECM) in Zusammenhang stehen. In einer beispielhaften Studie wurde die Wirkung von fünf ECM-verwandten Mediatoren (Komplementfaktor C3, Fibronektin, Syndecan-4 (SD-4), Cluster of differentiation 44 (CD44) und Thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1)) auf Bronchialepithel-Modellen und naiven CD4+ T-Zellen getestet. Alle Mediatoren induzierten eine Asthma-ähnliche Entzündung in den Bronchialepithel-Modellen und eine Mediator-spezifische Polarisierung von naiven CD4+ T-Zellen in verschiedene Th Subtypen.

Darüber hinaus wurden drei der fünf ECM-verwandten Mediatoren (SD-4, CD44 und TSP-1) im Rahmen einer translationalen Studie *in vivo* an gesunden BALB/c-Mäusen getestet. In Übereinstimmung mit den *in vitro* Experimenten wurde in einem ersten Niedrigdosis-Ansatz eine Polarisierung muriner CD4+ T-Zellen in Richtung der Subtypen Th1, Th17 und Th22 beobachtet. Interessanterweise wurden keine histologischen Veränderungen in der Haut und Lunge beobachtet, allerdings waren Größe und Gewicht der Milz erhöht.

Insgesamt ermöglicht das etablierte humane Zwei-Organ-Kokultursystem nicht nur die Untersuchung der Interaktion zwischen gesunder Haut und Bronchien, sondern auch der pathophysiologischen Kommunikation im Rahmen des atopischen Marsches durch die Verwendung von AD Haut-Modellen. Die Ergebnisse dieser Arbeit zeigen die Bedeutung der bisher unterschätzen ECM in der komplexen Pathophysiologie des atopischen Marsches. In dieser Hinsicht sind weitere Forschungen erforderlich, um neue Targets für die Prävention des atopischen Marsches zu ermitteln. **1. INTRODUCTION**

1.1 Atopy

Atopy (from Greek "strangeness") describes the genetic tendency to develop allergic disorders such as atopic dermatitis (AD), food allergy (FA), allergic rhinitis (AR), and allergic asthma (AA) and was first introduced in 1923 by Coca and Cooke (Coca and Cooke 1923). Whereas AD as life-long and non-lethal condition has the highest disease burden of all skin diseases (Laughter et al. 2020; WHO Global estimates 2020) and often leads to psychological stress (e.g., sleep disorder, depression) and economic consequences (Drucker et al. 2017), asthma ranks 3rd among global causes of death with around 400,000 people dying from asthma each year (Vos et al. 2017; WHO Global estimates 2020). Patients suffering from atopic diseases are more likely to react to natural or synthetic environmental factors (e.g., indoor and outdoor allergens, pollutants) with an immediate hypersensitivity (Type 1 allergy). This type 1 allergy is characterized by increased immunoglobulin E (IgE) secretion and a Th2-dominant immune response. The responsible environmental factors may cause symptoms through cutaneous, aerogenic, or intestinal contact. Most prominent allergens are dust mite, trees, pollens, and dander. After a symptom-free first contact, a second contact might lead to characteristic type 1 allergy symptoms such as histamine-induced redness, swelling, and itching. Other symptoms, depending on the affected tissue, can also be (mucus-)hyper-secretion and hyper-responsiveness.

These diseases do not inevitably occur together or at the same time. Often, a sequential progression is observed starting with the "entry point" AD and continuing with AR and AA. This process is called the atopic march.

Although several animal models of the atopic march exist, the need for human-based alternatives is high. As shown with human-based *in vitro* skin (disease) equivalents, especially mimicking features of AD, it is possible to generate highly valuable data concerning biomarkers, pathophysiological mechanisms, and improve and expand treatment options. The development of further reconstructed organs and the gradual expansion from a single- to a multi-organ co-culture might be a highly useful tool for understanding inter-tissue communication on a fundamental level, hence identifying key mediators and developing options for prevention as well as the treatment of the atopic march.

1.1.1 From early to late stage of the atopic march

The atopic march classically begins with AD, followed by IgE-mediated FA, AR, and AA (Hill et al. 2016). Other common diseases in the spectrum of atopy are considered to be eosinophilic esophagitis (EoE) and allergic conjunctivitis (Sicherer and Leung 2012; Burks et al. 2012; Abonia and Rothenberg 2012; Rancé 2008). Although the term "atopy" is highly associated with IgE, this pathophysiologic mediator plays a role

INTRODUCTION

in just some atopic diseases, but not all of them. All atopic diseases have a highly complex pathophysiology and emerge from genetic, environmental as well as immunological sources. This multifactorial group of diseases is connected on several different levels. Even though no clinical symptoms can be observed immediately after birth, a genetic predisposition for the development of allergies might already be present (Wahn 2000). The most frequent diseases evolving during childhood are AD, AR, and AA, also known as the "allergic triad" (Rhodes et al. 2001, 2002). The natural history of atopic diseases classically starts with AD within the first 6-24 months of life (Eller et al. 2010; Kulig et al. 1999). Depending on the allergen, FA follows at varying age. Whereas allergies against cow's milk and hen's egg often occur within the first year of life, soy-, wheat-, and peanut butter-allergy develop in later childhood (Kulig et al. 1999). With rising prevalence from early childhood to adolescence, the development of AR follows (Keil et al. 2010) (Fig. 1). Ultimately, AA completes the picture of atopic diseases in manifesting before the age of 5 (Yunginger et al. 1992; Phelan, Robertson, and Olinsky 2002; Morgan et al. 2005). This classic progression of atopic diseases for sure cannot be generalized. The atopic march (or allergic march) depends on many factors. It is clear that children suffering from AD more likely develop FA, AR, and AA than children not suffering from AD (Lack et al. 2003; Tsakok et al. 2016; Brough et al. 2015, 2014). The risk for FA increases by 6-fold for AD patients compared to healthy children (Tsakok et al. 2016). Nevertheless, an additional distinction has to be made concerning the age of onset, severity, and chronicity of AD. Children with mild AD for example have a 20% risk for developing asthma, whereas it is a 60% risk for children with severe AD (Gustafsson, Sjöberg, and Foucard 2000; Lewis 1998; Beasly 1998). The proof for a temporal relationship between atopic diseases and the concept of the atopic march was clearly provided by several epidemiological studies. Also, some factors are already known to play a role in the atopic march. Nevertheless, the underlying molecular mechanisms are poorly understood and partly not known at all. Therefore, we have a high need for more detailed research and for the development of reliable human-based methods and models.



Figure 1. Development of atopic diseases

Successive development of atopic diseases such as AD, FA, AA, and AR depending on age according to (Hill and Spergel 2018). Reprinted with permission from John Wiley and Sons.

1.1.2 Epidemiology

Atopic Dermatitis

Despite great clinical heterogeneity, AD is one of the biggest health problems and the most common inflammatory skin disease in the western world with a prevalence of up to 30% affected children and 7-10% adults and an increasing incidence over the past few decades all over the world (Deckers et al. 2012; Dalgard et al. 2015; Schmitt et al. 2015; Abuabara et al. 2018; Langan, Irvine, and Weidinger 2020). For a long time, AD has been the disease of children (up to 7 years of age) in developed countries with 45% affected children before 6 months of age, approximately 60% before reaching 1 year of age, and almost 85% before 5 years of age (Spergel 2005; Gawkrodger, Mortimer, and Jaron 1994), whereas nowadays more than 230 million people worldwide across all ages and ethnicities suffer from AD according to data from the WHO Global Burden of Diseases initiative. An incidence peak in infancy shows an early onset of AD before 6 years of age with decreasing prevalence in early adulthood and another slight increase in older generations (>75 years of age) (Laughter et al. 2020). The International Study of Asthma and Allergy in Childhood (ISAAC) shows a highly variable AD prevalence across the world. It highlights the importance of environmental factors by showing differences even in

genetically similar populations. Moreover, it shows an increasing prevalence in 6- to 7year-old children all over the world, especially in low-income countries such as Africa and southeast Asia, while the prevalence of >12-year-old children remained stable. These datasets were collected by measuring AD symptoms of 6- to 7- as well as 13- to 14-yearold AD patients using uniform questionnaires at two different timepoints 5-10 years apart (M. Asher et al. 2006). An annual prevalence of approximately 15% in adults living in developed countries meanwhile shows that AD may persist, relapse or onset in adulthood; thus, may be considered as a lifelong disease (Abuabara et al. 2018; Margolis et al. 2014). Worldwide there is a prevalence of 15-20% among children, varying between countries, regions, and age. For children of 6-7 years of age, prevalence lies between 0.9% (India) and 22.5% (Ecuador). In several Asian, African, and Latin-American countries prevalence is also high ranging between 7-14%. For 13- to 14-year-old children, numbers between 0.2% (China) and 24.6% (Columbia) were determined with a likewise high prevalence in in Africa, Latin-America, and Europe (>15%).

Asthma

Worldwide >300 million children and adults are affected by asthma, making asthma one of the most common major non-communicable chronic diseases (WHO Global surveillance 2008) characterized by airway inflammation and airway remodeling. The number of individuals suffering from asthma is likely to increase to 400 million by 2025 (Global Asthma Network 2018). The worldwide increase of asthma prevalence started around 1970 with still unclear cause and a continues trend towards 1995-2000 (Bousquet et al. 2005). In 2000, after a peak in high-income countries, first studies observed declining prevalence, whereas prevalence in middle- and low-income countries is still rising (M. I. Asher et al. 2006). In the late 70s, not only asthma but also the prevalence of other immune-mediated diseases such as type 1 diabetes mellitus and multiple sclerosis started increasing. A possible reason epidemiological researchers started to focus on is the change of maternal diet during pregnancy which is possibly leading to altered airway and gut microbiota (Jackson et al. 2014). As seen with other atopic diseases, not only a large geographical variation in prevalence but also huge variation in severity of asthma can be observed. In low-income countries and rural areas, the prevalence is <1%, whereas a mean prevalence of 10% (1-18%) is seen in developed countries and urban areas (D. Wang et al. 2013; Bousquet et al. 2005). In contrast to the non-fatal diseases AD and FA, asthma is additionally characterized by relatively high mortality, paradoxically being predominant in low-income countries (To et al. 2012). Considerable and potentially avoidable reasons for this high morbidity and mortality in low- as well as middle-income countries might be under- and misdiagnosis as well as insufficient treatment (Fig. 2). Not only is there a difference in prevalence between urban-rural/developed-developing

countries but also in age and sex. Although asthma predominantly begins in early

5

childhood, spontaneous remission or a late first-onset in adulthood is not uncommon (Butland and Strachan 2007). Asthma is also known for its sex-reversal. Whereas incidence, prevalence, and hospitalization rate are higher for pre-pubertal boys than for girls, there is asthma remission for boys/men in post-pubertal childhood and early adulthood with a rise of incidence and prevalence for women (Arshad et al. 2014; Szefler 2015; Yunginger et al. 1992; Fuhlbrigge, Jackson, and Wright 2002). A population-based survey found an asthma-onset for boys to be at the median age of 3 years, whereas for girls it was at 8 years (Yunginger et al. 1992).

Nevertheless, there is a huge problem in consistency due to multiple various definitions. Across 122 published articles, around 60 definitions of "childhood" asthma have been used which leads to a huge heterogeneity of asthma as well as a challenge for epidemiological research (Van Wonderen et al. 2010).



Figure 2. Asthma prevalence

Prevalence of asthma depicted in low-, intermediate- and high-income countries from 1950 to 2000 according to (Bousquet et al. 2005).

1.1.3 Late stage: allergic asthma

Asthma, as the most common inflammatory airway disease and "endpoint" of the atopic march, involves both, the large- and small-conducting airways, and is increasing in prevalence worldwide depicting a substantial global health and economic burden. This disease is highly heterogenous, strongly linked with allergic sensitization, and characterized by chronic (type 2-dominant) inflammation and remodeling of airways. Nevertheless, several sub-phenotypes of asthma need to be considered. The early-onset (childhood-onset) asthma is a T2-type asthma including AA, eosinophilic asthma, Aspirin-

exacerbated respiratory disease, and exercise-induced asthma. The late-onset (adulthood-onset) asthma on the other hand is a non-T2-type asthma and includes obesity-associated asthma, smoking-related neutrophilic asthma, and smooth muscle-mediated paucigranulocytic asthma (S. E. Wenzel 2012). Asthma has a variety of respiratory symptoms like wheeze, cough, breath shortness, and hyperresponsiveness leading to airflow obstruction and decline in lung function over time. A possible trigger for childhood-onset asthma beside susceptibility for atopic diseases are viral infections (RSV or rhinovirus) with already underlaying deficits in lung function and immune system.

Airway inflammation and remodeling

The most prominent features of asthma pathophysiology are airway inflammation and airway remodeling. Analogous to other atopic diseases such as AD and FA, in 50-80% of children and adults suffering from asthma a type 2 inflammation occurs (Fahy 2015), which is associated with sensitization to pollens, pets, dust mites, and fungi (Sporik et al. 1990). In addition to an infiltration with Th2 cells, eosinophils, basophils, and neutrophils are involved in mucosal inflammation (Djukanovic et al. 1990). An important distinction has to be made here concerning T cell profile in asthmatic airways. In classic AA, a dominant role of Th2 CD4+ T cells is known, whereas other T cell subtypes play a role in other asthmatic sub-phenotypes. With neutrophilic asthma, Th1 und Th17 cells are associated (Truven et al. 2006; Chesné et al. 2014). For non-allergic and eosinophilic asthma, it is known that TSLP, interleukin (IL-)25, and -33, the currently known key mediators in the atopic march, trigger type 2 inflammation by inducing group 2 innate lymphoid cells (nuocytes, ILC2s) with subsequent IL-5, -9, and -13 secretion (Neill et al. 2010; H. Y. Kim, Dekruyff, and Umetsu 2010; Martinez-Gonzalez, Steer, and Takei 2015). The reasons for an activation of the airway immune system are diverse. Beside the already mentioned systemically acting T cells from allergen-induced skin sensitization, a local activation is possible. Therefore, either bacterial and viral infections or pollutants disturb the mucosal epithelium of the airways inducing the secretion of chemokines (e.g., TSLP, IL-25, IL-33, GM-CSF, IL-1β, and TNF) subsequently attracting immature dendritic cells (DCs) to the epithelium. Some of the typically known asthmatic allergens such as fungi, dust mite, and cockroach are able to directly penetrate epithelial barrier through their enzymatic properties (Jacquet 2011). Analogous to allergen-induced inflammation in the skin, immature DCs maturate into competent antigen presenting cells (APCs) through activation of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). These competent antigen-presenting myeloid-type DCs phagocytose, process, and present allergen peptides via MHC class II

to naïve T cells after migrating to local lymph nodes. Subsequent to the interaction of MHC II with TCR and several co-stimulatory molecules, differentiated and mature Th2 cells migrate back to the airway epithelium with additional influence of several cyto- and

chemokines such as TSLP, IL-25, IL-33, CCL-17, CCL-22, GM-CSF, and TNF (Holgate 2012).

These activated Th2 cells trigger further immune responses (e.g., IgE, eosinophils, mast cells) by secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-3, -4, -9, and -13 (Lambrecht and Hammad 2015; Kay 2006), whereas IL-4, -9, and -13 increase results in injury and epithelial stress followed by metaplasia of mucus-secreting epithelial goblet cells hand in hand with excessive mucus production (Boucherat et al. 2013). This process may result in infections, intraluminal accumulation of mucus, and obstruction of the airways (Rose and Voynow 2006). As soon as an individual is sensitized, further allergen exposure to the airways results in two types of responses. The early and late response. The first, the early-type broncho-constrictor response (EAR), is mast cell-driven, lasts for up to 90 minutes, and is characterized by high levels of IgE-dependent histamine release. prostaglandin D2, and leukotriene C4 (LTC4) (Bradding, Walls, and Holgate 2006). The subsequent late-phase response (LAR) is characterized by infiltration of eosinophils and other leukocytes, high levels of LTC4, cytokine release from T cells and mast cells with a duration of 3-12 hours, and an increase of airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) (Hargreave et al. 1986). In addition to these well-known pathophysiological processes in the asthmatic airway inflammation, further potential inflammatory mediators such as in asthmatic airways reduced lipoxins (especially lipoxin A4) - normally inducing eosinophil apoptosis and decreasing ILC2- and NK-activity - or resolvins were identified (Barnig et al. 2013).

The next important feature of the asthmatic airways is the process of remodeling. It is known that disease severity and duration correlate with the thickness of the airway wall (Barbers et al. 2012; Al-Muhsen, Johnson, and Hamid 2011). This process is characterized by several changes in the lung tissue such as metaplasia of epithelial mucus, neuronal proliferation, angiogenesis, sub-epithelial reticular lamina thickening, smooth muscle increase, and matrix deposition throughout the airway wall (Fig. 3) (Wadsworth, Sin, and Dorscheid 2011; Bjermer 2014). A metaplasia or hyperplasia of goblet cells for example results from injury, epithelial stress, and is dependent on several factors (IL-4, -9, -13, -17, ROS, EGFR) (Shimbara et al. 2000; Humbert et al. 1997; Al-Ramli et al. 2009; Di Stefano et al. 2002; Janssen-Heininger et al. 2009; Louahed et al. 2000; Wills-Karp et al. 1998; Takeyama, Fahy, and Nadel 2001; Takeyama et al. 1999). The two mechanisms behind that are either selective cellular proliferation (goblet cell hyperplasia – GCH) or cell trans-differentiation (goblet cell metaplasia - GCM). Especially club cells were found to transdifferentiate into goblet cell-like mucus producing cells as observed in secretory granules expressing club cell marker CC10 by confocal imaging and in vivo lineage tracing in antigen-challenged mice (Hayashi et al. 2004; Reader et al. 2003; Boucherat, Chakir, and Jeannotte 2012). Another cell type found to transdifferentiate into mucus-producing cell are ciliated cells. Here, a co-expression of acetylated β-tubulin, a marker for ciliated cells, and the goblet cell mucin MUC5AC was

observed in mice after inducing metaplasia with Sendai virus (Tyner et al. 2006). Another study supports this data. Here, ovalbumin (OVA-)treated mice had a 75% decrease in club cells and a 25% decrease in ciliated cells (Reader et al. 2003). Nevertheless, GCH remains the main mechanism (T. Shimizu et al. 1996). In addition to an increase in the number of goblet cells, myofibroblasts produce several collagens of the so-called "repair type" (I, III, V, and VI), periostin, tenascin, and fibronectin leading to thickening of the subepithelial basement membrane (Roche et al. 1989; Kanemitsu et al. 2014; Liesker et al. 2009). Epithelial cell injury moreover leads to the establishment of an epithelialmesenchymal trophic unit located between smooth muscle and epithelial layers (Holgate et al. 2004), in which the epithelium secrets growth factors like TGFB, PDGF, FGF, and VEGF resulting in smooth muscle proliferation, fibrosis, angiogenesis (Chanez et al. 1995; Puddicombe 2000: Olgart Höglund et al. 2002; Lopez-Guisa et al. 2012), and migration of subepithelial microvascular pericytes (Johnson et al. 2015). All these processes lead to a chronic wound-like scenario (Puddicombe et al. 2003; Alcala et al. 2014) promoting mucosal fibrosis, neuronal and microvascular proliferation, and smooth muscle hyperplasia; thus, resulting in airway remodeling (Harkness, Ashton, and Burgess 2015; Desideria et al. 2008; Roche et al. 1989).



Figure 3. Structural remodeling of asthmatic airways

Sections from healthy and severe asthmatic airways stained with Movat's pentachrome stain show increased volume of smooth muscle (Sm), hyperplasia of mucus, thickened basement membrane (Bm), and reduced lumen (Wadsworth, Sin, and Dorscheid 2011).

Another important feature of asthma is the immediate hypersensitivity mediated by the IgE-FccRI (high-affinity Fc receptor for IgE) complex on mast cells not only playing a role in the lung, but also in the skin (AD), in the gut (FA), and in the nose (AR) (Gould et al. 2003; Kraft and Kinet 2007). The FccRI is expressed on mast cells, basophils, and human (not mouse) APCs, eosinophils, smooth-muscle cells, and monocytes as ay2 trimer (Kinet 1999; Kraft and Kinet 2007). IgE itself is synthesized by B cells. The process of allergeninduced T cell activation towards Th2 response mentioned above is followed by the secretion of IL-4 and -13 as well as the expression CD40 ligand (CD40L) on T cell surface, resulting in initiation of B cell-to-plasma cell differentiation, a heavy-chain class switch from IgM to IgE, and the synthesis of allergen-specific IgE antibodies (Takhar et al. 2005; Gould et al. 2006; Takhar et al. 2007). Although the main mechanism of mast cell degranulation occurs through binding and crosslinking of several allergen-IgE complexes on mast cell surface inducing the early phase of allergic reaction, studies found that also specific monomeric IgE molecules are able to activate mast cells and either lead to a full degranulation (highly cytokinergic mast cells) or to enhanced mast cell survival (poorly cytokinergic mast cells) (Kraft and Kinet 2007; Kawakami and Galli 2002). Here, beside a histamine release that leads to bronchospasm, edema, and mucous secretion in the lower airways (Stone, Prussin, and Metcalfe 2010), mast cells also secrete and express type 2 cytokines such as IL-4, -13, and CD40L; thus, amplifying IgE-production in B cells (MacGlashan 2005). Around 6-24 h after the early phase of allergic reaction, the late phase peaks leading to local recruitment and activation of further inflammatory cells. Eosinophils, recruited by IL-5, are the most important subtype of leukocytes involved in the late phase leading to edema, tissue damage, and maintaining chronic inflammation (Stone, Prussin, and Metcalfe 2010).

Interestingly, with 4% IgE-expressing B cells and 12-19% IgE-expressing plasma cells in respiratory mucosa of asthmatic and allergic individuals, these populations are increased compared to healthy individuals with only 1% of IgE-expressing B and plasma cells (Kleinjan et al. 2000).

In asthma diagnosis and monitoring, several different biomarkers are available. Currently applied methods include non-invasive pulmonary function tests (PEV, AHR) via spirometry, exhaled nitirc oxide as well as invasive methods such as sputum analysis (inflammatory cell count) and tissue biopsies. Alternative options include further non-invasive techniques such as nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR) for >70 urinary metabolites (Saude et al. 2011), the analysis of exhaled breath condensate for pH and proteins (IL-6, -8, TNF, H₂O₂, and leukotriens, actin, cytokeratins, albumin) as well as invasive analysis of serum proteins (chemokines, chitinases, leptin, adiponectin) (Wadsworth, Sin, and Dorscheid 2011).

1.2 Underlying mechanisms of the atopic march

For infants suffering from severe, persistent, and extrinsic AD within their first 2 years of age, the incidence for developing AA is significantly increased between age 6-7 as shown by several longitudinal studies (Dharmage et al. 2014). From a total of 50 children suffering from AD (diagnosed at median age of 1.2 years), 34% were diagnosed with AA at a median age of 3 years as described in a report from Thailand (Somanunt et al. 2017). An early onset as well as an atopic family history even increased the risk for AA development with common sensitizing allergens Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus and Dermatophagoides farinae. Additionally, an early onset (<2 years of age) increased the risk for FA towards egg white (58%) and cow's milk (91%). A Canadian birth cohort study with 2,311 children suffering from AD at the age of 1 supports that report with observing a 7-fold increased AA prevalence 2 years later (Tran et al. 2018). Interestingly, an association with an increased AA risk was only found in infants additionally sensitized to allergens, not for AD without sensitization. The Dampness in Building and Health (DBH) study, a prospective cohort study, including 3,124 children aged 1-2 years and a follow-up parental questionnaire based on an International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood protocol, 5 years later found an AD prevalence of 17.6% and a 3-fold increase for developing AA in the AD group (von Kobyletzki et al. 2012). Additionally, different subgroups were formed based on severity, age of onset, and persistence. A severe, earlyonset, and persistent AD with a parental history of atopy was found to even increase the odds for developing AA (and AR). Thus, the atopic march presents itself as a multifactorial und multi-morbid disease (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. Atopic multimorbidity

Systemic and tissue-specific factors triggering the atopic march are shown according to (Paller et al. 2019). Reprinted with permission from John Wiley and Sons.

1.2.1 Environmental factors

Especially in urban areas of developed countries several environmental and individual factors come together that are increasing the risk for AD. The former includes a sterile environment (hygiene-hypothesis), the western lifestyle (nutrition, obesity), air pollution, urban vs. rural setting, the family size, and a high socio-economic status as increasing risk factors, while the latter mostly includes factors linked to microbial exposure (C. Flohr, Pascoe, and Williams 2005; Carsten Flohr and Yeo 2011). Family size and rate of atopic diseases behave contrary to one another. A fewer number of (older) siblings and a higher standard of personal cleanliness often come together with reduced microbial exposure; thus, reduced infections (Strachan 1989). Also, in urban and wealthier areas - even in less-industrialized countries - the incidence for atopic diseases is higher than in rural and poorer areas (Addo-Yobo et al. 2007; Endara et al. 2015; Addo Yobo et al. 1997; Stevens et al. 2011; Addo-Yobo et al. 2001). Concluding, it can be stated that decreased microbial exposure in early childhood is linked to an increased risk for AD. Thus, decreasing the risk can be achieved by early attendance of day care (<2 years old), dog exposure (Langan, Flohr, and Williams 2007), a diverse gut microbiome, and a farm environment (Bengt Björkstén et al. 2001; B. Björkstén et al. 1999). For a long time, studies linked the increased exposure of children to microorganisms on farms to a reduced risk for wheeze and asthma (Ege et al. 2011; Stein et al. 2016; Schuijs et al. 2015). Nowadays, it is clear that "farm environment" in specific means, on the one hand, the direct contact of pregnant mothers to farm animals and, on the other hand, the consumption of unpasteurized farm milk during the first two years of life (Bråbäck, Hjern, and Rasmussen 2004).

The exact underlying mechanisms for positive effects on the development of atopic diseases after microbial exposure are still not fully understood. However, the basic idea is the assumption that exposure to microorganisms trains the innate and adaptive immune system. A study analyzed the prevalence of asthma and allergic sensitization in two communities with genetically similar ancestry. On the one hand, the Amish with traditional farming practice, on the other hand, the Hutterites with industrialized faming practice. Interestingly, prevalence for asthma and allergic sensitization was lower in the Amish community. This leads to the assumption that modulation of innate and adaptive immune system after microbial exposure protects against atopic diseases as proven by analysis of gene expression and immune profiling (Stein et al. 2016). A positive effect can already occur during pregnancy, since the above-mentioned maternal farm exposure seems to be protective. The underlying mechanism is supposed to be either mediated by Th1 or regulatory T cells (Tregs) (Lluis et al. 2014).

1.2.2 Genetics

A family history of atopic diseases is the strongest risk factor known for developing AD. Depending on the number of atopic diseases from one parent, a possible risk of a child for developing AD increases by 1.5-fold. If both parents on the other hand suffer from atopic diseases, the risk for AD even increases by 3- to 5-fold (Apfelbacher, Diepgen, and Schmitt 2011; Wadonda-Kabondo et al. 2004). In several genome wide association studies (GWAS) with high throughput approaches, more than 30 genes have been identified to be associated with AD and atopic diseases in general (Paternoster et al. 2015; Ellinghaus et al. 2013; Paternoster et al. 2012; Sun et al. 2011; Esparza-Gordillo et al. 2009). These include susceptibility loci with functions in e.g., cytokine-mediated signaling, antigen processing and presentation, regulation of cytokine production, leukocyte differentiation, structural molecule activity, extracellular structure organization, autophagy, and vitamin D receptor signaling.

Although genes involved in the above-mentioned processes are linked to AD, the strongest known genetic risk factor is a semi-dominant null mutation in the filaggrin gene (*FLG*) (Irvine, McLean, and Leung 2011; Baurecht et al. 2007). FLG is expressed in the stratum corneum, the outermost layer of the skin and is important for the epidermal barrier, hence protects against environmental factors (e.g., pollutants, bacterial antigens, allergens) prevents transepidermal water-loss (TEWL) (Sandilands et al. 2007, 2009), forming the so-called "natural moisturizing factor" (NMF) and, maintains pH of the skin surface (Rawlings and Harding 2004).

The most common *FLG* mutations are known to be R501X and 2282del4 with several other *FLG* mutations (e.g., S1695X, Q1701X, Q1745X) existing depending on the population. Whereas more than 50% of people carrying a *FLG* mutation do not develop AD, just 20% of mild-moderate AD patients carry a *FLG* mutation (Baurecht et al. 2007; Weidinger et al. 2008). This leads to the conclusion, that *FLG* mutations are neither necessary nor sufficient for developing AD. Additional interactions between gene-environment and/or gene-barrier function are considered to contribute to the pathogenesis of AD.

It is also known that *FLG* null mutations are a risk for each step of the atopic march. Several studies have shown a correlation of FLG null mutation with AD (Palmer et al. 2006), AR (Schuttelaar et al. 2009; Weidinger et al. 2008), peanut butter allergy (Brown et al. 2011), allergic sensitization, EoE, and AA (Van Den Oord and Sheikh 2009; Marenholz et al. 2015; Henderson et al. 2008; Palmer et al. 2007; Basu et al. 2008). Finally, the FLG null mutation results in complete absence of FLG monomers which leads to reduced NMF levels and, consequently, to dry skin with higher epidermal pH and barrier dysfunction (J. M. Jungersted et al. 2010; Jakob Mutanu Jungersted et al. 2010). These results support the idea of the diseased skin being the entry point and the driver of atopic diseases, since FLG mutation seem to be associated with higher risk for FA or EoE (Brown et al. 2011; Venkataraman et al. 2014) and AA (Basu et al. 2008; Palmer et al. 2007). Several GWAS found association between numerous other genes and atopic diseases. Whereas some genetic susceptibility loci are associated to just one specific disease, other loci share similar pathophysiological pathways. Thus, not only mutation affecting barrier function itself play a role in driving the atopic march but also single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) at loci of epithelial-derived cytokines and their receptors for example.

The most prominent epithelial cytokines, together with their receptors, known to play an essential role in the atopic march are keratinocyte (KC-)derived thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), IL-25, and IL-33. The former two being associated with AD, AA, and EoE (Sherrill et al. 2010; Miyake et al. 2015; Harada et al. 2011), the latter with AD and AA (M. Shimizu et al. 2005; Savenije et al. 2014; Moffatt et al. 2010). Beside *FLG*, *TSLP*, *IL-25*, and *IL-33*, AD-associated genes involved in Th2 inflammation and its pathways were identified (Leung 2016). Further GWAS and meta-analysis identified 99 loci being shared by AD, AA, and AR, hence supporting the theory of a shared genetic foundation of the atopic diseases (Marenholz et al. 2015; Weidinger et al. 2013; Ferreira et al. 2017). Most prominent in that case were *FLG* (skin barrier), *GARP* (T cell regulator gene), and *GATA3* (Th2 lineage) (Manz et al. 2016; Barton et al. 2017).

Taken together, numerous loci were identified to be associated with specific atopic diseases only, others are associated with more than just one atopic disease by sharing underlying pathophysiological mechanisms. However, knowing the genetics and pathophysiology of AD, particularly defects of the skin barrier in connection with a Th2-

dominant immune reaction seem to be pointing towards a strong link between disrupted skin barrier and increased risk for the development of further atopic diseases.

1.2.3 Immunological mechanisms

The initiating step of the atopic march is often suspected in allergen exposure through inflamed skin. A disrupted skin barrier as it is known in AD, enables simplified entrance of allergens through the skin presumably with subsequent innate and adaptive immune response. Animal studies support this theory by showing that transcutaneous exposure to allergens stimulates certain T and B cell responses resulting in AA- and FA-phenotypes in lung and gut. (Tordesillas et al. 2014). This also connects with the knowledge of the skin accommodating a highly heterogenous and highly dynamic population of immune cells, hence being a highly immunoactive organ. Whereas langerhans and CD8+ T cells are present in the epidermis, the dermis contains DCs, mast cells, macrophages, and several lymphocyte subtypes (Kashem, Haniffa, and Kaplan 2017). Consequently, there is a complex interplay between transcutaneous entrance of allergens, the immune system, and epithelial-derived cytokines in barrier-deficient skin. The latter, namely TSLP, IL-25, and IL-33 are potent inducers of type 2 immune response at barrier site with subsequent increase of Th2-derived cytokines such as IL-4, -5, and -13 (Tait Wojno and Artis 2016). Although TSLP, IL-25, and IL-33 have distinct functions and are regulated by numerous factors, the interplay between these three cytokines is highly complex with partly overlapping pathways (Fig. 5). Differences can be observed in expression kinetics with IL-33 mRNA being upregulated at early and late time points, TSLP mRNA upregulated at earlier time points, and IL-25 mRNA upregulated at late time points in a model of chronic house dust mite (HDM) exposure (Vannella et al. 2016). Beside differences in kinetics, requirements for TSLP, IL-25, and IL-33 differ depending on the allergen and its dose, the duration of exposure (Vannella et al. 2016; Chu et al. 2013; Dewas et al. 2015), the investigated mouse strain (Salimi et al. 2013; B. E. Kim et al. 2013), and model of inflammation (Chu et al. 2013; Hongwei Han et al. 2014; Ziegler and Artis 2010; Barlow et al. 2013).



Figure 5. Cell-cytokine crosstalk

Depiction of the crosstalk between epithelial cells as well as skin resident and circulating immune cells with focus on epithelial cytokines TSLP, IL-33, and IL-25 according to (H. Han, Roan, and Ziegler 2017). Reprinted with permission from John Wiley and Sons.

TSLP

TSLP, a member of the IL-2 cytokine family, is primarily produced by epithelial cells at barrier surfaces (skin, airways, gastrointestinal tract), stromal cells, and to lesser amounts by DCs, mast cells, fibroblasts (Fbs), basophils, and smooth muscle cells (Soumelis, Reche, Kanzler, Yuan, Edward, Homey, Gilliet, Ho, Antonenko, Lauerma, Smith, Gorman, Zurawski, Abrams, Menon, McClanahan, Waal-Malefyt, et al. 2002; Watanabe et al. 2004; Ying et al. 2005; Moon, Choi, and Kim 2011; Kashyap et al. 2011). It is associated with AD (Yoo et al. 2005; Gao et al. 2010; Briot et al. 2009), asthma and COPD (Ying et al. 2005, 2008; K. Zhang et al. 2007; Shikotra et al. 2012), and EoE (Rothenberg et al. 2010; Sherrill et al. 2010). Several hematopoietic cell populations including DCs, CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, B cells, mast cells, basophils, eosinophils, and natural killer cells (NKT) as well as non-hematopoietic populations like epithelial cells respond to TSLP (Ziegler et al. 2013; Reche et al. 2001; Zhou et al. 2005; Rochman et al. 2007). In healthy individuals, TSLP maintains Th2 homeostasis at barrier surfaces (Ziegler and Artis 2010), whereas overexpression of TSLP leads to indirect (via MHC class II expression on CD11c+ DCs) priming and differentiation of naïve CD4+ T cells (Soumelis, Reche, Kanzler, Yuan, Edward, Homey, Gilliet, Ho, Antonenko, Lauerma, Smith, Gorman, Zurawski, Abrams, Menon, McClanahan, Waal-Malefyt, et al. 2002; Ito et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2007) as well as

direct interaction with CD4+ and CD8+ T cells as well as Tregs (Omori and Ziegler 2007; Kitajima et al. 2011; Di Piazza et al. 2012; Demehri et al. 2012; Kashiwagi et al. 2017). TSLP is highly overexpressed in lesional areas of AD skin (Yoo et al. 2005; Demehri et al. 2008) and correlates with disease severity in asthma as shown by *in situ* hybridization and immunohistochemistry from 20 asthmatics and 15 healthy controls (Ying et al. 2005). Interestingly, a mouse model of skin sensitization with artificially induced TSLP overexpression specifically in the skin has shown airway inflammation after antigen challenge in the lung (Z. Zhang et al. 2009; Leyva-Castillo et al. 2013) as well as esophageal inflammation after oral antigen challenge (Noti et al. 2014).

IL-33

Interleukin 33 (IL-33), a member of the IL-1 family, was identified as ligand of the suppression of tumorigenecity 2 (ST2) receptor. ST2R can be found on numerous cell types like Th2 cells, Tregs, DCs, macrophages, basophils, mast cells, and type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2) (D. Xu et al. 1998; Allakhverdi et al. 2007; Kondo et al. 2008; Salimi et al. 2013). On the one hand, IL-33 promotes inflammation by activating eosinophils, mast cells, and basophils (Stolarski et al. 2010; C. Y. Chen et al. 2015; Komai-Koma et al. 2012; Pecaric-Petkovic et al. 2009; Suzukawa et al. 2008), whereas on the other hand, it also might act as regulator of systemic inflammation through its action on Tregs; thus, having protective function (Schiering et al. 2014; Alves-Filho et al. 2010). In human and mice, IL-33 is overexpressed in AD-skin as well as inflamed airway epithelium, hence the main source for IL-33 appear to be non-hematopoietic cells (Hardman, Panova, and Mckenzie 2013; Molofsky, Savage, and Locksley 2015; Savinko et al. 2013, 2012). Overexpression of IL-33 in the skin of mice, just like with TSLP, induces spontaneous AD with a strong association of ILC2 (Imai et al. 2013). Beside driving a Th2-dominant inflammation it also affects FLG expression in KCs leading to a disrupted skin barrier (Seltmann et al. 2015). Moreover, a mice study highlighted its TSLP-independent role in the atopic march. The intradermal application of IL-33+OVA resulted in local skin inflammation followed by inflammation of airways upon subsequent intranasal allergen challenge as well as allergic diarrhea upon oral antigen challenge.

IL-25

Interleukin 25 (IL-25/IL-17E), member of the IL-17 cytokine family, is secreted by epithelial cells, endothelial cells, and Th2-polarized CD4+ T cells (Fort et al. 2001; Angkasekwinai et al. 2007; Corrigan et al. 2011). Its receptor, a heteromeric complex of IL-17RA and IL-17RB (J. Lee et al. 2001; Rickel et al. 2008), is expressed on several cells such as DCs, eosinophils, macrophages, T cells, type-2 myeloid cells, ILC2s, and epithelial cells (Gratchev et al. 2004; Cheung et al. 2006; Tworek et al. 2016; Saenz et al. 2010; Neill et al. 2010; Angkasekwinai et al. 2007). The increased IL-25 expression together with increased levels of Th2 cytokines in AD skin reduces expression *FLG* mRNA

and protein; thus, just like IL-33, leading to enhanced barrier disruption (Y. H. Wang et al. 2007; B. E. Kim et al. 2013; Hvid et al. 2011). Also, tuft cells in the gut (Von Moltke et al. 2016; Howitt et al. 2016; Gerbe et al. 2016) as well as the lung (Hurst et al. 2002; Kang et al. 2005; Tamachi et al. 2006) secret IL-25 upon exposure to allergens or pollutants.

OVA-sensitized mice have shown up-regulation of *II-25* mRNA in models of allergic airway disease subsequent to intranasal allergen challenge (J. B. Lee et al. 2016; Kang et al. 2005). An IL-25 overexpression in the lung epithelium resulted in increased mucus production and infiltration of eosinophils and macrophages (Angkasekwinai et al. 2007); reversing these effects when inhibiting IL-25 function (Angkasekwinai et al. 2007).

Nevertheless, the role of IL-25 in the atopic march differs from TSLP and IL-33, since, in contrast to TSLP/IL-33, IL-25 failed to promote an asthmatic or FA-phenotype upon intradermal application followed by intranasal and oral antigen challenge (Hongwei Han et al. 2014).

Role of immune cells in the atopic march

The transcutaneous allergen exposure is one of the main amplifiers of the atopic march. As mentioned above, barrier disruption simplifies entrance of allergens and enables interaction with the immune system. In addition to an already existing inflammation through the epithelial-derived key cytokines TSLP, IL-25, and IL-33 and their activation and recruitment of several immune cells, allergens trigger the next step in this process. Entering allergens get recognized and phagocytosed by immune cells of the innate immune system, represented by the APCs, such as DCs (Kashem, Haniffa, and Kaplan 2017; Tait Wojno and Artis 2016) expressing the TSLP receptor (TSLPR) as well as the high affinity IgE receptor (FCRI); thus, promoting inflammation. Upon receptor binding, pro-inflammatory cytokines as well as cytokines favoring Th2 (e.g., IL-1, -8, -16, CCL2) as well as Th1 environment (IL-18, IFNy, IL-12p70) are produced (Soumelis, Reche, Kanzler, Yuan, Edward, Homey, Gilliet, Ho, Antonenko, Lauerma, Smith, Gorman, Zurawski, Abrams, Menon, McClanahan, Waal-Malefyt, et al. 2002; Novak et al. 2004). APCs, subsequently to allergen contact, become activated, migrate from skin to draining lymph nodes, present phagocytosed antigens (AG) via major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC II) on DC surface, and increase secretion of co-stimulatory cytokines (den Haan, Arens, and van Zelm 2014; Brzostek, Gascoigne, and Rybakin 2016). A matching MHC II/AG-T cell receptor complex together with further co-stimulatory signals (ligation of CD28, CD27, OX40, IL-12 and IFN α/β) (Croft 2003; Curtsinger and Mescher 2010; Agarwal et al. 2009) stimulates naïve T cells to differentiate into allergen-specific Th2 cells (Tait Woino and Artis 2016; Kambayashi and Laufer 2014) resulting in systemic induction of allergen-specific IgE and inflammation in esophagus, gut, and lung (Galand et al. 2016; Spergel et al. 1998; Noti et al. 2013).

1.3 Preclinical models of atopic diseases

1.3.1 The gold standard: animal models

Animal models are a fundamental tool in life sciences and still the gold standard in preclinical research. In the past, these models made a great contribution to the current knowledge and understanding of pathophysiological processes and the assessment of new drug candidates.

A well characterized and validated animal model for AD and AA research is the mouse, precisely the BALB/c mouse. In contrast to AD, also other animal species are available for asthma research like fruit fly (*Drosophila melanogaster*), rats, guinea pigs, sheep, cats, dogs, horse, pigs, primates, and equines with several (dis-)advantages (Blume and Davies 2013; Kirschvink and Reinhold 2008; Zosky and Sly 2007). However, mice are a comparably cheap animal, easy to bread, to hold, and to handle with different strains being available, a huge knowledge about their genetics, and they are easy to manipulate with transgenic technology (Shapiro 2008; Nials and Uddin 2008; Kumar and Foster 2002). Numerous different methods of artificially inducing AD in mice are established nowadays. One possible way used in most of the models is repeated tape stripping; thus, altering the outermost layer of the skin, the protective stratum corneum. Additionally, to enhance the penetration of allergens and sensitizers, occlusive patches are used causing damage to stratum corneum by preventing water loss (Martel et al. 2017). Further, highly valuable options are genetically engineered (transgenic or knockout) mice.

Currently emerging canine models of AD are getting relevant because of spontaneous development of AD in dogs (Bizikova, Pucheu-Haston, et al. 2015). Moreover, dogs often share same environments as humans e.g., living indoors, being exposed to similar environmental factors and allergens, comparable AD features as observed in human, and a similar response to treatment (Bizikova, Santoro, et al. 2015; Olivry et al. 2015; Favrot et al. 2010). Also, mouse strains with spontaneous, natural AD development under certain conditions like the NC/Nga or flaky tail mice are available (Sasaki et al. 2013; Kohara et al. 2001).

Atopic march models

Just a few groups established models for the atopic march by using the skin as sensitization site and airways as challenge site. As for AD and AA models, BALB/c mice were also used as models for investigating mechanisms of the atopic march.

Han et al. treated wild type (WT) BALB/c mice with OVA+TSLP intradermally for two weeks and subsequently challenged with OVA intranasally. An increase in OVA-specific IgE in serum, goblet cell metaplasia with mucus hypersecretion, and eosinophil infiltration into bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) were observed (H. Han et al. 2012).

Leyva-Castillo et al. on the other hand started with epicutaneous treatment of WT BALB/c mice with calcipotriol (MC903)+OVA on shaved, tape-stripped dorsal skin in two phases; sensitizing mice every other day from D0-D10 and from D26-D32. Here, also an increase of OVA-specific IgE was observed, as well as and increase of type 2 and type 17 cytokines. The subsequent intranasal challenge from D50-D53 with OVA led to the exhibition of AA symptoms with an increase of Th2 cytokines, mucus hypersecretion, and infiltration of eosinophils (Leyva-Castillo et al. 2013).

In another study from Akei et al. BALB/c mice were sensitized via epicutaneous route with either 3 repeating cycles of OVA or 2 repeating cycles of *Aspergillus fumigatus*, whereas one cycle consisted of 1 week of sensitization via patch and a resting time of two weeks (no patch), inducing an AD-like phenotype. Two days after the end of epicutaneous sensitization, mice were challenged intranasally once with the respective allergen. An increase in total and allergen-specific IgE, type 2 cytokines, mucosal infiltration of eosinophils and neutrophils, and AHR to methacholine was observed. This study additionally shows that *A. fumigatus* led to a stronger type 2 response compared with OVA and that eosinophilia is regulated by STAT6 (Akei et al. 2006).

The main requirement for preclinical validation of targets and drug testing are reproducibility and predictability. Therefore, artificially inducible models are preferred over spontaneous ones since the former are more controllable and predictable concerning disease onset. Moreover, models representing just the specific target of interest are often considered sufficient in most cases leaving out many other characteristics of the human disease. For the latter, the models should basically mimic the characteristics of the human disease as close as possible, whereby an extensive understanding of human AD and AA pathophysiology is essential. Additional drawbacks in the use of animal models are variations in skin architecture and immunology (Haley 2003; Pasparakis, Haase, and Nestle 2014) which are moreover sex-dependent (Dao and Kazin 2007; Klein and Flanagan 2016) and often not being considered in mice studies. More precisely, due to the absence of protective hair coat compared to mice and dogs, the human epidermis is thicker (Jung and Maibach 2015). Additionally, a careful selection of the specific mouse model has to be considered, since e.g., C57BL/6 mice develop a Th1-dominant immune response, whereas the AD-characteristic Th2 response is known in BALB/c mice (Sellers et al. 2012).

Taken together, the low predictability and the artificial induction of AD-like symptoms with numerous different protocols highlights the need for development and establishment of reproducible human-based models for the investigation of the atopic march.

1.3.2 Human-based alternatives: 3D reconstructed tissues

The low predictive power of animal models that results in high failure of drug candidates in clinical trials of >90% highlights the necessity for improved preclinical models that are in line with the 3R principle (Perrin 2014; Aske and Waugh 2017). From a total of 179 drug approvals in Europe, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) recommended approval of 38 new active substances in 2020. The time needed for drug development between 2008-2018 ranged from 5.8 to 15.2 years with costs of \$0.314-\$2.8 billion, and solely one out of ten candidates entering the first phase of clinical trials being approved in the end (Wouters, McKee, and Luyten 2020; Prasad and Mailankody 2017).

Reconstructed human AD models

In addition to the wide variety of existing protocols for skin equivalent generation, there are numerous established methods for generating skin equivalents with characteristics of AD as well. Mainly, a barrier deficiency and/or inflammation are induced. In most cases, AD-characteristic Th2 cytokines are supplemented such as IL-4, -13, -25, and -31 to induce TSLP inflammation in KCs since immune cells are non-existent (Danso et al. 2014; do Nascimento Pedrosa et al. 2017). Since expected TSLP secretion was not fully achieved throughout all these stimuli, TNF as well as synthetic inducers of TLR-3 (polyinosinic-polycyti-dylic acid) or TLR-4 (Pam3CKS4) were added to achieve a more intense immune response (Danso et al. 2014; Castex-Rizzi et al. 2014; Rouaud-Tinguely et al. 2015). These approaches induced inflammation through increased TSLP as well as IL-8 secretion and decreased barrier function by altering the expression of epidermal proteins FLG, claudin (CLDN-)1, loricrin (LOR), involucrin (IVL), and cytokeratin (KRT) 10 with induction of AD typical spongiosis and a disorganized lipid matrix. A further approach, the use of *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*) extracts and IL-6 and -8 resulted in reduced KRT1 and KRT10 (Son et al. 2014).

The second approach, the induction of barrier deficiency, was induced with small hairpin RNA (shRNA). Here, no inflammation was studied but only protein expression. Interestingly, altered expression of FLG, hornerin, KRT10, LOR, CLDN-1, and corneodesmosine were determined (Valérie Pendaries et al. 2014; V Pendaries et al. 2015). It must be mentioned that these findings are based on reconstructed human epidermis; thus, all the above-mentioned models consisting of KCs.

The skin equivalents used in this thesis are based on long experience and expertise in this field and are far more complex. These equivalents consist of primary normal human dermal fibroblasts (NHDF) embedded in bovine collagen type I with primary normal human epidermal keratinocytes (NHEK) seeded on top, lifted to the air-liquid interface, and cultivated for up to 14 days (**Fig. 6**). In order to generate a diseased, AD-like phenotype, a knockdown in the *FLG* gene in NHEK was induced (Küchler et al. 2011; Eckl et al. 2011) in a first step resulting in a compensatory up-regulation of skin barrier proteins

INTRODUCTION

matrix

such as LOR and IVL; thus, contradictory improvement of the skin barrier and decreased permeability. The supplementation of the Th2-derived cytokines IL-4 and -13 (=inflammatory model), hence mimicking an AD-typical immune environment, diminished these compensatory effects and led to an increased barrier disruption and permeability towards hydrophilic and lipophilic substances (Hönzke, Wallmeyer, et al. 2016). In addition, this inflammatory model is characterized by increased pH of skin surface, reduced expression of barrier and tight junction proteins IVL, LOR, FLG, occludin, and CLDN-23 as well as increased expression of pro-inflammatory KC-derived cytokine thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP). In a next step, FLG- equivalents were exposed to activated CD4+ T cells (=immunocompetent model) resulting in increased skin pH, reduced expression of FLG, IVL, claudin-1, and a disturbed skin lipid organization (Wallmeyer et al. 2017). Additionally, it was proven that KC-derived TSLP, which is not only increased in the already mentioned established AD-equivalents but also in lesional skin in vivo (Ziegler 2010), directly triggers T cell migration without DCs as intermediary being necessary. Accordingly, bronchial epithelial equivalents were generated with normal human bronchial epithelial cells (NHBE) and normal human lung fibroblasts (NHLFb), and cultivated for up

to 21 days (Fig. 6) NHDF in collagen **Differentiated skin** + NHEK Airlift matrix equivalent NHLFb in collagen

Differentiated bronchial epithelial equivalent

Figure 6. Skin and bronchial epithelial equivalent scheme

Airlift

+ NHBE

Scheme for generation of skin (disease) and bronchial epithelial equivalents. Briefly, primary skin (NHDF) or lung fibroblasts (NHLFb) are mixed with bovine collagen type I. keratinocytes (NHEK) or normal human bronchial epithelial cells (NHBE) are seeded on top, and are air-lifted 24 h later. Graphic designed and kindly provided by Dr. Anna Löwa.

1.4 Aims

The crucial role of atopic skin in the highly complex pathophysiological disorder, the atopic march, is well-known. Several diseases such as atopic dermatitis (AD), allergic asthma (AA), and food allergy (FA) are linked through similar pathophysiological mechanisms making the atopic march a global health burden with increasing prevalence in industrialized and developing countries. Furthermore, underlying pathophysiological mechanisms are still not fully understood and little is known concerning the direct interplay between diseased skin and airways, although several animal models of AD and AA exist. However, a reliable and translatable model of the atopic march does not exist. Moreover, animal models exhibit crucial differences compared to human, such as skin thickness, present immune cell types, and the fact that AD needs to be artificially induced in most animals.

This bottleneck highlights the lack of predictability and translation of findings from animal to human. A complex interaction between genetics, the immune system, and the environment are stated so far, not being able to decipher the connection due to missing research systems. Therefore, the development of human-based alternatives is the ultimate goal to understand pathophysiological mechanisms and key players of the atopic march.

The main aim of this thesis was to unravel the role of AD skin in the atopic march and prove that a direct skin-lung crosstalk exists. A first aim on this way was to establish a human-based two-organ co-culture between AD skin and bronchial epithelial equivalents. With the help of this system, it was aimed to identify skin-derived factors and, furthermore, test their impact on bronchial epithelial equivalents as well atopy-relevant Th cells. In order to prove the suitability of this human-based system, it was aimed to perform a translational study in BALB/c mice.

Overall, this thesis aimed to identify possible skin-derived key mediators within the framework of the atopic march in order to understand a direct skin-lung crosstalk and identify possible targets as prevention options.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Cells and human material

Primary human fibroblasts and keratinocytes were isolated from juvenile (<10 years old) human foreskin according to standard procedures (with permission and informed consent; EA1/081/13).

Primary bronchial epithelial cells and normal human bronchial fibroblasts were purchased from STEMCELL Technologies (Vancouver, Canada). CD4+ T cells were isolated from buffy coat preparations from whole human blood (2.2.1.2). Buffy coats were kindly provided by Dr. Lucie Loyal and Prof. Andreas Thiel from BCRT Berlin who purchased female and male buffy coats from DRK Blutspendedienst (DRK-Blutspendedienst Ost, Berlin, Germany; with informed consent and ethical approval EA2/067/15).

Blood plasma samples from atopic patients and non-atopic controls were obtained through the BC Children's Hospital biobank (CREB approval #H19-00446).

Excised human skin from healthy patients was obtained from plastic surgery with informed consent and ethical approval (#CREB H19-03096).

2.1.2 Equipment

Analytical balance XS 205 dual range Autoclave V95 Centrifuge, 5072R Eppendorf, Centrifuge, Heraeus Megafuge 1.0R Centrifuge, Heraeus Pico 17 CO₂ Incubator CO₂-free incubator Cryotome Leica CM1510 S CytoFlex, flow cytometer Fluorescence microscope Biozero FLUOstar Optima Fridge 4°C Freezer -80°C, HERAfreeze Freezer -80°C Freezer -20°C Gel documentation system, PXi/PXi touch Haemocytometer, Neubauer improved Incubator, HERAcell 240i Laboratory scale AK 160 Liquid nitrogen tank, Arpege 70 Light microscope Microtome Hyrax M40 Mini-PROTEAN Tetra System Mr. Frosty Paraffinization station (Microm EC 350)

Mettler Toledo, Gießen, GER Systec, Wettenberg, GER Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, GER Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA Heraeus, Hanau, GER Heraeus, Hanau, GER Leica Biosystems, Wetzlar, GER Beckmann Coulter, Krefeld, GER Keyence, Neu-Isenburg, GER BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, GER Quelle, Fürth, GER Heraeus, Hanau, GER Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA Siemens, München, GER Syngene, Cambridge, UK Carl Zeiss, Jena, GER Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA Mettler Toledo, Gießen, GER Air Liquid, Paris, F Axiovert 135 Carl Zeiss, Jena, GER Carl Zeiss, Jena, GER Bio-Rad, Munich, GER Thermo Scientific, Waltham, US Carl Zeiss, Jena, GER

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PCR thermocycler Tgradient	Biometra, Jena, GER
pH meter 766	Knick, Berlin, GER
Pipettes (10, 20, 100, 300, 1000 µl)	Eppendorf, Hamburg, GER
Paraffin stretching bath	Thermo Scientific, Schwerte, GER
Rocking tumbler, TH 10	Edmund Bühler, Hechingen, GER
RT PCR-System, LightCycler 480	Roche, Mannheim, GER
Sterile workbench, LaminAir HB2472	Heraeus, Hanau, GER
Vacuum concentrator SCA 210	Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA
Vortex Genie 2TM	Bender & Hobein, Zürich, SWI
Waterbath	GFL, Burgwedel, GER
TissueLyzer	Qiagen, Hilden, GER
TissueLyzer	Qiagen, Hilden, GER
Trans-Blot Turbo Blotting System	Bio-Rad, Munich, GER

2.1.3 Consumables

Alvetex well insert holder and deep petri dish	REPROCELL Europe Ltd., Glasgow, UK
ALZET® Osmotic Pumps 1007D Blotting pad	Charles River, Sulzfeld, GER VWR, Pennsylvania, USA
Cell culture flask (25, 75, 150 cm ²)	TPP, Melbourn, UK
Cell culture insert 6-well 3.0 µm pore size	Corning, Amsterdam, NL
Cell culture insert 12-well 3.0 µm pore size	Corning, Amsterdam, NL
Cell strainer (70, 100 µM)	VWR, Pennsylvania, USA
Centrifuge tubes (15, 50 ml)	Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, GER
Coverslip (18x18 mm)	Menzel, Braunschweig, GER
Cryotubes, NUNC	Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, GER
Deep 6-well plate	Corning, Amsterdam, NL
Deep 12-well plate	Corning, Amsterdam, NL
Disposable microtome blade, SB Type 819	Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, GER
Disposable syringe (1, 5, 10, 20 ml)	Braun, Kronberg, GER
Forceps	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
LS columns	Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, GER
MACS Separator + MIDI MACS	Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, GER
Multi-well plates (6-, 12-, 24-, 48-well)	VWR, Pennsylvania, USA
Nitril gloves	VWR, Pennsylvania, USA
Optical seal for PCR plates, Microseal 'C' Film	Bio-Rad, Munich, GER
Parafilm	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
Hard-shell 96-well 480 PCR plates	Bio-Rad, Munich, GER
PCR reaction tubes	Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, GER
PCR strips	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
Peel-A-Way embedding molds	Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER
Petri dishes	TPP, Melbourn, UK
Pipettes (5, 10, 25 ml)	Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, GER
Pipette tips (filtered) (10, 20, 100, 1000 µl)	Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, GER
Pipette tips (not filtered) (10, 20, 100, 1000 µl)	Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, GER
Poly-lysine slides	Menzel, Braunschweig, GER

PVDF membrane Sterile scalpel Syringe filter 0.2 µm Bio-Rad, Munich, GER Aesculap-Werke, Tuttlingen, GER Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, GER

2.1.4 Reagents

1,4-Dithiothreitol (DTT) α-Nuclear red Adenine Alcian blue Ammonium persulfate β-Mercaptoethanol Bovine collagen type 1 Bovine serum albumin Choleratoxin Collagenase type I DAPI mounting medium Dexamethasone Dimethyl sulfoxide DMEM high glucose, no glutamine DMEM low glocose, Glutamax Nutrient Mixture F-12 Ham **EDTA** Eosin G EGF EpiLife Ethanol, absolute Fetal bovine serum superior Glycine Goat serum Ham's F-12 Nutrient Mix, GlutaMAX[™] Sup Hank's Buffered Salt Solution (HBSS) Hematoxilin HiPerFect transfection reagent **HKGS** Insulin Isopropanol L-glutamine Methanol Nycoprep Paraformaldehyde 4% Penicillin/streptomycin Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) Protease/Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail (x100) Protein marker VI (10-245 kDa), pre-stained rhCD44

Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Cellsystems, Troisdorf, Germany Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Worthington, New Jersey, USA Dianova, Hamburg, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Thermo Scientific, Schwerte, GER Merck, Darmstadt, GER Biochrom, Berlin, GER Sigma Aldrich, München, GER Dianova, Hamburg, GER Thermo Scientific, Schwerte, GER Life Technologies, Darmstadt, GER Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER Qiagen, Hilden, GER Thermo Scientific, Schwerte, GER Roche, Mannheim, GER VWR, Darmstadt, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER VWR, Darmstadt, GER Axis-Shield, Oslo, NOR Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER CST, Massachusetts, USA AppliChem GmbH, Darmstadt, GER Bio-Techne GmbH, Wiesbaden-Nordenstadt, GER

rhComplement factor C3	Bio-Techne GmbH, Wiesbaden- Nordenstadt, GEB
rhCD44	Bio-Techne GmbH, Wiesbaden-
rhFibronectin	Bio-Techne GmbH, Wiesbaden- Nordenstadt GER
rhInterleukin-4, -13	Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, GER
rhSyndecan-4	Bio-Techne GmbH, Wiesbaden- Nordenstadt, GER
rhTGFβ	Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, GER
rhThrombospondin-1	Bio-Techne GmbH, Wiesbaden- Nordenstadt, GER
rmCD44	Cederlane, Burlington, CA
rmSyndecan-4	Cederlane, Burlington, CA
rmThrombospondin-1	Cederlane, Burlington, CA
Rotiphorese gel 40 (37,5:1)	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
Roti® Histofix	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
Roti® Histokit	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
Roti® Histol	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
RPMI 1640	Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER
Sodium chloride (NaCI)	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)	Sigma Aldrich, Munich, GER
Sodium hydroxide (NaOH)	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
TEMED	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
Tissue freezing medium	Leica Biosystems, Nussloch, GER
TRIS	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER
Trypsin/EDTA	Biochrom, Berlin, GER
Tween-20	Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, GER

2.1.5 Antibodies

Anti rabbit IgG, HRP conjugated Anti mouse IgG, HRP conjugated

IgG Alexa Fluor® 488 IgG Alexa Fluor® 594

Mouse anti α-acetylated Tubulin Mouse anti α-SMA Mouse anti β-actin Mouse anti Cytokeratin 10 Mouse anti Cytokeratin 14 Mouse anti E-cadherin Mouse anti Ki-67 Mouse anti MUC5AC CST, Massachusetts, USA CST, Massachusetts, USA

Abcam, Cambridge, UK Abcam, Cambridge, UK

Sigma Aldrich, München, GER Novus Biol, Minneapolis, USA Abcam, Cambridge, UK Dianova, Hamburg, GER Dianova, Hamburg, GER Dianova, Hamburg, GER Dianova, Hamburg, GER Merck, Darmstadt, GER

Bio-Techne GmbH, Wiesbaden- Nordenstadt, GER
Abcam, Cambridge, UK
Dianova, Hamburg, GER
CST, Massachusetts, USA
Biolegend, California, USA
CST, Massachusetts, USA
Abcam, Cambridge, UK
Life Technologies, Darmstadt, GER
Santa Cruz Biotechnology,
Heidelberg, GER
Abcam, Cambridge, UK
Abcam, Cambridge, UK
Abcam, Cambridge, UK
Thermo Scientific, Schwerte, GER

2.1.6 Primers

Gene ADAM33	Sequence (5' — 3') ff 5' - TCTTTCggATggAgCAgCTg rv 5' - gACgCTgTTTggTgTggTTC
ASMA	ff 5' - TgggCTCTgTAAggCCggCT rv 5' -CACCCCCTgATgTCTgggACg
GAPDH	ff 5' - CTCTCTgCTCCTCCTgTTCgAC rv 5' - TgAGCgATgTggCTCggCT
FLG	ff 5' - AAggAACTTCTggAAAAggAATTTC rv 5' - TTgTggTCTATATCCAAgTgATCCAT
FN	ff 5' - ggTgACACTTATgAgCgTCCTAAAA rv 5' - AACATgTAACCACCAgTCTCATgTg
LIF	ff 5' - ACAgAgCCTTTgCgTgAAAC rv 5' - TggTCCACACCAgCAgATAA
MUC5AC	ff 5' - CCTTCgACggACAgAgCTAC rv 5' - TCTTgATggCCTTggAgCAg
PAR2	ff 5' - TCATTgTCACTgTCCTggCC rv 5' - AAgggTAgAgAggCAgAggg
SSCA1	ff 5' - ggAgCCAAAgACAACACTgC rv 5' - gCTTgTTggCgATCTTCAgC
tenascin C	ff 5' - TCAAAgACgTgCCAggAgAC rv 5' - CTgTCTgggAAACACgTCgA
TSLP	ff 5' - CCCAggCTATTCggAAACTCAg rv 5' - CgCCACAATCCTTgTAATTgTg
UG	ff 5' - CCCCTCCTCCACCATgAAAC rv 5' - AAAgTTCCATggCAgCCTCA
Z01	ff 5' - TCCTgCTTgACCTCCCTAAA rv 5' - ACAACACggAACACCTCTCC

TBX21	ff 5' - TTgAggTgAACgACggAgAg rv 5' - CCAAggAATTgACAgTTgggT
GATA3	ff 5' - gAACCggCCCCTCATTAAg rv 5' - ATTTTTCggTTTCTggTCTggAT
RORC	ff 5' - CAATggAAgTggTgCTggTTAg rv 5' - gggAgTgggAgAAgTCAAAgAT
AHR	ff 5' - CAAATCCTTCCAAgCggCATA rv 5' - CAAATCCTTCCAAgCggCATA
YHWAZ	ff 5' - AgACggAAggTgCTgAgAAA rv 5' - gAAgCATTggggATCAAgAA
Tbx21	ff 5' - TCAACCAgCACCAgACAgAgATg rv 5' - CACCAAgACCACATCCACAAACA
Gata3	ff 5' - AgAACCggCCCCTTATgAA rv 5' - AgTTCgCgCAggATgTCC
Rorc	ff 5' - CCgCTgAgAgggCTTCAC rv 5' - TgCAggAgTAggCCACATTACA
II-22	ff 5' - ggTgACgACCAgAACATCCAgA rv 5' - AgAgACATAAACAgCAggTCCAgT
Hprt	ff 5' - AggCCAgACTTTgTTggATTTgAA rv 5' - CAACTTgCgCTCATCTTAggCTTT
Yhwaz	ff 5' - AAgACAgCACgCTAATAATgC rv 5' - TTggAAggCCggTTAATTTTC

2.1.7 siRNA

Filaggrin, Sequence	Invitrogen, I CAGCUCC/ For T150:	Darmstadt, Germany (NM_002016) AGACAAUCAGGCACUCAU 2.379 ml EpiLife 156 µl HiPerFect 65 µl siRNA ad 26 ml EpiLife	
------------------------	--	---	--

2.1.8 Kits

Qiagen GmbH, Hilden, GER Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, GER
Promega, Madison, USA
Thermo Scientific, Schwerte, GER
Thermo Fisher, Schwerte, GER
Bio-Techne GmbH, Wiesbaden-
Nordenstadt, GER
Analytik Jena, Jena, GER
Bio-Rad, Munich, GER
Bio-Rad Munich, GER

Naive CD4 ⁺ T Cell Isolation Kit II, human	Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach,
	GER
Naive CD8 ⁺ T Cell Isolation Kit II, human	Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach,
	GER
Pierce® BCA Assay Kit	Thermo Fisher, Schwerte, GER
Signal Fire™ ECL reagent	Cell Signaling, Frankfurt/Main, GER
Signal Fire™ ECL elite reagent	Cell Signaling, Frankfurt/Main, GER

2.1.9 Buffers

Blotting buffer (10x)	1000 ml dH ₂ O supplemented with: 144 g glycin, 10 g tris base
Buffer for blood preparation	D-PBS supplemented with: 2 mMol EDTA
Freezing medium	Basal medium supplemented with: 10% (v/v) FBS, 10% (v/v) DMSO
Loading buffer	3x Blue Loading Buffer Pack 187.5 mM tris HCl, 6% (w/v) SDS, 30% glycerol, 0.03% (w/v) bromphenolblue, 1.25 M dithiothreit
Running buffer (10x)	1000 ml dH ₂ O supplemented with: 30.2 g tris base, 144 g glycin, 10 g SDS
Running gel buffer	250 ml dH ₂ O supplemented with: 56.2 g tris base
PBS	dH ₂ O supplemented with: 0.2 g/l KCl, 8.0 g/l NaCl, 0.2 g/l KH ₂ PO ₄ , 1.44 g/l Na ₂ HPO ₄
Stacking gel buffer	250 ml dH ₂ O supplemented with: 15.0 g tris HCI
TBS (10x)	1000 ml dH₂O supplemented with: 12.144 g tris HCl, 87.66 g NaCl
TBST	900 ml dH ₂ O supplemented with: 100 ml TBS (10x), 1 ml tween-20
Washing buffer (ELISA)	PBS supplemented with: 0.025% tween-20
Washing buffer (immunofluorescence)	PBS supplemented with: 0.0025% BSA, 0.025% tween-20

2.1.10 Cell culture media

Crossover medium	DMEM high glucose supplemented with: 10% (v/v) FBS, 5 µg/ml insulin, 10 ng/ml epidermal growth factor, 0.4 µg/ml hydrocortisone, 0.18 mM adenine, 4 mM L-glutamine
Endothelial cell growth medium (EGM Bulletkit)	EBM 500 ml supplemented with: 10 ml FBS, 0.2 ml hydrocortisone, 2.0 ml hFGF-B 1, 0.5 ml VEGF, 0.5 ml R3-IGF-1, 0.5 ml ascorbic acid, 0.5 ml hEGF, 0.5 ml GA-1000, 0.5 ml heparin
Fibroblast growth medium (FGM)	DMEM high glucose supplemented with: 7.5% (v/v) FBS, 1% (v/v) penicillin/streptomycin, 1 % (v/v) L-glutamine
Fibroblast medium (ECM models) (DMEM+)	DMEM, low glucouse, Glutamax supplemented with: 7.5% (v/v) FBS, 1% (v/v) penicillin/streptomycin
Keratinocyte differentiation medium (KDM)	DMEM supplemented with: 21.5% (v/v) sodium pyruvate/Ham's F12, 10% (v/v) FBS, 5 µg/ml insulin, 10 ng/ml epidermal growth factor, 0.4 µg/ml hydrocortisone, 0.18 mM adenine, 0.1 nM cholera toxin, 4 mM L-glutamine
Keratinocyte growth medium	500 ml EpiLife with (60 μM Ca²+) supplemented with: 1% (v/v) HKGS
Minimal medium	DMEM high glucose supplemented with: 10% (v/v) FBS, 1% (v/v) penicillin/streptomycin
PneumaCult™-ALI medium (P-ALI)	PneumaCult [™] -ALI Basal Medium supplemented with: 10% PneumaCult [™] -ALI Medium 10x, 1% PneumaCult [™] -ALI Maintenance 100x, 0.2% hydrocortisone, 0.5% heparin
PneumaCult™ Ex Plus medium	PneumaCult Ex Plus Basal Medium supplemented with: 2% PneumaCult™ 50 x sup

RPMI++

RPMI supplemented with: 10% (v/v) AB-Serum, 1% (v/v) penicillin/streptomycin

2.1.11 Software

GraphPad Prism 6	GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA
ImageJ 1.46r	National Institute of Health, MD USA

2.1.12 Mice

BALB/c mice (female and male) were purchased from Charles River (Sulzfeld, Germany), kept and treated at the Institute of Veterinary Pharmacology, FU Berlin in the lab of Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Bäumer. The animal experiment was approved by the LaGeSo (Berlin, Germany, Reference no. G 0204/20).

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Cell culture

2.2.1.1 ISOLATION OF NHEK AND NHDF FROM JUVENILE FORESKIN¹

Normal human epidermal keratinocytes (NHEK) and fibroblasts (NHDF) were isolated from juvenile foreskin following circumcision (approved by the ethics committee of the Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany, EA1/081/13; with informed consent); patient age did not exceed 10 years. Therefore, juvenile foreskin was washed in PBS 3-5 times, cleared from fatty tissue, cut into 3-4 cm thick pieces, and incubated in a dispase solution (1.2 U/ml dispase in PBS) overnight at 4°C. After 18-20 h the epidermis was peeled off the dermis by using forceps. Subsequently, the dermis pieces were placed in a 6-well cell culture plate for 30 min in order to attach before adding 1.5 ml FGM. Epidermis meanwhile was collected in trypsin-EDTA and incubated at 37°C for 20 min with periodical shaking. Subsequently, the reaction with trypsin was stopped by adding 10 ml of FGM, pipetting cell suspension up and down several times, and filtrating through a cell strainer (70 µm). After a centrifugation step (130 g, 5 min, 25°C) cells were counted and seeded into 6-well plates or T75 cell culture flaks depending on cell count (P0). Cultures were maintained at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. After one week in culture, the dermis pieces were removed and the outgrown NHDF (P0) sub-cultivated at a confluency of about 70-80%. NHEK meanwhile were kept in culture for 1-2 weeks before subcultivating once. NHEK and NHDF in passage 1 were trypsinized, resuspended in DMEM supplemented with 10% DMSO, and frozen until needed for further experiments. For generation of skin equivalents, cells of max. P2 were used.

2.2.1.2 GENERATION OF IN VITRO 3D SKIN (DISEASE) EQUIVALENTS

For generation of skin equivalents primary human epidermal keratinocytes (NHEK) and primary human dermal fibroblast (NHDF) isolated from juvenile foreskin were used (2.2.1.1). In a first step, a mix of bovine collagen and 10x HBSS was brought to neutral pH. Subsequently, a total of 0.3×10^6 NHDF per equivalent were added and poured into 6-well cell culture inserts with a growth are of 4.2 cm². After 2 h of incubation (37°C, CO₂-free), medium was added into the well and on top of the collagen for another incubation step (2 h, 37°C, 95% humidity, 5% CO₂). Subsequently, 4.2x10⁶ NHEK were added on top of the collagen matrix. For generation of diseased skin equivalents, NHEK were treated with *FLG* siRNA (2.1.7) 24 h prior to generation of equivalents. 24 h after adding NHEK onto collagen matrix, medium was changed to a differentiation medium (KDM) and skin equivalents were

¹ The isolation was mainly performed by Carola Kapfer and Uta Hirt

lifted to the air-liquid interface for a cultivation period of 14 days with medium change every second day. For skin disease equivalents, IL-4 and -13 (15 ng/ml each) were added at day 10 and 12. Eventually, the equivalents were analyzed for viability, histology, and gene and protein expression.

2.2.1.3 ISOLATION OF HUMAN NAÏVE CD4+/8+ T CELLS FOR PRIMING EXPERIMENTS

Human naïve T cells were isolated and treated with complement factor C3 (C3), fibronectin (FN), syndecan-4 (SD-4), CD44, and thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1). Therefore, CD4+ and CD8+ T cells were isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from buffy coats by density gradient centrifugation. Buffy coat preparations from female and male donors were purchased from the German Red Cross (DRK-Blutspendedienst Ost, Berlin, Germany; with informed consent and ethical approval EA2/067/15). For that, blood was diluted with buffer (~2.5x the volume of blood) and 35 ml of that dilution were carefully layered over 15 ml NycoPrepTM 1.077 (Axis-Shield plc, Oslo, Norway) in a 50 ml tube. After a density gradient centrifugation (45 min, 1,400 rpm, RT, without brake), PBMC layer was carefully aspirated, transferred to a new 50 ml tube, and mixed with buffer. Subsequently to centrifugation (10 min, 1,200 rpm, RT), PBMC pellet was resuspended in pre-cooled buffer and centrifuged again (15 min, 1,000 rpm, 4°C). That step was repeated for up to 3 times until supernatant appeared clear. Naïve human CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells were then purified from PBMCs by negative selection using magnetic-activated cell sorting beads according to the manufacturer's instructions (MACS; Miltenyi-Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany). T cells were cultivated with RPMI containing 10% human AB-serum and 1% pen/strep (RPMI++). Subsequently, the T cells were activated using CD3/CD28 antibody (BioLegend, San Diego, USA). Therefore, 96-well round bottom plates were pre-coated with CD3/CD28 antibody for 2 h at 37°C and naïve T cells were added along with 50 ng/ml C3, 1,000 ng/ml FN, 5 ng/ml SD-4, 50 ng/ml CD44, or 5 ng/ml TSP-1, respectively.

After 48 h, the T cells were transferred to CD3/CD28-free wells and stimulated with each compound for 8 more days with medium change every 2-3 days. At day 10, compounds were removed and T cells were cultivated in RPMI++ for 2 more days. T cells were lysed in lysis solution for further mRNA isolation using the innuPREP RNA Mini Kit 2.0.

2.2.1.4 ISOLATION OF PATIENT-DERIVED FIBROBLASTS²

For generation of (atopic) ECM models (2.2.1.5), a total of 10-15 hair follicles were plucked from the scalp of healthy volunteers (20-30 years of age, with informed consent

² The isolation was performed by Dr. Anna Löwa

and ethical approval EA1/345/14). After identifying follicles in the anagen growth phase based on the presence of an intact epithelial ORS via inverted microscopy, the distal keratinized hair shaft was cut off and immersed 4 times in DMEM (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) buffered with 25 nM HEPES (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany) and supplemented with 400 U/ml penicillin, 400 µg/ml streptomycin, and 250 ng/ml amphotericin B (Sigma- Aldrich, Munich, Germany). After coating cell culture inserts (Corning, Costar 3450, USA) with post-mitotic 3T3-J2 fibroblasts (3x10⁴ cells/cm²) on their basal side, the hair follicles were then placed on the apical side of these inserts and cultivated submerged for 2-3 weeks in a defined outgrowth medium consisting of 10% FBS (Biochrom, Berlin, Germany), 5 µg/ml insulin (Roche, Prenzberg, Germany), 10 ng/ml EGF, 0.4 µg/ml hydrocortisone, 0.135 mM adenine, 2 nM triiodothyronine, 0.1 nM choleratoxin, 2 mM L-glutamine (all from Sigma-Aldrich, Munich, Germany), 50 U/ml penicillin, and 50 µg/ml streptomycin in DMEM with sodium pyruvate/Ham's F12 (3:1; all from Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany). Subsequently, cells were trypsinized and cultivated in the outgrowth medium without postmitotic 3T3-J2 fibroblasts to obtain hair follicle-derived fibroblasts (HFDF). After 4 days, HFDF were further cultivated in FGM. The cells were used at passage 3-4.

2.2.1.5 GENERATION OF SELF-ASSEMBLED ECM MODELS³

For generation of self-assembled ECM, donor-derived fibroblasts (healthy or atopic; 2.2.1.4) were cultivated in a mixed media of 50% DMEM+ and 50% endothelial cell (EC) (EGM-2 MV BulletKit, Lonza) medium before seeding 2,800 Fbs into 0.4 µm 12-well transwell inserts (1.12cm²) (Corning 3460), and cultured submerged for 26 days with medium change every third day. Subsequently, instead of seeding NHEK on top according to the regular protocol for self-assembled skin equivalents, an air-lift was performed without NHEK and 50% DMEM+/EC medium was mixed with 50% KDM. Fbs were cultivated for 14 more days in order to generate ECM self-producing dermal equivalents. Excised human skin from healthy patients served as control for an *in vitro-ex vivo* comparison of ECM.

2.2.1.6 GENERATION OF IN VITRO 3D BRONCHIAL EPITHELIAL EQUIVALENTS

Bronchial epithelial equivalents were generated using primary normal human bronchial epithelial cells (NHBE) and primary normal human lung fibroblasts (NHLFb) purchased from STEMCELL Technologies (Vancouver, Canada). In a first step, a mix of bovine collagen and 10x HBSS was brought to neutral pH. Subsequently, a total of 64,300 NHLFb per equivalent were added and poured into 12-well cell culture inserts. After 4 h of incubation (2 h CO₂-free; 2 h 5% CO₂ with medium in the well and on top

³ These models were generated by Zheng Tan (Hedtrich Lab, UBC, Vancouver, Canada)

of the matrix), 0.9x10⁶ NHBE were added on top of the collagen matrix. 24 h after adding NHBE, medium was changed to differentiation medium (PneumaCult[™]-ALI medium = P-ALI) and bronchial epithelial equivalents were lifted to the air-liquid interface for a cultivation period of 21 days with medium change every second day. Eventually, the models were analyzed for viability, histology, mucus secretion, and gene and protein expression.

2.2.1.7 MEDIA ADAPTATION

Media adaptation for skin equivalents started at day 5 and day 7. Skin equivalents were either directly mixed with 50% KDM and 50% P-ALI (S5 - 50%; S7 - 50%) or they were slowly adapted to P-ALI. For that, at day 5 or day 7 10% P-ALI was added and proportion was either raised by 10% (S5 - 10%; S7 - 10%) or 20% (S5 - 20%; S7 - 20%) daily until a mix of 50% KDM and 50% of P-ALI were reached. Another approach was to mix 50% KDM with either 50% "minimal" (S7 Mini) or 50% "crossover" (S7 Crossover) at day 7 and increase its proportion to 100% after 24 h. After media adaptation, media change was performed every second day.

Media adaptation for bronchial epithelial equivalents started at day 14. For "minimal" medium, P-ALI was replaced for 50% P-ALI and 50% "minimal" at day 14. After 24 h, that medium was replaced by 100% "minimal" and medium change was performed every second day until day 21.

For "crossover" medium, the same procedure was performed. In the case of "S14 - 10%", P-ALI was replaced by 90% P-ALI and 10% KDM on day 14. Every 24 h proportion of KDM was increased by 10% until 50% were reached.

2.2.1.8 CO-CULTURE OF SKIN AND BRONCHIAL EPITHELIAL EQUIVALENTS

For "direct" co-culture, skin equivalents at day 10 and bronchial epithelial equivalents at day 14 were used. Diseased skin equivalents were generated by adding 15 ng/ml of IL-4 and IL-13 at day 7 and day 9 to *FLG*- equivalents. At day 10 of skin equivalents and day 14 of bronchial epithelial equivalents, medium was replaced to 50% P-ALI and 50% "minimal" in bronchial equivalents. The next day (day 11 skin, day 15 bronchial epithelial) both were placed into Alvetex deep petri dishes (REPROCELL Europe Ltd, Glasgow) with 33 ml of "minimal" medium for 6 days (**Fig.7**).

For "indirect" co-culture, skin disease equivalents were prepared as already mentioned for direct co-cultivation with the difference, that after 4 days of IL-4/-13 stimulation, medium was replaced with IL-4/-13-free "minimal" medium for 24 h in order to obtain conditioned medium. Conditioned medium from healthy control skin equivalents was obtained the same way. Bronchial equivalents were supplemented

with this conditioned medium mixed 1:1 with fresh "minimal" medium and cultivated from day 15-21 with medium change every second day (**Fig.7**).



Figure 7. Co-culture scheme

In vitro co-culture of skin and bronchial epithelial equivalents was performed indirectly via conditioned medium (**left**). Conditioned medium from healthy and diseased (FLG-_{IL-4/-13}) skin equivalents was collected, mixed with 50% fresh "minimal" medium and added to bronchial epithelial equivalents every other day for 6 days. Direct co-culture (**right**) was performed in Alvetex deep petri dishes in "minimal" medium for 6 days (skin and bronchial equivalent schemes kindly provided by Dr. Anna Löwa).

2.2.2 Cryo- and micro-sectioning

Cryo-sectioning of skin equivalents

Skin equivalents were cultivated for 7-14 days, cut out the insert with a scalpel, placed into embedding molds pre-filled with tissue freezing medium, and covered with additional tissue freezing medium. These were shock frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. Vertical tissue sections of 7 μ m thickness were prepared using a

cryotome (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, DE) and processed according to further protocols (2.2.3, 2.2.4, 2.2.6).

Micro-sectioning of bronchial epithelial equivalents⁴

After 21 days of tissue culture, bronchial epithelial equivalents were apically treated with 100 μ l of 4% PFA for 1-2 min, membrane and equivalent were cut out of the insert, and placed into 2 ml of 4% PFA. After 24 h in 4% PFA, equivalents were embedded into paraffin automatically with a Tissue-Tek VIP embedding device (Skura, Umkirch, GER) according to the following protocol (**Tab. 1**):

Step		Time [min]	Step		Time [min]
1	Formalin	60	8	Ethanol 100%	0.5
2	H ₂ O	0.5	9	Xylol	0.5
3	Ethanol 70%	0.5	10	Xylol	0.5
4	Ethanol 80%	0.5	11	Paraffin	0.5
5	Ethanol 96%	0.5	12	Paraffin	0.5
6	Ethanol 96%	0.5	13	Paraffin	60
7	Ethanol 100%	0.5	14	Paraffin	60

Table 1. Paraffin-embedding protocol:

Vertical tissue sections with a thickness of 1 μ m were prepared using a manual rotary microtome (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Directly after obtaining the section, it was placed into tap water (RT) for a few seconds, transferred into a paraffin stretching bath (40-50°C), and attached to an objective slide afterwards. Subsequently, those slides were dried (37°C, 24 h). The next day, standard protocols for staining were performed (2.2.3-2.2.6).

2.2.3 De-waxing of paraffin sections

After sections were dried overnight, hydration steps were performed immediately before staining. For that, slides were first placed into Roti[®]-Histol (2x5 min), ran through a dilution series of ethanol (100% 5 min, 95% 5 min, 90% 5min, 70% 5 min, 50% 5 min) afterwards, and finally placed into double-distilled (dd) H₂O for 1 min before moving on with hematoxilin and eosin (H&E-) or immunofluorescence staining. For the latter, the immunofluorescence staining, sections were incubated in citrate buffer (10 mM, pH 6) at 95°C for 20 min for antigen retrieval after de-waxing (**Tab. 2**) before following the protocol (2.2.4-2.2.6).

⁴ The embedding was performed by cooperation partners from the Institute of Veterinary Pathology at FU Berlin (Prof. Joachim Gruber)

Solution	Time [min]
Roti [®] -Histol	2x5
Ethanol 100%	5
Ethanol 95%	5
Ethanol 90%	5
Ethanol 70%	5
Ethanol 50%	5
ddH ₂ O	1

Table 2. De-waxing protocol:

2.2.4 Hematoxilin and eosin staining

After fixing cryo-sections (4% PFA, 5 min) or de-waxing micro-sections (2.2.2), slides were placed into ddH₂O for 30 s before dipping those into Mayer's hematoxylin (5 min, agitation). Slides were then rinsed in tap water (5 min, agitation) and stained with 1% eosin G solution for 30 s with agitation. Subsequently, dehydration steps were performed (2x2 min 96% ethanol, 2x2 min 100% ethanol, 2x2 min Roti®-Histol) before air-drying, mounting with 1 drop of Roti®-Histokitt, and covering with cover slips. Whereas hematoxylin stains nuclei, eosin stains eosinophilic structures as e.g., the cytoplasm (**Tab. 3**).

Solution	Time [min]
ddH₂O	0.5
Meyer's hematoxylin	5
Tap water	5
Eosin G solution 1%	0.5
Ethanol 96% (v/v)	2x2
Ethanol 100% (v/v)	2x2
Roti [®] -Histol	2x2

 Table 3. H&E-staining protocol:

2.2.5 Alcian blue staining

For more accurate characterization of bronchial epithelial equivalents and determination of possibly increased; thus, pathophysiological, amounts of mucus secretion, alcian blue staining was performed. After de-waxing micro-sectioned slides, these were placed into petri dishes and covered with 500 μ l alcian blue reagent for 30 min. Subsequently to several washing steps (2 min tap water, 30 s dH₂O, 30 s ddH₂O), a counterstaining of nuclei with α -nuclear red was performed the same way

in a petri dish for 5 min. After another washing step (1 min tap water) and several dehydration steps (2x2 min 96% ethanol, 2x2 min 100% ethanol, 2x2 min Roti[®]-Histol), slides were air-dried, mounted with 1 drop of Roti[®]-Histokitt, and covered with a cover slip before visualization with a wide-field fluorescence microscope (Keyence, Neu-Isenburg, GER).

2.2.6 Immunofluorescence staining

Immunofluorescence staining was performed to observe and localize protein expression in equivalents, hence visualizing phenotypic changes in differentiation and inflammation. After fixing cryo-sections (4% PFA, 5 min) or de-waxing micro-sections (2.2.2), slides were washed with PBS (5 min) and permeabilized with 0.5% (v/v) triton-X in PBS. Subsequent to washing (5 min PBS, 5 min PBS/BSA/Tween), a blocking step with goat serum (1/20 in PBS) was performed for 30 min in order to block unspecific binding sides. Afterwards, primary antibody was diluted (**Tab. 4**) in PBS/BSA/Tween and drops of 400 μ l were placed onto Parafilm inlaid into steel boxes. Slides were then placed upside-down onto these 400 μ l of antibody dilution and kept at 4°C for overnight incubation. For secondary antibody only control, PBS/BSA/Tween was used for incubation.

The next day, slides were washed in PBS/BSA/Tween (3x5 min) and incubated upside-down with corresponding secondary antibody (1/400 dilution) for 1 h (RT, dark) on Parafilm. After several washing steps (3x5 min PBS/BSA/Tween, 2x5 min PBS, 1x30 s ddH₂O), slides were air-dried, mounted with one drop of Anti-fading Mounting Medium DAPI, covered with a cover slip, and stored at 4°C for up to 2 days before visualizing protein expression with a wide-field fluorescence microscope (Keyence, Neu-Isenburg, GER).

Table 4. List of primary and secondary antibodies for immunofluorescence (IF) and western blot (WB):

Antibody	bibody Dilution IF Dilution WB Specimen Clone		Clone	lsotype	
α-acetylated tubulin	1:2,000		mouse	monoclonal (6-11B-1)	lgG2b
α-smooth muscle actin	1:200	1:1,000	rabbit	polyclonal	lgG
β-actin		1:10,000	mouse	monoclonal (15G5A11/E2)	lgG1
Cytokeratin 10	1:200		mouse	monoclonal (DE-K10)	lgG1
Cytokeratin 14	1:200		mouse	monoclonal (LL002)	lgG3
E-Cadherin	1:100		mouse	monoclonal (67A4.2.1)	lgG1
Filaggrin	1:1,000	1:1,000	mouse	polyclonal	lgG
GAPDH		1:1,000	rabbit	monoclonal (14C10)	lgG
Ki-67	1:200		mouse	monoclonal (Ki-67P)	lgG
Loricrin	1:500	1:1,000	rabbit	polyclonal	IgG
MUC5AC	1:600	1:100	mouse	monoclonal (CLH2)	lgG1
PAR-2	1:200	1:200	rabbit	monoclonal (SAM11)	lgG2A
SCCA-1	1:125	1:1,000	rabbit	monoclonal (886524)	lgG2B
sPLA-2	1:400	1:1,000	rabbit	polyclonal	IgG
Tenascin C	1:200	1:1,000	mouse	monoclonal (EB2)	lgG1
TSLP	1:400	1:1,000	rabbit	polyclonal	IgG
Uteroglobin		1:1000	rabbit	polyclonal	IgG
Vimentin	1:100		mouse	monoclonal (V9)	lgG1
ZO-1	1:200	1:1,000	rabbit	polyclonal	IgG
Anti-rabbit, HRP-conjugated		1:1,000	goat	polyclonal	lgG
Anti-mouse, HRP-conjugated		1:1,000	goat	polyclonal	IgG
Alexa Fluor® 488	1:400		goat (anti-rabbit or anti-mouse)	polyclonal	lgG
Alexa Fluor® 594	1:400		goat (anti-rabbit or anti-mouse)	polyclonal	lgG

2.2.7 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)

To analyze changes on mRNA-level, a qRT-PCR was performed. The mRNA from the epidermal layer of skin (disease) equivalents was isolated by gently peeling off epidermis, shock-freezing it in liquid nitrogen, grinding (30 s, 25 Hz) using a TissueLyzer (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), and resuspending in lysis buffer from innuPREP RNA mini 2.0 Kit (Analytik Jena, Jena, Germany).

In order to analyze changes in mRNA expression in human and mouse T cells, cells were lysed in lysis buffer (2 min, RT) and centrifuged (13,200 rpm, 4°C, 10 min).

RNA purification was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions from innuPREP RNA mini 2.0 Kit (Analytik Jena, Jena, Germany).

Allprep mini DNA/RNA/Protein Isolation Kit (Qiagen) was used for isolation of mRNA and protein from bronchial epithelial equivalents according to manufacturer's instructions.

After isolation of mRNA, iScript[™] cDNA Synthesis Kit was immediately used for cDNA synthesis according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 11 µl of sample were mixed with 4 µl of RNase-free water, 4 µl of 5xreaction mix, and 1 µl of reverse transcriptase. A standard program was performed using a Biometra T-Gradient thermocycler (Analytik Jena, Jena, GER) according to manufacturer's instructions (**Tab. 5**). Samples were stored at -80°C until further use.

Reaction step	Temperatur [°C]	Duration [min]	
Priming	25	5	
Reverse transcription (RT)	46	20	
RT inactivation	95	1	
Optional hold	4	—	

Table 5. cNDA synthesis program:

The subsequent qRT-PCR was performed using SYBR Green I Master Mix (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Munich, Germany). Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAPDH*) for bronchial epithelial equivalents, *YHWAZ* for human CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, and *Hprt* and *Yhwaz* for mouse CD4+ T cells served as housekeeping genes. Primer sequences are listed in 2.1.6. 2 µl of each sample was mixed with 8 µl of a master mix (0.5 µl forward primer, 0.5 µl reverse primer, 2 µl RNAse-free water, 5 µl 2xSYBR Green) and a qRT-PCR was performed on a LightCycler480 (Roche, Mannheim, GER) according to an established protocol (**Tab. 6**).

Reaction step		Temperatur [°C]	Duration [s]	Cylces	
Preincubation	denaturation	95	300	1	
	denaturation	95	10		
Amplification	annealing	60	10	45	
	elongation	72	10		
N = 14 ¹ /2 =	denaturation	95	10	1	
Menning curve	annealing	65 60		1	
	cool down	40	10	—	

Table 6. PCR program:

2.2.8 Isolation of proteins

In order to relatively quantify protein expression in skin and bronchial epithelial equivalents additionally to immunofluorescence staining, SDS-page and western blot were performed. Therefore, proteins were isolated by gently peeling off epidermis from skin equivalents, placing into RIPA buffer containing 1% (v/v) Protease Inhibitor and grinding (30 s, 25 Hz) using a TissueLyzer (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). After 30 min incubation on ice and centrifugation (4°C, 30 min, 13,200 rpm), samples were stored at -80° until use.

For protein isolation from bronchial epithelial equivalents, whole equivalent was used and protein was isolated together with mRNA using Allprep mini DNA/RNA/Protein isolation Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to manufacture's instructions.

2.2.9 SDS-PAGE and western blot

Protein amount was quantified using Pierce[®] BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific, Schwerte, Germany) according to manufacture's instructions. From the measured absorption, protein concentration was calculated for a 15-30 μ g/ μ l concentrated protein solution. Subsequently, the desired amount was mixed 2:1 with laemmli-buffer (10 parts loading buffer (3x) and 1 part DTT (30x)), heated (5 min, 95°C), and centrifuged (11,000 rpm, 5 min, 4°C) in order to denaturate proteins. These samples were pipetted into (bis)-acrylamide gels (**Tab. 7**) — gel concentration depending on protein size of interest — and separated according to their molecular weight. Afterwards, gels were blotted (30 min 100 V, 90 min 150 V) onto previously activated (15 min blotting buffer) nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad, Munich, Germany), washed with TBST (3x5 min), and blocked with 5% (w/v) skimmed milk powder in TBST (1 h, RT). Gels were incubated with primary antibody (**Tab. 4**) over night (4°C, dark), washed with TBST the next day (3x5 min). Blots were visualized with a PXi/PXi Touch gel imaging system (Syngene, Cambridge, UK) after

developing with SignalFire[™] ECL or ECL Elite reagent (Cell Signaling, Frankfurt/ Main, Germany). Intensity of bands was relatively quantified with ImageJ (Version 1.46, Wayne Rusband, National Institute for Health, USA) according to each loading control.

Percent	ddH ₂ O	(Bis-)Acrylamide	Gel buffer	10% (w/v) SDS
gel	[ml]	[ml]	[ml]	[ml]
4% (s)	6.1	1.3	2.5	0.1
6% (r)	5.4	2.0	2.5	0.1
10% (r)	4.1	3.3	2.5	0.1

Table 7. Composition of running (r) and stacking (s) gels for SDS-PAGE:

2.2.10 LDH-Assay for cell viability

In order to analyze viability of equivalents after media adaptation and in the coculture without the need to destroy the equivalent itself, LDH measurement in cell culture media was performed with CytoTox-ONE[™] Homogeneous Membrane Integrity Assay (Promega, Madison, USA). Experiments were performed according to manufacturer's protocol. Starting the day before media adaptation or co-culture, and following every second day, media samples were collected and LDH was measured in duplicates for each sample in 96-well plates by mixing media sample with Cytotox reagent (1:1, 10 min, RT, dark) and stopping reaction with half the amount of stop solution.

2.2.11 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

To measure secretion of asthma-relevant and inflammatory cytokines from bronchial epithelial and skin (disease) equivalents into cell culture media and to determine levels of cytokines of interest in healthy and patient-derived plasma samples, several sandwich ELISAs were performed. For IL-25 a DuoSet kit (R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK), for IL-1 β , -6, -8, -10, -33, TNF α , and TSLP ELISA kits from Thermo Fisher (Schwerte, GER), for C3 a colorimetric ELISA kit from R&D were used according to manufacturer's instructions. Therefore, 96-well plates were pre-coated with target-specific antibody overnight, blocked, and incubated with standards and samples over night at 4°C for increased sensitivity. An HRP-linked secondary antibody was added the next day for specific target protein binding and signal intensity was measured at a wavelength of 450 nm while subtracting values measured at 562 nm. Pre-coated plates were used according to manufacturer's instruction without previous blocking and prolonged overnight incubation with samples.

2.2.12 ECM characterization⁵

Collagen quantification

To quantify the collagen content in ECM, a colorimetric hydroxyproline assay kit was used according to manufacturer's instructions (Abcam, Cambridge, UK). Briefly, the ECM was hydrolyzed with concentrated NaOH at 120°C for 1 h. 10 N concentrated HCI was added to neutralize residual NaOH and the supernatant was collected after centrifugation. Samples hydrolysate was evaporated at 65°C and dissolved in an oxidation reagent mix. Finally, absorbance was measured at 560 nm on a microplate reader.

For desmosine quantification, a kit from My BioSource, San Diego, USA was used according to manufacturer's instruction.

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

SEM was utilized to visualize the fiber arrangement and structure of ECM produced by AD patient-derived and healthy fibroblasts as well as excised human skin (#CREB H19-03096). First, the ECM was carefully cut under a dissection microscope and subsequently fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde (pH 7.4, RT, 10 min). Samples were then dehydrated stepwise by immersing them into increasing concentrations of ethanol. Subsequently, the samples were transferred into a critical point dryer after which they were mounted carefully in lateral view on a metal stub with double-sided carbon adhesive tape that has been previously coated with Au/Pd using a Leica EM MED020 Coating System. Samples were then imaged by a Helios NanoLabTM 650 (FEI, Hillsboro, OR) scanning electron microscope, operated at 2–10 kV.

2.2.13 Proteomics analysis of skin equivalent secretome⁶

In preparation of the secretome analysis, FBS was removed from culture medium of the skin equivalents at day 10 and culture media was then collected at day 12 and 14. Samples were prepared by quantification of protein amount and denaturation prior to separation via SDS-PAGE (2.2.9). Gel was stained with SimplyBlue ™ SafeStain according to manufacturer's instructions (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and bands of interest were excised from the gel. Further sample preparation and analysis were performed by UBC proteomics core as follows:

The excised bands of interest were cut into 1-2 mm pieces, washed with de-stain buffer (50 mM $NH_4HCO_3/100\%$ EtOH – 6:4), and subsequently dehydrated in ethanol. Reduction of disulfide bonds was done by incubation in 10 mM DTT for 45 min at 56°C, followed by alkylation in 55 mM IAA for 30 min at RT in the dark. Gel pieces

⁵ These methods were performed and method descriptions were provided by Preety Panwar (Brömme Lab, Department of Oral Biological & Medical Sciences, Faculty of Dentistry, University of British Columbia; Centre for Blood Research, UBC, Vancouver, BC, Canada.

⁶ This method description was provided by Jason Rogalski (UBC Proteomics Core Facility, Vancouver, Canada)

were then dehydrated in EtOH, rehydrated in digestion buffer (50 mM $NH_4HCO_3 - pH$ 8), dehydrated again, and then the digestion was done in digestion buffer (overnight, 37°C). Digestion was stopped with 1% TFA and samples were extracted twice with extraction solution (acidified water with acetonitrile – 40% ACN, 0.1% TFA). Samples were then concentrated via vacuum centrifugation. Subsequently, extracted peptide samples were then cleaned up via STAGE-tip purification. In brief, re-solubilized acidified sample was forced through conditioned and equilibrated column with 7 mm of C18 packing, washed with 1% TFA twice, eluted into clean tubes by buffer containing 40% ACN, 0.1% TFA, and dried down.

MS analysis: For MS analysis, the samples were reconstituted in 2% ACN, 0.5% formic acid, and the peptides were analyzed using a quadrupole - time of flight mass spectrometer (Impact II; Bruker Daltonics) on-line coupled to an EasyLC 1000 HPLC (ThermoFisher Scientific) using a Captive spray nanospray ionization source (Bruker Daltonics) including Aurora Series Gen2 (CSI) analytical column (25 cm x 75 µm 1.6 µm FSC C18, with Gen2 nanoZero and CSI fitting; Ion Opticks, Parkville, Victoria, Australia), and a µ-pre-column (300 µm ID x 5 mm, C18 PepMap, 5 µm, 100 A; Thermo Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, US). The analytical column was heated to 50°C using tape heater (SRMU020124, Omega.com and in house build microprocessor temperature controller). Buffer A consisted of 0.1% aqueous formic acid and 2% acetonitrile in water, and buffer B consisted of 0.1% formic acid in 90 % acetonitrile. Samples were resuspended in buffer A and loaded with the same buffer. Standard 45 min gradients were run from 5% buffer B to 18% B over 22 min, then increased to 35% B over 23 min, increased to 90% B over 2 min period, held at 90% B for 13 min. For 90 min run, the gradient was from 5% B to 18% B over 45 min, then to 35% B from 45 to 90 min, then to 90% B over 2 min, held at 90% B for 13 min. Before each run the analytical column was conditioned with 4 µL of buffer A and the pre-column was conditioned with 20 µl of buffer A. The LC thermostat temperature was set at 7°C. The analysis was performed at 0.35 µL/min flow rate. Impact II was run with OTOF Control v. 4.1 (Bruker). LC and MS were controlled with HyStar 4.1 (4.1.21.2, Bruker). The Impact II was set to acquire in a data-dependent auto-MS/MS mode with inactive focus fragmenting the 20 most abundant ions (one at the time at 18 Hz rate) after each full-range scan from m/z 200 Th to m/z 2000 Th (at 5 Hz rate). The isolation window for MS/MS was 2 to 3 Th depending on parent ion mass to charge ratio and the collision energy ranged from 23 to 65 eV depending on ion mass and charge. Parent ions were then excluded from MS/MS for the next 0.3 min and reconsidered if their intensity increased more than 5 times. Singly charged ions were excluded, since in ESI mode peptides usually carry multiple charges. Strict active exclusion was applied. Mass accuracy: error of mass measurement is typically within 5 ppm and is not allowed to exceed 10 ppm. The nano ESI source was operated at 1900 V capillary voltage, 0.25 Bar pressure with methanol in the nanoBooster, 3 L/min drying gas, and 150°C drying temperature.

Search: The acquired data was then searched against the Uniprot protein database for Homo sapiens using the Byonic search Algorithm from Protein Metrics Inc, with 20 ppm and 40 ppm mass accuracies for precursor and product ion masses respectively, and a 1% false discovery rate cutoff.

2.2.14 Proteomics analysis of ECM models⁷

In-solution digest protocol: Each extracellular matrix was lysed with 50% TFE protocol (30 uL TFE:30 uL H₂O), sonicated for 5 min, frozen, thawed, sonicated for 10 min, and pH adjusted by 1M Tris pH 8.5. Then taken from 26 ug to 86 ug of each sample for further process. Reduction of disulfide bonds of proteins was done by tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine (TCEP) solution (1 ug to every 50 ug protein) and incubated for 20 min at room temperature. Blocking of free sulfhydryl groups was performed by chloroacetamide (CAA) solution (5 ug to every 50 ug protein) and incubated for 10 min at 95°C in the dark. Then samples were diluted by four volumes of 50 mM ammonium bicarbonate (pH ~ 8) for pH correction, followed by adding LysC enzyme (1 ug to every 50 ug protein) and incubated 2 h at 37°C. Lastly, samples were digested with Trypsin (1 ug to every 50 ug protein) for 19 h at 37°C, followed by the second round of Trypsin digestion (1 ug to every 125 ug protein), and incubated 5 h at 37°C.

Trypsin activity was quenched by acidifying samples by adding 1% TFA for a final pH < 2.5 of the samples followed by cleaned up via STAGE-Tip purification, briefly:

Each of the acidified samples was forced through a conditioned and equilibrated column with 8 mm of C18 packing, washed with 1% TFA twice, and eluted into clean tubes by buffer containing 40% ACN, 0.1% TFA, then dried down.

MS analysis: see 2.2.13

Search: Acquired data were then searched by MaxQuant (V1.6.10.43) against the Uniprot protein database for Homo sapiens, LFQ intensities extracted and normalized using the MaxLFQ algorithm (PMID: 24942700), with 20 ppm and 30 ppm mass accuracies for precursor and product ion masses, respectively, and a 1% false discovery rate cut-off.

⁷ This method was performed and method description was provided by Jason Rogalski and Renata Moravcova (UBC Proteomics Core Facility, Vancouver, Canada)

Data analysis: Label-free quantitation results were then filtered and tested with statistical software as follow:

Data were loaded into the Perseus computational Proteomics Platform (V1.6.15.0) (PMID: 27348712). First, the data were filtered for common contaminants and false-positive identification, then log-transformed followed by checking for tightness of technical replicates (Pearson correlation > 0.95).

2.2.15 RNA-sequencing of patient-derived fibroblasts⁸

First, bulk RNA was isolated from AD patient-derived fibroblasts and healthy control samples using the Invitrogen PureLink RNA mini Kit (Thermo Scientific, Burnaby, Canada) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Sample quality control was then performed using the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer. Qualifying samples were then prepped following the standard protocol for the NEBnext Ultra ii Stranded mRNA (New England Biolabs). Sequencing was performed on the Illumina NextSeq 500 with Paired End 42bp×42bp reads. Sequencing data was de-multiplexed using Illumina's bcl2fastq2.

De-multiplexed read sequences were then aligned to the Homo sapiens/hg19 reference sequence using STAR aligner (Dobin et al. 2013). Assembly and differential expression were estimated using Cufflinks (http://cole-trapnell-lab.github.io/cufflinks/) through bioinformatics apps available on Illumina Sequence Hub. Uniquely mapped reads had a minimum of 13,978,753, median of 17,760,215 and a maximum of 23,957,122. Differential expression (DE) analysis was performed using DESeq2 v1.28.1 (Love, Huber, and Anders 2014) and significance for DE genes was determined using an absolute fold change value of \geq 1.5 and adjusted p-value \leq 0.05. Since samples were sequenced in multiple runs, batch was included in the DESeq2 design formula to control for potential batch effects. Pathway enrichment of DE genes was performed using Sigora v3.0.5, with significance defined as a Bonferroni-corrected p-value \leq 0.001 (Foroushani, Brinkman, and Lynn 2013). Network analysis was done by uploading genes and their respective fold change values to NetworkAnalyst for construction of protein-protein interaction (PPI) networks (Xia, Gill, and Hancock 2015).

2.2.16 In vivo experiments in BALB/c mice9

In order to verify effects and possibly translate results from *in vitro* to more complex *in vivo* systems, three (SD-4, CD44, TSP-1) out of five identified compounds were tested *in vivo*. Experiments were mainly performed by Dr. Jenny Wilzopolski with support from Dr. Viviane Filor and Pascal Canbolat (Group of Prof. Dr. Wolfgang

⁸ Experiment was performed and method description provided by Travis Blimkie (Hancock Lab, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Centre for Microbial Diseases and Immunity Research, UBC, Vancouver, BC, Canada)

⁹ This experiment was mainly performed and method description was provided by Dr. Jenny Wilzopolski (Group of Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Bäumer, Department of Veterinary Medicine, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany)

Bäumer, Department of Veterinary Medicine, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany) at the Institute of Veterinary Pharmacology and Toxicology (Koserstr. 20, 14195 Berlin, Germany).

Experiments were approved by LaGeSo (Berlin, Germany; G0204/20) and mostly go in line with the ARRIVE guidelines. Groups were randomly assigned per cage and people working on implantation of pumps, observation, scoring, organ explantation, evaluation of final data, and statistical analysis were fully blinded until the end. Pumps were loaded by one person and labeled with rising numbers from 101-124. The assignment was unblinded after full data evaluation.

Female and male BALB/c (BALB/cAnNCrI) mice at the age of 5-6 weeks were purchased from Charles River (Sulzfeld, Germany). All mice were kept in groups of three mice per cage (type III makrolon) with a 12 h light/dark cycle at 22°C. Water and standard diet (Altromin, Lage/Lippe, Germany) were provided ad libitum.

Mice were acclimatized to their new housing environments for 14 days prior to the experiments. The back of the mice was depilated (Veet depilation crème sensitive skin, RB Healthcare, Hull, UK) three days prior to the surgical procedure. On day 0 of the experiment, Alzet micro-osmotic pumps 1007D (Charles River, Sulzfeld, Germany) were filled with 100 μ I PBS only for control group, 84 ng/100 μ I SD-4 in PBS, 21 μ g/ 100 μ I TSP-1 in PBS, or 105 μ g/100 μ I CD44 in PBS directly before implanting. The resulting release was 12 ng/d SD-4, 3 μ g/d TSP-1, and 15 μ g/d CD44 with a release rate of 0.5 μ I/hr. The implantation was performed according to Lu et al. (Lu et al. 2015).

Anesthesia was induced with 3% isoflurane (Isofluran CP®, CP Pharma Handelsgesellschaft mbH, Burgdorf, Germany) in 100% oxygen in an anesthetic chamber with sliding cover (Evonik Plexiglas, 240 x 140 x 120 mm). The chamber was not prefilled to prevent distress. After surgical tolerance began, mice were transferred to a nose cone and anesthesia was maintained with 1.5% isoflurane in 100% oxygen. Mice were placed in an abdominal position on a heating pad (36°C). Eye ointment (Vitagel®, Bausch + Lomb GmbH, Berlin, Germany) was administered to both eyes to prevent the eyes from drying out. 2% lidocaine hydrochloride (belapharm GmbH & Co. KG, Vechta Germany) was injected subcutaneously (s. c.) with an insulin syringe (BD Micro-Fine TM + BD Medical – Diabetes Care, Le Pont de Claix Cedex, France) at the incision site. Meloxicam (Metacam 2 mg/ml, Böhringer Ingelheim Vetmedica GmbH, Ingelheim/Rhein, Germany) was administered 1 h prior and 12 and 24 h after the surgical procedure at a concentration of 5 mg/kg (s.c.).

The shaved area was swapped with Braunol® (B. Braun Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG, Melsungen, Germany) followed by three wipes of 70% ethanol (Carl Roth GmbH + Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Deutschland). Behind the shoulder blades, a 0.5-1 cm incision perpendicular to the tail was made with a surgical scalpel. With a hemostat a pouch

MATERIALS AND METHODS

for the Alzet pump was created under the skin. A bolus of approximately 0.5-1 ml of sterile 0.9% NaCl (B. Braun Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG, Melsungen, Germany) was applied into the pocket. Afterwards, the Alzet pump was inserted into the pouch. The incision sites were pinched together with two hemostats and the wound was closed with 1-2 wound clips (11 x 2 mm; AESCULAP, B. Braun Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG, Melsungen, Germany). The whole implantation process took about 5 minutes per mouse. Afterwards, mice were placed in a dark cage on a heating pad for the recovery period. On day 4, a 100 µl blood sample was collected from V. facialis with a 5 mm Goldenrod™ Animal Lancet (Medipoint Inc. Mineola, NY, USA). Measurement of the temperature and wound control were performed every day until the mice were sacrificed at day 7. For sample collection, mice were deeply anesthetized with an intraperitoneal injection of ketamine-xylazine-NaCl mix (100 µl/ 10 g bodyweight). The mix contained 2 parts of ketamin 10% 100 mg/ml (bela-pharm GmbH & Co. KG, Vechta Germany), 1 part xylazine 20 mg/ml (Xylariem®, Ecuphar N.V., Oostkamp, Belgium), and 9 parts sterile NaCl. After loss of all reflexes, abdominal skin and cavity were opened and mice were exsanguinated via the V. cava with a 24G needle. Spleen, thymus, lung, and intestines were removed for further investigations.

Simultaneously, the T cells from the mouse spleen were isolated following a modified protocol as described previously (Bäumer et al. 2005). Before isolation, mouse spleens were weighted and size was documented. For isolation, the spleen was squeezed through a cell strainer, which resulted in a single-cell suspension in the filtrate. This single-cell suspension was washed with PBS and centrifuged (1,000 g, 10 min) before incubation in an erythrocyte lysis buffer for 5 min followed another washing step with PBS (1,000 g, 10 min). Subsequently, CD4+ T cells were isolated by negative selection using magnetic-activated cell sorting beads according to the manufacturer's instructions (MACS; Miltenyi-Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany) (2.2.1.3). Finally, mRNA from CD4+ T cells was isolated by incubating in lysis buffer for 2 min and processing as already mentioned above (2.2.7).

Histological analysis of mice lungs¹⁰

Histopathology was performed as previously described (Dietert et al. 2017). Prior to preparation of the lungs, the trachea was ligated to prevent alveolar collapse. After careful removal from the thoracical cavity, lungs were immersion-fixed in 4% buffered formalin (pH 7.0) for 24 h, embedded in paraffin, and cut in 2 μ m sections. Slides were de-waxed in xylene, rehydrated in graded ethanol's, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). Three evenly distributed sections per lung were

¹⁰ These experiments were performed and method description was provided by Anne Voß and are part of her thesis with focus on the comparison of histological and transcriptome data in different models (Prof. Achim Gruber, Veterinary Pathology at FU Berlin)

microscopically evaluated in a blinded, randomized fashion by a board-certified veterinary pathologist.

2.2.17 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with GraphPad Prism 6 (Ver. 6.07) software. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM from at least three independent donors. Statistical analysis was performed for experiments with sample size \geq 5. For patient-derived plasma samples, a test for independent, non-parametric values was performed (Mann-Whitney). For skin and bronchial epithelial equivalent experiments, the Wilcoxon signed-rank test for dependent, non-parametric values was performed.

3. RESULTS

3.1 Co-cultivation of skin and bronchial epithelial equivalents 3.1.1 Optimization of the co-culture medium

Media adaptation in skin equivalents

The first step on the way of establishing a co-culture between skin and bronchial epithelial equivalent, was to identify a co-culture medium where both equivalents, skin and bronchial epithelium, do not undergo significant changes compared to their usual culture conditions. The main issues here were the complexity of these media, the different culture times of 14 and 21 days, and, particularly for bronchial epithelial equivalents, no knowledge about the exact composition of PneumaCult[™]-ALI medium (P-ALI), since the company was not willing share any information.

In order to gain a fundamental overview about the influence of tested media, histology and viability were analyzed. Since skin equivalents have been established for quite a long time and are known to be more robust than recently established bronchial epithelial equivalents, different media were tested in skin equivalents first.

The first approach consisted in simply mixing skin equivalent medium (KDM) and bronchial epithelial medium (P-ALI) in a ratio of 50% each. For skin equivalents, P-ALI was either added directly (50%), was fast (20% per day) or slowly adapted (10% per day) starting at day 5 (S5) or day 7 (S7) until a mixture of 50:50 was achieved.

With the direct (50%) and fast (20%) media adaptation starting at day 5 or day 7, histological staining revealed inconsistent results with high inter-donor variability showing either hyper-proliferation, disorganization of skin layers, or huge variations in thickness of epidermal layer. The uppermost layer, the stratum corneum, did not develop well as shown for S7 - 20% and S7 - 50%. The epidermal thickness of skin equivalents with media adaptation started at day 7 was higher on average with partly high standard deviation, like 119.07% \pm 67.07 for S7 - 20% and 116.82% \pm 76.59 for S7 - 50%. Within this set, S7 - 10% showed the slightest deviation of epidermal thickness with 112.37% \pm 27.68 compared to control and a clearer structure of viable epidermis with a well-developed stratum corneum (**Fig. 8**).

The media adaptation starting at day 5 on the other hand showed a thinner epidermal layer by an average of approximately 20%. For S5 - 20%, even no clear subdivision into epidermal layers (s. basale, s. granulosum, s. spinosum) was observed but a comparably thin and unorganized viable epidermis with a thickness of 83.33% \pm 28.35 compared to the conventional culture.

A second approach was to either use a medium containing certain supplements from both media ("crossover") - as far composition of different media for culturing bronchial epithelial equivalents was available in literature - or reducing the medium to the necessary basic components ("minimal") in order to ensure a steady-state cultivation with no trigger for further differentiation and proliferation, hence cultivating with the basal medium supplemented with 10% FCS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. Both these media showed

consistent results for histology with clearer developed viable epidermis and stratum corneum. Whereas "crossover" medium led to a slightly thicker epidermis (120.83% \pm 13.61), "minimal" media resulted in slightly thinner epidermis (90.40% \pm 18.79) (**Fig. 8**).



Epidermis thickness [%]							
Minimal	Crossover	S5 - 10%	S5 - 20%	S5 - 50%	S7 - 10%	S7 - 20%	S7 - 50%
90.40 ±	120.83 ±	83.33 ±	77.71 ±	86.90 ±	112.37 ±	119.07 ±	116.82 ±
18.79	13.61	28.35	18.45	43.28	27.68	67.07	76.59

Figure 8. Histology and epidermal thickness of skin equivalents after media adaptation

Representative images of H&E-staining of control equivalents and equivalents supplemented with P-ALI starting at day 5 (S5) or at day 7 (S7) with slow (10%), fast (20%) or direct (50%) media adaptation, and "minimal" and "crossover" medium. Scale bar: 50 μ m. Epidermal thickness of skin equivalents compared to control model (=100 %) as determined with ImageJ is shown in the table below. For n=3 independent donors. Mean ± SD.

In a next step, a deeper characterization of the most promising media adaptation approaches followed by staining skin equivalents for important barrier proteins such as filaggrin (FLG) and involucrin (IVL) as well as the proliferation marker Ki-67. Whereas Ki-67 was strongly upregulated in S7 -10%, no alteration was observed for "minimal" and "crossover" medium compared to control. An increase of IVL was found for "crossover", whereas "minimal" and S7 - 10% showed similar expression compared to the control.

Expression of FLG in stratum corneum was slightly increased for S7 - 10%. Whereas no changes were observed for "minimal" medium, a diffuse expression of FLG not only in stratum corneum, but throughout viable epidermis was observed for "crossover" medium (**Fig. 9**).



Figure 9. Immunofluorescence staining of skin equivalents after media adaptation Representative images of immunofluorescence staining against FLG (red), IVL (red), and Ki-67 (green) in skin equivalents cultivated with "minimal" medium, "crossover" medium as well as equivalents supplemented with P-ALI medium starting at day 7 (S7) with slow (10% daily) media adaptation counterstained with DAPI compared to conventionally cultured control at day 14. Scale bar: 20 μ m. Exposure times: red 1/7 s, green 1/10 s, blue 1/50 s.

In a last step, skin equivalent viability was analyzed by measuring secretion of LDH, a surrogate parameter for cell viability indicating cell damage, into cell media every other day starting 24 h after day one of media adaptation. Although slight differences were observed, none of the tested media showed any relevant increase or decrease of LDH

RESULTS

throughout the last 7-9 days of culture compared to conventionally cultured control equivalent and to the positive control treated with SDS for 24 h (**Fig. 10**). Lower LDH release was observed from skin equivalents cultured with "minimal" and "crossover" medium in the first days after adaptation, whereas other media led to slight increase compared to the control equivalent. Although a low variability between the donors and relatively constant LDH levels was seen from day 6 (8) to 12, an increased LDH-release for S5 - 50%, S7 - 50%, and "minimal" medium was observed at day 14.



Figure 10. Viability of skin equivalents after media adaptation

LDH released into cell culture media from skin equivalents after media adaptation at days 6, 8, 10, 12, and 14 compared to untreated and positive control shown as RFU (relative fluorescence units). For n=4 independent donors. Mean \pm SEM.

Media adaptation in bronchial epithelial equivalents

Taken together, "minimal" medium, "crossover" medium, and the slow adaption starting at day 7 (S7 - 10%) were chosen as most consistent and most promising for further experiments in bronchial epithelial equivalents. Consequently, these three media were tested for cultivation of bronchial epithelial equivalents for the last week of the three-week conventional culture, hence starting with media adaptation at day 14 and cultivating equivalents until day 21. Here, S7 - 10% for the slow adaptation (10% more P-ALI media per day) starting at day 7 of skin equivalent culture is called S14 - 10%, referring to the slow adaptation (10% KDM more per day) starting at day 14 of bronchial equivalent culture. Analogous to skin equivalents, bronchial epithelial equivalents were analyzed for histological changes, mucus secretion, expression of bronchial epithelial-specific proteins, and viability. Compared to the conventional cultivation, all three media led to slight hyperproliferation. The formation of cilia was observed for control and "minimal" medium, with an apparent lack of cilia for "crossover" medium and S14 - 10%. Whereas the cultivation with "minimal" medium resulted in less mucus production and secretion compared to the control, "crossover" medium and S14 - 10% led to the formation of bigger mucus-filled goblet cells with a higher retention of mucus within these cells (Fig. 11).

RESULTS



Figure 11. Histology of bronchial epithelial equivalents after media adaptation Representative images of H&E- (left side) and alcian blue (right side) stainings of bronchial epithelial equivalents cultivated with "minimal" medium, "crossover" medium, and S14 - 10% compared to conventionally cultured control harvested at day 21. Scale bar: 50 μ m.

For further characterization, the expression of α -acetylated tubulin as marker for cilia, proliferation marker Ki-67, and mucus marker mucin 5AC (MUC5AC) was analyzed in bronchial epithelial equivalents with immunofluorescence staining. There was no alteration in expression of α -acetylated tubulin in bronchial epithelial equivalents cultivated with "minimal" medium, constantly expressing α -acetylated tubulin throughout the outermost, apical layer of bronchial epithelial. The "crossover" medium and S14 - 10% meanwhile showed additional expression of α -acetylated tubulin within the goblet cells. Whereas there was no expression of Ki-67 in all models, the expression of MUC5AC was generally low and unaltered (**Fig. 12**).

RESULTS



Figure 12. Immunofluorescence staining of bronchial epithelial equivalents after media adaptation

Representative images of immunofluorescence staining of bronchial epithelial equivalents against α -acetylated tubulin, Ki-67 and MUC5AC cultivated with different types of media and counterstained with DAPI. Exposure times: red 1/8 s (10x), 1/2 s (20x); green 1/15 s; blue 1/50 s (20x), 1/12 s (20x). Magnification: 10x and 20x.

The last step of characterization comprised the analysis of cell culture medium for LDH release in order to identify possible toxic effects or changes in metabolism through media adaptation. Compared to the conventionally treated control, LDH release into cell culture media constantly and slightly increased until day 20, with a drop at day 21. Nevertheless, compared to the conventionally cultured equivalent and the positive control, a bronchial epithelial equivalent treated with triton X for 24 h, no relevant increase of LDH, hence no toxic effects, were be observed after media adaptation (**Fig. 13**).


Figure 13. **Viability of bronchial epithelial equivalents after media adaptation** LDH released into cell culture medium from bronchial epithelial equivalents after media adaptation at days 16, 18, 20, and 21 compared to untreated and positive control shown as RFU (relative fluorescence units). For n=4 independent donors. Mean ± SEM.

3.1.2 Skin disease equivalents induce asthma-like inflammation in bronchial epithelial equivalents after co-culture

Based on the previously shown results, I decided to chose the "minimal" medium for the co-culture between skin (disease) and healthy bronchial epithelial equivalents for various reasons: (I) The switch from conventional (KDM or P-ALI) medium to "minimal" medium takes 2 days without a long time period of adaptation. (II) The cultivation of equivalents with "minimal" medium predominantly led to consistent results concerning histology, mucus secretion, protein expression, and viability with comparable results to the conventional control. (III) The "minimal" medium has the least amount of supplements, possibly resulting in a steady-state cultivation and leading to the least interference with secreted compounds from skin (disease) and bronchial equivalents.

The co-cultivation itself was performed in two different ways. The first way was the socalled "indirect co-culture" (Ind) via conditioned medium. Therefore, healthy (H) and diseased ($FLG_{-1L-4/-13}$) (D) skin equivalents were cultured with "minimal" medium as described above. For diseased skin equivalents with a knockdown in the *FLG* gene, 15 ng/ml IL-4 and 15 ng/ml IL-13 were supplemented for four days. After these four days medium was changed to pure "minimal" medium for 24 h without IL-4/-13. The "minimal" medium from healthy skin equivalents was also left for a 24 h conditioning (for details see methods part 2.2.1.8). These conditioned media were mixed 50:50 with fresh "minimal" medium before adding this mixture to bronchial epithelial equivalents at day 15. The cultivation with conditioned medium was performed until day 21 with medium change every other day.

The second way of co-cultivation was the "direct co-culture" (Dir). Although the term direct is incorrect, since there was no direct cell-cell-/equivalent-equivalent contact, this term should describe the difference to the indirect co-culture via conditioned medium. For direct co-culture, skin and bronchial epithelial equivalents were cultivated in deep petri dishes for 6 days in pure "minimal" medium; thus, enabling direct communication via secreted factors between both equivalents. The skin disease equivalents were cultivated with the supplementation of IL-4/-13 until the day of co-culture and moved into deep petri dishes filled with IL-4/-13-free "minimal" medium together with bronchial epithelial equivalents. Due to the large amount of media in these petri dishes, 50% of the media was refreshed after 3 days of co-culture.

The impact of these two types of co-culture on bronchial epithelial equivalents was analyzed on several different levels such as histology, mucus secretion, viability, mRNA expression, protein expression, and on secretome level. In addition to these co-culture variations, medium from bronchial epithelial equivalents was supplemented with 15 ng/ml IL-4 and 15 ng/ml IL-13, both asthma-relevant Th2 cytokines, from days 15-21 in order to establish an inflammatory bronchial equivalent.

Histological evaluation of co-cultured bronchial equivalents

The co-culture of healthy bronchial epithelial with diseased skin equivalents for 6 days resulted in clear histological alterations of the bronchial epithelium. Comparable to the treatment with IL-4/-13, a hyper-proliferative epithelium, enlarged goblet cells filled with mucus, and a hyper-secretion of mucus were observed. In addition to that, both, the inflammatory (IL-4/-13) and the diseased co-culture equivalents (Ind D, Dir D), showed increased expression of anti-inflammatory uteroglobin (UG), whereas pro-inflammatory TSLP was hardly affected. A marker for epithelial-to-mesenchymal-transition (EMT), alpha smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), was upregulated in Ind D and the inflammatory equivalent, but downregulated in Dir D. Whereas the pro-inflammatory, extracellular form of the enzyme phospholipase A2 (sPLA2), the extracellular matrix glycoprotein tenascin C, and the G-protein coupled receptor protease activated receptor 2 (PAR-2) were exclusively slightly upregulated in inflammatory equivalents, an upregulation of intermediate filament protein cytokeratin 14 (KRT14) and mucus-related protein MUC5AC was observed in inflammatory equivalents and Ind D with no changes in Dir D as compared to their corresponding healthy controls. The expression of tight junction protein zonula occuldens 1 (ZO-1) was exclusively upregulated in Ind D, but downregulated in the inflammatory equivalent and Dir D. Also, the serine protease inhibitor squamous cell carcinoma antigen-1 (SCCA1) was upregulated in the inflammatory equivalent and Ind D compared to respective their controls. Interestingly, tenascin C was increased in the basal layer after treatment with IL-4/-13. The proliferation marker Ki-67 as well as intermediate filament protein vimentin were not detected (Fig. 14).

Green: 1/3 s Blue: 1/15 s

Red: 1/3 s Blue: 1/15 s

Green: 1/3 s Blue: 1/15 s

Blue: 1/15	Dod: 1/3







Dirb	Dir _H	Ind _b	Ind _H	IL-4/-13	Control
					H&E
					Alcian blue
			State and a state		DAPI
					DAPI
	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1				
					DAPI

sPLA2

KRT14

RESULTS



Figure 14. Histological, mucus and immunofluorescence staining of bronchial epithelial equivalents after treatment with IL-4/-13 and (in-)direct co-culture

Bronchial epithelial equivalents were either treated with 15 ng/ml IL-4/-13 or co-cultured indirectly (Ind) or directly (Dir) with healthy (H) or diseased (D) skin equivalents for 6 days. Representative images of H&E-, alcian blue (mucus), and immunofluorescence staining against vimentin, alpha smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), secretory phospholipase A2 (sPLA2), tenascin C, cytokeratin 14 (KRT14), mucin 5AC (MUC5AC), Ki-67, uteroglobin (UG), zonula occludens 1 (ZO-1), protease activated receptor 2 (PAR-2), TSLP, and squamous cell carcinoma antigen-1 (SCCA-1) of bronchial epithelial equivalents counterstained with DAPI. Corresponding exposure times are shown. Scale bar: 25 μ m.

Protein expression of co-cultured bronchial epithelial equivalents

Subsequently, the expression of proteins was semi-quantified by SDS-PAGE followed by western blot and densitometry analysis. These results confirm the influence of these three methods (supplementation of Th2 cytokines, indirect and direct co-culture) by additionally highlighting their role in pathogenesis and the development of an asthmatic phenotype in bronchial epithelial equivalents.

A slight increase of pro-inflammatory TSLP and EMT-marker α -SMA occurred after both types of co-culture. A 10% increase of TSLP and 25% increase of α -SMA were observed after Ind D, whereas for the Dir D, the increase of TSLP was stronger with up to 25% compared to a less, 15% increase of α -SMA. In the inflammatory equivalent (IL-4/-13), no changes in α -SMA expression but a distinct decrease of TSLP, with approximately 20% less expression, were observed.

Interestingly, the basal marker tenascin C as well as the serine protease inhibitor SCCA-1 were strongly increased in inflammatory equivalents and both types of co-culture. Whereas IL-4/-13 and Dir D had major impact on the expression of SCCA-1 and tenascin C, Ind D resulted in a less prominent increase. The expression of G-protein coupled receptor PPAR-2 is overall neither increased in Ind D, Dir D nor in IL-4/-13-treated equivalents. The tight junction protein ZO-1 was clearly reduced after IL-4/-13 treatment and Dir D. However, Ind D led to a strong increase of ZO-1 (**Fig. 15**).



Figure 15. Semi-quantified protein expression in bronchial epithelial equivalents after treatment with IL4/-13 and (in-)direct co-culture

The expression of TSLP, alpha smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), squamous cell carcinoma antigen-1 (SCCA-1), tenascin C, protease activated receptor 2 (PAR-2), and zonula occludens 1 (ZO-1) was semi-quantified by SDS-PAGE with subsequent western blot and densitometry analysis with ImageJ. Representative bands with corresponding loading controls β -actin or GAPDH are shown. For n=3-5 independent donors. Mean ± SEM.

Gene expression of co-cultured bronchial epithelial equivalents

An alteration in the expression of proteins takes a certain amount of time and a 6-day IL-4/-13-treatment or co-culture might simply be too short to see more asthma-relevant changes in bronchial epithelial equivalents on protein level. Hence, in a next step, the respective genes were analyzed with qRT-PCR.

A 6-day treatment with IL-4/-13 led to a distinct gene expression increase of disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein 33 (*ADAM33*), *SCCA-1*, and *MUC5AC*. A less prominent increase was observed in gene expression of uteroglobin (*UG*) and *TSLP*, whereas no changes were seen for *ASMA*, tensacin C, *ZO-1*, and *PAR-2* compared to conventionally cultured bronchial epithelial equivalents.

In contrast to that, the Ind D resulted in a slight increase of *UG*, *TSLP*, *SCCA-1*, tenascin C and *ASMA*, a strong increase of *ADAM33*, and minor effects on *MUC5AC*, *ZO-1*, and *PAR-2* compared to Ind H.

Meanwhile, Dir D generally showed more prominent results on gene level compared to the inflammatory equivalents (IL-4/-13) and Ind D. Here, a >64-fold increase in the gene expression of all analyzed genes was observed (**Fig. 16**).



Figure 16. Gene expression in bronchial epithelial equivalents after treatment with IL-4/-13 and (in-)direct co-culture

The expression of uteroglobin (*UG*), *TSLP*, alpha smooth muscle actin (*ASMA*), *ADAM33*, squamous cell carcinoma antigen-1 (*SCCA-1*), zonula occludens 1 (*ZO-1*), tenascin C, *MUC5AC*, and protease activated receptor 2 (*PAR-2*) after either a 6-day treatment with 15 ng/ml IL-4/-13 or indirect (Ind) and direct (Dir) co-culture with diseased (D) skin equivalents as determined with qRT-PCR. Gene expression was normalized to the respective untreated or healthy co-culture controls (=1) and log2 transformed. GAPDH served as housekeeping gene. For n=3 independent donors. Mean ± SEM.

Secretome analysis of co-cultured bronchial epithelial equivalents

In order to complete the whole picture, the cell culture medium was used for final analysis, since an asthmatic phenotype is not only characterized by histological changes and alteration of protein and gene expression within the tissue itself, but also in terms of cytokine secretion. Therefore, the levels of some asthma-relevant cytokines were determined via sandwich ELISA in the cell culture medium at day 21 of (co-)culture.

The supplementation of IL-4/-13 for 6 days resulted in a distinct increase of TSLP and almost 2-fold increase of IL-25 compared to control bronchial epithelial equivalents. Whereas secretion of IL-6 did not change, IL-8 showed a downwards trend.

The indirect cultivation with diseased skin equivalents (Ind D) had significant impact on TSLP levels, whereas levels of IL-25 (~17 pg/ml), IL-6 (~23 ng/ml), and IL-8 (~65 ng/ml) remained unchanged compared to the indirect healthy co-culture (Ind H).

Also, the direct diseased co-culture (Dir D) led to a 3-fold mean increase of TSLP with no effects on the secretion of IL-25 (~12 pg/ml), IL-6 (~10 ng/ml), and IL-8 (~38 ng/ml).

Interestingly, the baseline levels for healthy controls already differed for all the cytokines, e.g., TSLP ranged from ~30-250 pg/ml, IL-25 from 12-20 pg/ml, IL-6 from 4-25 ng/ml, and IL-8 from ~38-65 ng/ml (**Fig. 17**). No IL-33 and TNF α were detected in culture media.



Figure 17. Secretome analysis of bronchial epithelial equivalents after treatment with IL-4/-13 and (in-)direct co-culture

The secretion of TSLP, IL-6, -8, and -25 into cell culture media of bronchial epithelial equivalents after either a 6-day treatment with IL-4/-13 or indirect (Ind) and direct (Dir) co-culture with healthy (H) and diseased (D) skin equivalents was determined via sandwich ELISA. For n=4-6 independent donors. Scatter plot showing mean \pm SEM. Wilcoxon signed-rank test for non-parametric, independent samples. *p < 0.05 compared to respective control.

Viability

Finally, LDH levels in the culture media of indirect and direct co-cultures as well as IL-4/-13-treated bronchial epithelial equivalents were analyzed in order to determine possible cytotoxic effects. Whereas LDH levels, especially in Ind H and Ind D, slightly increased, levels in IL-4/-13-treated equivalents decreased towards day 21. Nevertheless, compared to the control and a triton X-treated positive control no distinct toxic effects were observed (**Fig. 18**).



Figure 18. Viability of bronchial epithelial equivalents after treatment with IL-4/-13and (in-)direct co-culture

LDH released into cell culture media of bronchial epithelial equivalents after IL-4/-13 treatment and indirect (Ind) as well as direct (Dir) co-culture with healthy (H) and diseased (D) skin equivalents compared to untreated and positive control shown as RFU (relative fluorescence units). For n=3 independent donors. Mean \pm SEM.

3.2 Secretome analysis of diseased skin equivalents 3.2.1 Identification of skin-derived mediators triggering inflammation in bronchial epithelial equivalents

After observing clear changes in histology, protein and gene expression, and in the secretome of bronchial epithelial equivalents pointing towards an asthma-like inflammation after diseased co-cultivation, the next step was to identify possible key players that might trigger those alterations. In a first step, a more basic characterization of skin (disease) equivalent media was performed. Therefore, the cytokines TSLP, TNF α , IL-1 β , -6, -8, 10, -25, and 33 were measured via sandwich ELISA. These are cytokines already known to play a role in AD and partly in the atopic march.

The diseased skin equivalents (*FLG*-_{IL-4/-13}) did not secret more IL-6 (~59 ng/ml), IL-8 (25 ng/ml), and IL-25 (~17 pg/ml) than healthy equivalents. The only differences were observed in secretion of TNF α with a mean increase of ~20 pg/ml and a slight increase of TSLP with ~10 pg/ml more in diseased skin equivalents (**Fig. 19**). No IL-1 β , -10, and -33 were detected.



Figure 19. Secretome analysis of skin (disease) equivalents by ELISA Levels of AD- and atopic march-relevant cytokines TSLP, TNF α , IL-6, -8, and -25 were determined in supernatants of healthy (*FLG*+) and skin disease (*FLG*-_{IL-4/-13}) equivalents by sandwich ELISA. For n=6 independent donors. Scatter plot showing mean ± SEM.

For gaining more detailed information about the secretome skin (disease) equivalents and in order to identify currently unknown but possible mediators of the atopic march - a proteomics analysis culture media was performed. In a first step, FBS-free culture media of skin (disease) equivalents was collected, prepared for SDS-PAGE, and proteins were separated according to their molecular weight. A subsequent unspecific protein staining with coomassie blue revealed differences in two protein bands. One band >250 kDa and one band at ~150 kDa gave a more intense signal in media of skin disease equivalents indicating an increased secretion into culture media (**Fig. 20**).



Figure 20. Secretome analysis of skin (disease) equivalents by SDS-PAGE The components of cell culture media of skin (disease) equivalents were separated via SDS-PAGE and stained with coomassie blue. One representative gel is shown for skin (disease) equivalent media collected at day 14 of culture. Red arrows highlighting bands with increased intensity after staining with coomassie blue compared to healthy control.

These two bands per donor were cut out and a proteomics analysis was performed for a total of three donors by UBC proteomics core facility. A representative list of all hits from one donor (150 kDa band and 250 kDa band) is shown in **table 8** in the appendix.

The proteomics analysis revealed a list of skin-associated proteins such as subtypes of collagen, keratin, and laminin, among others. After extensive literature research, five candidates out of the list (**Tab. 8**) were chosen for further experiments: complement factor C3 (C3) as protein from the innate immune system, ECM glycoprotein fibronectin (FN), shedded plasma membrane proteoglycan syndecan-4 (SD-4), soluble form of cell-surface glycoprotein cluster of differentiation 44 (CD44), and matrix glycoprotein thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1). All five compounds are increased in serum and plasma from AD- and/or asthma-patients with different possible cellular sources according to literature. To validate their possible relevance, the concentration of these mediators was analyzed in

cell culture media of skin (disease) equivalents and patient-derived plasma samples via sandwich ELISA. Therefore, plasma samples were chosen from young healthy and AD donors additionally suffering from EoE at the age of 5-7. These AD patients with the additional clinical diagnosis of EoE represent the clinical picture of the atopic march.

The complement factor C3 was upregulated (2,800 μ g/ml vs. 4,300 μ g/ml) in patientderived plasma from AD patients as well as in skin disease equivalent media (3.3 μ g/ml vs. 5.3 μ g/ml). A similar trend for increased concentration was observed for CD44 (43 ng/ ml vs. 51 ng/ml), SD-4 (8 ng/ml vs. 19 ng/ml), and TSP-1 (1,450 μ g/ml vs. 1,560 μ g/ml) in AD patient-derived plasma samples. Interestingly, a minor increase of SD-4 and a significant increase of CD44 and TSP-1 in skin disease equivalents was found, whereas levels of FN were slightly decreased (80 μ g/ml vs. 74 μ g/ml) in plasma but slightly increased in media of skin disease equivalents (4.4 μ g/ml vs. 5.3 mg/ml) (**Fig. 21**).



Figure 21. Levels of C3, FN, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1 in skin (disease) equivalents and patient-derived plasma samples

Levels of complement factor C3 (C3), fibronectin (FN), shedded syndecan-4 (SD-4), soluble cluster of differentiation 44 (CD44), and thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) were determined in media of skin (disease) equivalents (=model) and patient-derived plasma samples (=plasma) via sandwich ELISA. For n=5-7 independent donors. Scatter plot showing mean \pm SEM. Wilcoxon-signed rank test was performed for non-parametric, dependent (paired) skin equivalents. * p < 0.05.

3.3 Role of the skin secretome in the atopic march3.3.1 Influence of selected skin-derived compounds on bronchial epithelial equivalents

Subsequently, the influence of these five selected compounds on bronchial epithelial equivalents was analyzed. In a first step, two concentrations were chosen based on literature research and out of these two concentrations per compound one effective concentration was determined after several pre-trials. The final concentrations were: 50 ng/ml C3, 1000 ng/ml FN, 5 ng/ml SD-4, 100 ng/ml CD44, and 5 ng/ml TSP-1. Analogous to the co-culture evaluation, the effects of these compounds on bronchial epithelial equivalents were analyzed on histological, protein, gene, and secretome level.

Histological analysis of bronchial epithelial equivalents treated with skin-derived secretome compounds

The treatment of bronchial epithelial equivalents with these compounds showed clear effects concerning histology, mucus secretion, and expression of certain proteins partly resulting in an asthma-like inflammation. Specifically, C3, FN, SD-4, and TSP-1 exhibited a hyperproliferative phenotype with GCH and increased mucus production, whereas no obvious changes for bronchial epithelial equivalents after CD44-treatment were observed. A 6-day treatment of bronchial epithelial equivalents with innate immune factor C3 led to an increased expression of epithelial markers E-cadherin, KRT-14, ZO-1, TSLP, and PAR-2 with no changes in expression of α -SMA, sPLA-2, tenascin C, MUC5AC, and SCCA-1. Treatment with ECM component FN resulted in minor increase of MUC5AC, ZO-1, TSLP, and SCCA-1, whereas SD-4-treated equivalents with CD44 led to an increased expression of KRT14 and ZO-1 throughout the whole epithelial layer as well as elevated levels of TSLP and PAR-2. The treatment with matrix glycoprotein TSP-1 only resulted in an increase of E-cadherin and TSLP (**Fig. 22**). In none of the equivalents any of Ki-67 expression was observed (data not shown).



79

RESULTS



RESULTS

80

Figure 22. Histological and immunofluorescence staining of bronchial epithelial equivalents after a 6-day treatment with C3, FN, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1

Bronchial epithelial equivalents were either treated with 50 ng/ml complement factor C3 (C3), 1000 ng/ml fibronectin (FN), 5 ng/ml syndecan-4 (SD-4), 100 ng/ml soluble cluster of differentiation 44 (CD44), or 5 ng/ml thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1). Representative images of H&E-, alcian blue (mucus), and immunofluorescence stainings against E-cadherin, alpha smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), secretory phospholipase A2 (sPLA2), tenascin C, cytokeratin 14 (KRT14), MUC5AC, uteroglobin (UG), zonula occludens 1 (ZO-1), TSLP, protease activated receptor 2 (PAR-2), and squamous cell carcinoma antigen-1 (SCCA-1) of bronchial epithelial equivalents counterstained with DAPI. Corresponding exposure times are shown. Scale bar: 25 µm.

Protein expression of bronchial epithelial equivalents treated with skin secretome compounds

In order to relatively quantify protein expression and confirm results from histological analysis, SDS-PAGE with subsequent western blot analysis was performed for bronchial epithelial equivalents after a 6-day treatment with C3, FN, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1.

No distinct changes of MUC5AC expression were observed after treatment with these five compounds but only a minor upwards trend occurred through C3, FN, SD-4, and TSP-1.

Specifically, a treatment with 50 ng/ml C3 led to a 5-fold increase of tenascin C but no changes in SCCA-1 and PAR-2 expression, whereas 1000 ng/ml FN, in addition to a comparable 5-fold increase of tenascin C expression, resulted in minor increase of SCCA-1 and PAR-2, respectively.

SD-4 treatment led to comparable results concerning tenascin C and PAR-2 with a less prominent increase of SCCA-1, comparable to treatment with CD44. The latter, moreover, led to a minor increase of tenascin C and PAR-2.

The matrix glycoprotein TSP-1 was responsible for an increase of tenascin C, PAR-2, and SCCA-1, comparable to CD44-treated bronchial epithelial equivalents. FN, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1 moreover led to increased levels of α -SMA

Overall, these five compounds either led to a distinct increase or a trend towards increased levels of the mentioned markers, whereas no decrease was observed (**Fig. 23**).





Figure 23. Semi-quantified protein expression in bronchial epithelial equivalents after a 6-day treatment with C3, FN, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1

The expression of TSLP, alpha smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), MUC5AC, tenascin C, squamous cell carcinoma antigen-1 (SCCA-1), and protease activated receptor 2 (PAR-2) was semi-quantified by SDS-PAGE with subsequent western blot and densitometry analysis with Image J. Representative bands with corresponding loading controls β -actin or GAPDH are shown. For n=3 independent donors. Mean ± SEM.

Gene expression of bronchial epithelial equivalents treated with skin secretome compounds

In a next step, analogous to the co-culture evaluation, the expression of numerous genes was analyzed.

The innate immune factor C3 led to a >6-fold increase of *UG*, *ASMA*, *TSLP*, and *FLG* with a minor (<6-fold), increase of tenascin C and *MUC5AC* gene expression with no changes in *FN*, *LIF*, *PAR-2*, and *ZO-1*.

FN revealed distinct effects on *UG*, *TSLP*, and tenascin C (>8-fold increase), with less prominent effects on *SCCA-1* and *FLG* (>2-fold increase). No changes of *ASMA*, *FN*, *LIF*, *MUC5AC*, *PAR-2*, and *ZO-1* gene expression were observed.

The treatment with SD-4 did not alter gene expression of *ASMA*, *FN*, *LIF*, *PAR-2*, and tenascin C. A more prominent effect was observed for *SSCA-1*, *TSLP*, *FLG*, *MUC5AC*, and *ZO-1* with the strongest effect on expression of *UG*.

The soluble form of CD44 did not affect *ASMA*, *FN*, *LIF*, and *PAR-2* expression on gene level. Also, a comparably low *ZO-1* but strong *UG*, *SCCA-1*, *TSLP*, and *MUC5AC* increase was observed together with strongest effects on *FLG* and tenascin C gene expression.

TSP-1 treatment did not change expression of *UG*, *ASMA*, *FN*, *LIF*, *PAR-2*, *and ZO-1*. However, a minor increase of *MUC5AC* and an >8-fold increase of *SCCA-1*, *TSLP*, and *FLG* was observed. (**Fig. 24**).



Figure 24. Relative gene expression in bronchial epithelial equivalents after a 6-day treatment with C3, FN, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1

The expression of uteroglobin (*UG*), squamous cell carcinoma antigen-1 (*SCCA-1*), alpha smooth muscle actin (*ASMA*), *TSLP*, filaggrin (*FLG*), fibronectin (*FN*), leukemia inhibitory factor (*LIF*), protease activated receptor 2 (*PAR-2*), tenascin C, *MUC5AC*, and zonula occludens 1 (*ZO-1*) after either a 6-day treatment with C3, FN, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1 as determined with qRT-PCR. Gene expression was normalized untreated control (=1) and log2 transformed. GAPDH served as housekeeping gene. For n=3 independent donors. Mean ± SEM.

Secretome analysis of bronchial epithelial equivalents treated with skin secretome compounds

Subsequently, the secretome of bronchial epithelial equivalents was analyzed in order to determine if these compounds are responsible for an increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Interestingly, none of the analyzed cytokines were increased after a 6-day treatment with these five compounds compared to untreated control. The secretion of IL-6 (~2 ng/ml), IL-8 (~25 ng/ml), TSLP (~4 ng/ml), and IL-25 (~9 pg/ml) were at healthy baseline. Solely one donor showed increased IL-6 and IL-25 secretion after treatment with C3. Nevertheless, the overall effect on the secretome is, compared to the co-culture, non-existent (**Fig 25**). No IL-33 and TNF α were secreted.



Figure 25. Secretome analysis of bronchial epithelial equivalents after 6-day treatment with C3, FN, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1

Levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines TSLP, IL-6, -8, and -25 were determined in culture media of bronchial epithelial equivalents after a 6-day treatment with 50 ng/ml C3, 1000 ng/ml FN, 5 ng/ml SD-4, 100 ng/ml CD-44, and 5 ng/ml TSP-1 by sandwich ELISA. For n=4 independent donors. Scatter plot showing mean \pm SEM.

Influence of skin secretome compounds on CD4+ and CD8+ T cells

The observed influence of these five compounds on bronchial epithelial equivalents and their direct pro-inflammatory effects without the presence of immune cells are unambiguous. Nevertheless, immune cells are a key factor in the pathogenesis of the atopic diseases. Hence, subsequently the influence of C3, FN, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1 on naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T cells was analyzed in a next step. These T cell subtypes were isolated from buffy coat preparations from 2 female and 2 male donors, in order to minimize gender-bias.

Therefore, subset markers for Th1/Tc1 (*TBX21*), Th2/Tc2 (*GATA3*), Th17/Tc17 (*RORC*), and Th21/Tc21 (*AHR*) were determined with qRT-PCR. The complement factor C3 led to a strong increase of *TBX21* and *AHR* with minor effects on *GATA3* and *RORC* in activated naïve CD4+ T cells, hence strongly inducing Th1 and Th22 polarization, with less prominent effects towards Th2 and Th17. FN led to similar effects on activated naïve CD4+ T cells by increasing *TBX21*, *RORC* and *AHR* with no mentionable effect on *GATA3*. Consequently, FN induced polarization towards Th1, Th17, and Th22. Interestingly, SD-4 and CD44 showed comparable effects on activated naïve CD4+ T cells.

Whereas SD-4 and TSP-1 strongly increased *TBX21*, *RORC*, and *AHR*, *GATA3* was less affected. CD44 also more prominently increased *TBX21* and *AHR* with minor effects on *GATA3* and *RORC*. Thus, both led to a clear polarization towards Th1 and Th22 with rather minor effects towards Th2 polarization and a stronger influence of SD-4 and TSP-1 towards Th17.

Interestingly, none of these five compounds had hardly any effects on activated naïve CD8+ T cells. Almost all compounds rather decreased gene expression of *TBX21*, *GATA3*, *RORC*, and *AHR* compared to untreated CD8+ T cells (**Fig. 26**).





After isolation of naïve CD4+ and CD3+ T cells after stimulated T cells were treated with 50 ng/ml C3, 1000 ng/ml FN, 5 ng/ml SD-4, 100 ng/ml CD-44, and 5 ng/ml TSP-1 for 10 days. Normalized log2 transformed gene expression of *TBX21* (Th1/Tc1), *GATA3* (Th2/Tc2), *RORC* (Th17/Tc17), and *AHR* (Th22/Tc22) as determined with qRT-PCR. YHWAZ served as housekeeping gene. For n=4 independent doports. Mean + SEM donors. Mean ± SEM.

3.4 Characterization of healthy and diseased skin ECM

Altered ECM composition in AD as determined with patient-derived fibroblast

The previous results highlighted the role of just a small fraction of skin-derived secreted compounds. Interestingly, all of these five compounds are linked to the skin ECM, either being part of it or as associated proteins. In order to get deeper inside into changes within the ECM itself and to better understand its role in disease, further analysis are crucial. Therefore, patient-derived AD as well as donor-derived healthy fibroblasts were stimulated to produce ECM. In a first step, an ultrastructural examination of these ECM models after a 3-week cultivation was performed with scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Compared to a reference dermis from an excised human skin from healthy donors and to the healthy ECM model, a clear disorganization with less dense collagen bundles was observed (**Fig. 27A**). In addition, clearly reduced levels of hydroxyproline as well as desmosine were determined in atopic ECM models, indicating reduced collagen and elastin content. (**Fig. 27B**).



Figure 27. SEM analysis and collagen and elastin quantification of ECM models Representative SEM images of ECM generated with either healthy- (ECM healthy) or patient-derived AD cells (ECM AD) as well as healthy *ex vivo* skin (Dermis healthy). Scale bar: 5µm. **B** Levels of hydroxyproline and desmosine as indicator for collagen and elastin content of skin ECM. For n=4 independent experiments.¹¹

Protein expression is altered in AD ECM

In a next step, a deeper characterization of the ECM proteins via semi-quantitative proteomics analysis was performed on the self-assembled ECM models. This analysis revealed significant differences in the expression of numerous proteins between healthy and AD ECM. A small fraction of 19 proteins with the highest difference is shown in **figure 28**. Within these 19 proteins with the highest difference were for example tenascin (TENA), fibronectin (FINC), serine protease HTRA1, and signal transducer and activator

¹¹ Self-assembled ECM models were generated by Zheng Tan (Hedtrich Lab, UBC, Vancouver, Canada); ECM-analysis (SEM and collagen/elastin quantification) was performed by Preety Panwar (Brömme Lab, UBC, Vancouver, Canada)

of transcription 1-alpha/beta (STAT1) (**Fig. 28**). Interestingly, several proteins are connected to the ECM and partly known to play a role in atopic disease. A complete list of these 19 proteins + NID1 and extracellular superoxide dismutase (SODE) and their functions can be found in **table 9** in the appendix.



Figure 28. Proteomics analysis of self-assembled ECM models derived from healthy and diseased donors

Volcano plot showing differences in protein expression between donor-derived healthy and AD ECM. Proteins expressed higher in healthy ECM are left from zero, proteins expressed higher in AD ECM are right from zero. The 19 proteins with the highest difference between healthy and AD ECM plus NID1 and SODE are labelled. Red dots indicate significant differences *p≤ 0.01. For n=3 independent donors.¹²

¹² Analysis, bioinformatic evaluation, and data presentation were performed by Jason Rogalski (UBC Proteomics Core, Vancouver, Canada)

AD fibroblasts are characterized by a significantly altered transcriptome

To complete the picture, a transcriptomic analysis was performed of previously used donor-derived healthy and AD fibroblasts. A total of 1,593 significantly differentially expressed (DE) genes as determined. 13 key pathways are shown in **figure 29**. Interestingly, not only genes involved in ECM organization (e.g., fibronectin, tenascin), ECM degradation (e.g., COLs, *MMPs*, *ADAMs*), and ECM interaction are differentially expressed, but also in pathways playing a role in immunological signaling (e.g., *STAT1*, *HSP90AA1*), cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction (e.g., *ILRs*, *CXCLs*), Wnt signaling pathway (e.g., *LGR5*, *WNT9A*), and VEGF signaling (*ITGAs*, COLs).

Additionally, a minimum order protein-protein-interaction network was constructed by uploading a list of these 1,593 DE genes to NetworkAnalyst. Out of a highly interconnected network with over 2,000 nodes, subnetworks were created via Reactome enrichment within NetworkAnalyst that represent relevant biological pathways. Subnetworks concerning ECM organization, cytokine signaling and TLR4 signaling are shown in the appendix (**Fig. 30**). These datasets match with the previous results by highlighting the role of fibronectin, *ITGB5 as* a gene coding for a fibronectin receptor, and *ILRs* as well as *MMPs*.



Figure 29. Transcriptome analysis of healthy and AD fibroblasts

A heatmap shows significantly altered genes of AD-relevant key Reactome (R) and KEGG (K) pathways as log2 transformed fold change from pathway enrichment with Sigora.¹³

¹³ Analysis, bioinformatic evaluation, and data presentation were performed by Travis Blimkie (Hancock Lab, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, UBC, Vancouver, Canada)

3.5 Impact of SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1 in BALB/c mice

The results from the co-culture and the skin secretome compound testing in bronchial epithelial equivalents as well as CD4+ and CD8+ T cells indeed revealed interesting results confirming a possible role of C3, FN, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1 in the pathogenesis of the atopic march. Nevertheless, these results are based on separate systems standing for their own. The bronchial epithelial equivalents lack complexity and naïve CD4+ as well as naïve CD8+ T cells are not involved in any other environment. A more complex in vitro system is currently not available. Therefore, it was necessary to investigate these compounds in the most complex pre-clinical model that is available. Although far from being optimal, the most used AD asthma models currently are BALB/c mice. In order to compare the suitability of stand-alone in vitro models in the context of a translational correlation and to investigate the effects of these compounds under in vivo conditions, three out of five selected murine compounds (SD-4, CD44, TSP-1) were tested in BALB/c mice. Therefore, according to serum levels and kinetics data known from literature research, a specific concentration of each compound per day was applied via osmotic pumps for a total of 7 days, a time period almost analogous to the previous cell culturebased experiments. The osmotic pumps were filled with each compound and implanted subcutaneously by Dr. Jenny Wilzopolski with help from Dr. Viviane Filor and Pascal Canbolat (Veterinary Pharmacology, Prof. W. Bäumer, FU Berlin). FN and C3 were not tested due to handling reasons.

After a constant release of these three compounds over seven days, mice were killed and lung tissue, gut tissue, spleen, and blood samples were collected for further analysis.

In a first step, the influence of these three compounds on spleen and CD4+ T cells was analyzed. Therefore, spleen size and weight were determined and CD4+ T cells were isolated.

Whereas the macroscopically measured size of the spleen marginally differed, a trend towards increased spleen weight of mice after the 7-day treatment with SD-4 (158.4 mg \pm 9.9), TSP-1 (167.3 mg \pm 21.1), and a significant increase after CD44 treatment (183.2 mg \pm 31.2) compared to PBS-treated mice (144.5 mg \pm 26.4) was observed (**Fig. 31**).

male



Figure 31. Weight and size of spleen isolated from mice after a 7-day treatment with PBS, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1

Spleen from BALB/c mice were isolated together with lung, gut, and thymus after a 7-day treatment with PBS (Control), SD-4, CD44, or TSP-1. Weight and size of the spleen were documented. Dot plot shows the weight of spleen from female and male mice in mg. Representative images of female and male spleen are shown below. For n=6 BALB/c mice. Mean ± SEM, * p < 0.5. (One-Way-Anova with Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Post-Test for independent parametric values as determined by Shapiro-Wilk Test).

In order to analyze if increased weight of mice spleen after treatment with SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1 goes in line with an effect on Th cells, CD4+ T cells were isolated from spleen, and pooled female and male CD4+ T cells were analyzed for expression of subtype markers as mentioned before. Interestingly, a sex-specific effect was observed on Thpolarization within this small sample size. Whereas SD-4 induced polarization towards Th1 (*Tbx21*) in male mice, it led to polarization towards Th17 (*Rorc*) in female mice. CD44 only affected male CD4+ T cells by polarization towards Th1 (*Tbx21*) and Th22 (*II-22*), whereas TSP-1 showed distinct effects towards Th1 (Tbx21), Th2 (Gata3), and Th17 (Rorc) in female CD4+ T cells. In male mice, TSP-1 slightly upregulated Tbx21 and Il-22; thus, polarizing towards Th1 and Th22 (Fig. 31).



Figure 32. Gene expression of isolated mice CD4+ T cells after a 7-day treatment with PBS, SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1

CD4+ T cells were isolated from mice spleen after a 7-day treatment with PBS (UTC), SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1 and mRNA expression of *Tbx21* (Th1), *Gata3* (Th2), *Rorc* (Th17), and *II-22* (Th22) of pooled male (left) and female (right) mice was determined via qRT-PCR. Gene expression was normalized to housekeeping genes *Gapdh* and *Hprt*, and log2-transformed. n=3 for each sex. Mean ± SEM.

During the experiment, no macroscopically relevant changes of the skin and no airway symptoms were observed. In addition, histological staining of bronchi and alveoli of one half of the lung were performed and no differences between the groups were determined on histological level (**Fig. 33**).





Figure 33. Histology of mice lungs Representative images of H&E-staining of bronchi and alveoli of control (PBS), TSP-1, CD44, and SD-4 treated mice after 7 days. Scale bars: Bronchi: 20µm; Alveoli: 50µm.¹⁴

¹⁴ Histological staining, evaluation, and data presentation were performed by Anne Voß (Group of Prof. A. Gruber, Veterinary Pathology, FU Berlin) and are part of her thesis discussed from another point of view
4. DISCUSSION

4.1 Skin disease equivalents induce an asthmatic phenotype in bronchial epithelial equivalents after co-culture

The poor predictability of animal models in pre-clinical trials has already been addressed. Another issue with these models concerns basic research studies for understanding and translating (patho-)physiological mechanisms from animal to human for certain diseases. Indeed, animal models do partly deliver excellent data for the understanding of possible molecular mechanisms and underlying pathophysiology. Also of advantage is the possibility to study a whole biological organism containing all relevant organs, tissues, and mediators such as cytokines, hormones etc. Nevertheless, a one-to-one translation from e.g., mouse data to human is not possible. Therefore, high effort is currently put into the development of reconstructed human-based multi-organ cultures (Low et al. 2021; Schimek et al. 2020; Reiner, Sapir, and Parichha 2021).

The in this study established human-based two-organ co-culture of skin (disease) and healthy bronchial epithelial equivalents was primarily developed to serve as model system for the investigation of the atopic march *in vitro*.

The first step on the way to maintaining two separately established reconstructed models the skin equivalent and the bronchial epithelial equivalent - within one system, was to find a culture medium in which both equivalents can be cultured for a certain amount of time without significantly changing their phenotype and protein expression. Hence, ideally to keep both equivalents in one system as long as possible. Therefore, a co-culture period of approximately one week was chosen and aimed for due to several reasons: i) according to the in the Hedtrich lab established protocols skin equivalents are cultured for two weeks, bronchial epithelial equivalents for three weeks, and both equivalents need their first days of 3D culture to get used to the co-culture of two cell types (epithelial cells and fibroblasts), to grow, and to differentiate under these new air-liquid-interface conditions separately; ii) additionally to that first few days of growth and differentiation, a certain amount of time is needed for media adaptation; iii) the atopic march as it is known in vivo develops over several years. Although a co-culture over several years in vitro is not possible, due to the comparably simplified two-organ system a pathophysiological communication between skin and lung within a relatively short amount of time did not seem completely unrealistic.

So, after several different types of media separately tested in skin and bronchial epithelial equivalents, the "minimal" medium led to the most consistent and satisfying results. First, no relevant change was observed for viability of both, skin and bronchial epithelial equivalent (**Fig. 10, 13**). Then, the viable epidermis in skin equivalents and the epithelial layer with its goblet cells, cilia, and mucus in bronchial epithelial equivalents was not distinctly altered compared to the conventionally cultured control equivalents. Other media tested, such as the different mixtures of both differentiation media - KDM and P-ALI - resulted in either poor differentiation, parakeratosis, hyperproliferation, goblet cell

hyperplasia, and increased production of mucus (**Fig. 8, 11**). A possible explanation for these results might be the simplicity of the "minimal" medium. Whereas KDM and P-ALI induce differentiation and proliferation of cells, and the addition of completely new and complex (foreign) culture medium to each of the equivalents might result in an extra stimulus for several cellular processes that might not be clearly assigned to the cell culture supplements, the "minimal" medium solely contains the basic supplements for cells to survive, namely a basal medium and FBS. This, after some days of conventional culture, might be enough to keep the equivalents alive and cultivate them in a kind of steady-state condition in which the equivalents are able to maintain themselves and additionally avoid any unwanted supplements interfering with the co-cultivation and the communication between skin and bronchial epithelial.

In a next step, two different approaches were investigated for the two-organ co-culture of skin (disease) equivalents and healthy bronchial epithelial equivalents. The first type of co-culture is called the "indirect co-culture" (Ind). Here, bronchial epithelial equivalents were supplemented with 50% of conditioned "minimal" medium from health and diseased skin equivalents from day 15-21 of culture. The reason for this mixture of 50% conditioned medium and 50% fresh medium was, on the one hand, not to overload bronchial epithelial equivalents with an unknown amount of unidentified factors secreted by skin (disease) equivalents and, on the other hand, to supply bronchial epithelial equivalents with at least 50% fresh "minimal" medium every other day.

The second approach is called the "direct co-culture" (Dir). Although this term is not fully correct since it implicates a co-culture where both equivalents are in direct contact, it was chosen to better distinguish between those two types of co-culture. Dir was performed in deep petri dishes (**Fig. 7**) with "minimal" medium from day 15-21 of culture with refreshing half of the medium once, since these deep petri dishes had a capacity for 33 ml which was sufficient to supply both equivalents for this period of time.

In order to have a positive control, a third approach was established. Asthma as well as AD are both characterized by a Th2-dominant immune response (Brandt and Sivaprasad 2011; Villani et al. 2021). Therefore, analogous to the inflammatory skin equivalents, bronchial epithelial equivalents were treated with 15 ng/ml IL-4 and -13 from day 15-21 in order to have a valid comparison with the two types of co-culture.

Interestingly, all three approaches - the treatment of bronchial epithelial equivalents with IL-4/-13 and the co-cultures with diseased skin equivalents - resulted in a hyperproliferative phenotype characterized by clear goblet cell hyperplasia (GCH) and increased mucus production (**Fig. 14**). Asthma itself is characterized by GCH (increased number of goblet cells), goblet cell metaplasia (GCM - development of goblet cells from other epithelial cell types), and mucus hypersecretion (Ordoñez et al. 2001; Alagha et al. 2019). Airway mucus itself has protective function, whereas excessive production of tough mucus as well as airway hyperresponsiveness play an important role in asthma

DISCUSSION

pathophysiology and contribute to increased morbidity and mortality (Sterk 1993; Grootendorst and Rabe 2004). Interestingly, in a murine mouse model of asthma sensitized and challenged with ovalbumin (OVA), the process of GCM was observed as well (Reader et al. 2003). Here, Reader et al. showed a 25% decrease of ciliated cells and a 75% decrease of club cells with a compensation of these losses by an increase of goblet cells. In order to prove GCM in the diseased co-cultures as well as the IL-4/-13 treatment, a staining for co-expression of markers for goblet as well as ciliated or club cell might be worth following up in the future; in particular a classical immunofluorescence staining for proteins or single molecule fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (smFISH), a method for detection of RNA in single cells (Kwon 2013), are possible options.

However, the clearly observed hyperproliferation in all three (IL-4/-13, Ind D, Ind H) approaches can unexpectedly not be proven by staining of proliferation marker Ki-67 (**Fig. 14**). Although Hackett et al. was able to show a clear increase of Ki-67 in asthmatic compared to healthy airways by IHC staining, in ALI cultures of these same asthmatic and healthy donors, no change in Ki-67 expression was observed (Hackett et al. 2011). Nevertheless, Hackett et al. was able to show increased mucus production in asthmatic airways by PAS-staining but no increase in asthmatic ALI cultures compared to non-asthmatic airways and ALI cultures.

Interestingly, these are the only identical results between these three disease approaches. Moreover, a discrepancy between gene and protein data was partly observed, whereas the results on gene level clearly point towards an asthma-like inflammation, results from protein analysis were less prominent. Generally, it is known that levels of gene expression and expression of the corresponding protein do not necessarily correlate as shown in several studies (Koussounadis et al. 2015; Kosti et al. 2016; Gry et al. 2009; Guo et al. 2008). Although the relationship between gene and protein expression is clear, since mRNA gets translated to peptides and proteins, predicting protein expression from mRNA levels sometimes might mislead. One the one hand, the timing might be a reason since the amount of time between mRNA upregulation and its effects on the upregulation of the corresponding protein might differ depending on translation and post-translational modifications. On the other hand, upregulated protein levels might directly act as negative feedback upon mRNA expression.

The former, the timing issue, might also be a possible explanation here. As mentioned, the process of the atopic march is a long process (>5 years) and involves allergens, the immune system, and genetical factors; thus, being a multifactorial disease picture. The bronchial epithelial equivalent lacks immune cells, allergens, and genetic modifications, and the co-culture itself is performed for just 6 days.

Finally, an explanation for the partly observed differences between indirect and direct coculture might be that there is a one-way interaction and a re-stimulation with fresh conditioned medium every other day in indirect co-culture, whereas in the direct co-culture the effects of skin disease equivalents might get attenuated over time due to missing inflammatory (IL4-/-13) stimulation within the co-culture. Additionally, in the direct co-culture there is more than just a one-way communication, since both equivalents might affect and influence each other.

4.2 Role of AD skin in the atopic march

Due to its increasing prevalence, AD has become a significant health problem of the industrialized countries. Currently, up to 25% of children and 1-3% suffer of adults in the western world suffer from AD (Odhiambo et al. 2009). Numerous studies additionally demonstrated that more than 50% of AD patients suffering from a moderate to severe phenotype are sensitized to numerous allergens which during childhood results in the manifestation of other allergies such as FA, AR and/or AA. This disease progression is also called atopic march (Rhodes et al. 2002; Sicherer and Leung 2012). The molecular mechanisms of the atopic march are still largely unknown and represent a large knowledge gap hampering the development of new approaches for the treatment and prevention of atopic diseases. However, a correlation between skin and lung is very likely. since AD and AA interestingly are characterized by similar pathophysiological patterns such as Th2-dominated inflammation and increased IgE levels. In addition, the keratinocyte cytokine thymic stromal lymphopoletin (TSLP), by promoting allergen awareness, leads to the manifestation of AA in the atopic march (Hongwei Han, Roan, and Ziegler 2017; Leyva-Castillo et al. 2013). Despite extensive research activities, TSLP, IL-25, and IL-33 are just some of the few factors known so far to be associated with the development of the atopic march. Over the past few years, the Hedtrich group has developed a human in vitro model of atopic skin (Hönzke, Wallmeyer, et al. 2016) that could close this knowledge gap.

As already shown previously, this model of atopic skin can be used for the investigation of pathophysiological communication with other reconstructed tissues such as the bronchial epithelial equivalent. In order to reveal the responsible factors inducing this asthma-like inflammation in the bronchial epithelium *in vitro*, in a first step, the secretion of several cytokines into cell culture medium of healthy and diseased skin equivalents was analyzed. Interestingly, no changes in IL-6 and -8 were found and no signal for IL-1 β and IL-10 at all (**Fig. 19**). A possible explanation might be the AD-severity of the skin disease equivalent. As *in vivo* studies show, levels of IL-6 and -8 are highly dependent on the disease severity and were found to be increased in patients' sera suffering from moderate to severe AD, whereas no increase was found in patients suffering from mild AD (Toshitani et al. 1993). An increase of IL-8 and IL-1 β in a different kind of skin disease equivalents was found by Hönzke et al. who stimulated skin equivalents with 20 ng/ml TNF α (Hönzke, Gerecke, et al. 2016). However, according to the current knowledge IL-1 β , -6, -8, and -10 do not

primarily play a role in the atopic march. These were analyzed for gaining a better basic characterization of the secretome of skin disease equivalents. Also, no increase was found in levels of IL-25 and even no secretion of IL-33 at all (**Fig. 19**). One possible explanation, as already mentioned, could also be that this skin disease equivalents simply represents a mild form of AD, whereas another reason might be the missing immunological component in this model, since AD is a multifactorial disease with clear interplay between epithelial and immune cells. For IL-6 and -8, Wallmeyer et al. did prove that the skin equivalents (*FLG*+ and *FLG*-) secret more IL-8 and even significantly more IL-6 when co-cultivated with activated naïve CD4+ T cells (Wallmeyer et al. 2017).

Nevertheless, one of the key factors playing a role in the atopic march, KC-derived TSLP, is increased in the epithelial layer as shown by Hönzke at al. and Wallmeyer et al. (Hönzke, Wallmeyer, et al. 2016; Wallmeyer et al. 2017), and was found to be increased in the cell culture medium of diseased skin equivalents as well (Fig. 19). These findings go in line with TSLP found to be strongly expressed in lesional areas of AD skin as well as the increase in AD-patients' sera (Soumelis, Reche, Kanzler, Yuan, Edward, Homey, Gilliet, Ho, Antonenko, Lauerma, Smith, Gorman, Zurawski, Abrams, Menon, McClanahan, De Waal-Malefyt, et al. 2002). Moreover, TNFa was found to be slightly increased in skin disease equivalents which is also known to be increased in vivo (Sumimoto et al. 1992), whereas it is not considered relevant for the atopic march. Another interesting finding from Löwa et al. who used patient-derived AD fibroblasts for cultivation of skin equivalents were significantly increased levels of IL-6, -13, TNFa, and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) when co-cultured with activated naïve CD4+ T cells, whereas levels of LIF without CD4+ T cell supplementation were significantly downregulated in equivalents generated with AD fibroblasts (Löwa et al. 2020). The latter, being in line with other studies showing reduced expression of LIF on protein and gene level, hence highlighting the role of fibroblast in dermal-epidermal communication and ADpathophysiology, since LIF is important for differentiation of normal skin and reduced expression of LIF in dermal fibroblasts leads to impaired epidermal structure (Berroth et al. 2013).

The skin disease equivalents used for these current projects and thesis were generated with healthy NHDF and NHEK inducing a knockdown of the *FLG* gene solely in the NHEK, pointing towards an important, here missing, feature: the role of AD-fibroblasts.

Nevertheless, in order to gain even more insight, the secretome of skin (disease) equivalents — in form of the culture media of healthy and diseased ($FLG_{-1L-4-f-13}$) skin equivalents — was analyzed with separation of proteins by SDS-PAGE and subsequent proteomics analysis of protein bands with obviously increased expression in medium of skin disease equivalents. As shown in **Fig. 20**, two bands, one with the size of approximately 150 kDa, the other one with a size >250 kDa, showed a clearly increased signal after coomassie blue staining of the gel in skin disease equivalents. Out of a large

list of hits (**Tab. 8, appendix**), the following proteins were chosen for further investigation according to literature research and the potential to play a role in the atopic march: complement factor C3 (C3) as protein of the innate immune system, ECM glycoprotein fibronectin (FN), shedded form of plasma membrane proteoglycan syndecan-4 (SD-4), soluble form of cell-surface glycoprotein cluster of differentiation 44 (CD44), and matrix glycoprotein thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1).

Interestingly, all five mediators are part of the skin matrisome. The matrisome is the entirety of skin extracellular matrix (ECM-) associated factors with FN and TSP-1 being part of the core skin matrisome, SD-4 being a matrisome-associated protein, and CD44 a receptor of ECM proteins such as HA, COLs, and MMPs (Ponta, Sherman, and Herrlich 2003). C3 is produced by keratinocytes upon inflammatory stimuli (Pasch et al. 2000) and is bound by ECM (Fernandez-Godino, Bujakowska, and Pierce 2018). Whereas ECM glycoproteins, COLs, and proteoglycans are considered to be the core matrisome, all further ECM-connected proteins, such as regulators of ECM as well as secreted factors are considered matrisome-associated (Naba et al. 2016). The ECM is a complex structure that provides tissue boundaries and biomechanical properties. The role of ECM in disease has been underestimated for quite a long time. Recent data proved that ECM has huge impact on cell survival, proliferation, differentiation (Naba et al. 2016), and inflammatory processes (Shimshoni et al. 2021).

The role of ECM in AD is still not fully understood. Two recent studies started to focus a possible crosstalk between ECM and immune cells in skin inflammation (Pfisterer et al. 2021; Bhattacharjee et al. 2019).

The role of the complement system and its receptors in AA and AD is frequently being discussed. The complement system itself a complex system of not only membrane-bound but also numerous soluble proteins serving as bridge between innate and adaptive immune response (Wills-Karp 2007).

Above all, the cleavage products of the factors C3 and C5, C3a and C5a, play a role in the regulation of the Th2 immune response (X. Zhang and Khl 2010); thus, being important for pathogenesis of AD and AA. The plasma concentration in 60 Egyptian children with asthma (not in the acute asthmatic attack) was 14,060 mg/ml, in healthy people 10,770 mg/ml C3, as determined in a case-controlled study (Fattah et al. 2010). No difference in serum C4 was measured. This goes in line with the increased concentration of C3 measured in plasma of children up to 7 years of age suffering from AD and EoE; thus, going through the atopic march, with 4.5 mg/ml compared to healthy control. Accordingly, the diseased skin equivalents secreted more C3 with mean 5.5 μ g/ml than the healthy equivalents with mean 3.5 μ g/ml (**Fig. 21**).

In a $C3^{-/-}$ mouse model (C57BL/6 mice) with allergen-induced pulmonary allergy, it was also shown that the lack of C3 led to significantly lower bronchial hyperreactivity, reduced

number of macrophages, neutrophils as well as lymphocytes in BALF, and reduced Th2dominated inflammation in form of IL-4 reduction after allergen contact (Drouin, Corry, et al. 2001). In contrast to that, a lack of C3 interestingly led to a protective effect in the skin (Purwar et al. 2011). Not only C3 itself, but also its activated form, C3a, must be considered. In a C3a receptor-deficient C57BL/6 mouse model of AA, a reduced number of goblet cells and MUC5AC was found compared to WT. Additionally, the authors showed a direct and Th2 cytokine-independent upregulation of MUC5AC by C3a (Dillard, Wetsel, and Drouin 2007). Generally, C3a has been found to be increased in BALF of asthmatic patients (Krug et al. 2001) together with an increased expression of its receptor, C3aR, on bronchial epithelial and smooth muscle cells during airway inflammation (Drouin, Kildsgaard, et al. 2001; Fregonese et al. 2005).

Several of these systemic effects cannot be analyzed within the bronchial epithelial equivalents. Nevertheless, clear and direct effects of a 6-day "systemic" treatment of bronchial epithelial equivalents with 50 ng/ml rhC3 were observed here on histological, protein, and gene level (**Fig. 22-24**). The clear upregulation of certain asthma-relevant genes indicates that treatment of bronchial epithelial equivalents with C3 might have more relevant effects that could not be observed on protein level within that short time period of 6 days (**Fig. 23, 24**). A 6-day treatment is comparably short and might increasingly affect gene expression, whereas a prolonged treatment might possibly result in clearer effects on protein levels. This might also explain the unaltered levels of secreted pro-inflammatory cytokines (**Fig. 25**). However, C3 seems not only to exhibit its pro-asthmatic effects via immune cells in an allergy-sensitized situation but also has direct influence on bronchial epithelium.

In concordance with the role of the complement system, here in form of C3, as bridge between innate and adaptive immune system, an impact on polarization of naïve activated human Th cells towards Th1 and Th22 was observed (**Fig. 26**).

In the case of fibronectin (FN) it is known that levels are elevated in the plasma of asthmatics and correlate with the severity of AA and AD (Ohke, Tada, Kataoka, et al. 2001; Bazan-Socha et al. 2018).

The effective concentration determined *in vitro* was 1 μ g/ml, whereas *in vivo* the plasma concentration in healthy human subjects was 2.06 μ g/ml and in asthmatics 4.11 μ g/ml (Bazan-Socha et al. 2018).

The levels of FN in plasma of healthy and AD/EoE-patients did not differ, whereas a trend towards increased FN concentration in skin disease equivalents was observed (**Fig. 19**). One explanation might be the severity. It is not known whether the plasma samples tested here are from patients suffering severely, moderately, or mildly from AD and EoE. A possible history of asthma is also not known. Interestingly, FN levels seem to be dependent on the type of asthma, whereas patients suffering from non-atopic asthma

DISCUSSION

have significantly higher FN than patients suffering from atopic asthma (Ohke, Tada, Kataoka, et al. 2001). Additionally, FN levels are dependent on the current asthmatic state. During an acute asthmatic attack phase, FN is reduced and increases during non-attack phase (Bazan-Socha et al. 2018; Ohke, Tada, Nabe, et al. 2001). This also goes in line with FN concentration in skin disease equivalent media. As already mentioned before, these skin disease equivalents indicate to represent a mild phenotype of AD, resulting in less prominent levels of pro-inflammatory mediators in culture medium.

Although not being the typical pro-inflammatory mediator and just known to be increased in AD and asthmatics plasma, treatment of bronchial epithelial equivalents with FN clearly resulted in a pro-inflammatory asthma-like inflammation. It is worth mentioning that FN has the least broad impact on the bronchial epithelium out of these five tested though in no way being inferior concerning its impact on naïve human Th cells. Here, FN leads to polarization of Th1 and Th22 (**Fig. 22-26**).

The transmembrane protein Syndecan-4 (SD-4) is an ubiquitous cell surface proteoglycan receptor involved in signal transmission during cell adhesion, migration, proliferation, and endocytosis (Elfenbein and Simons 2013). SD-4 is expressed on numerous cell types such as endothelial cells, epithelial cells, T cells, and eosinophils. In wound healing, inflammatory processes, or by mechanical stress the extracellular part of SD-4 is released by sheddases (e.g., MMP-2, -3, -7) and enters the systemic circulation as shedded form (Samarel 2008; Gondelaud and Ricard-Blum 2019)

In AD, the SD-4 serum concentration is significantly increased (1,406 versus 711 pg/ml) (Nakao et al. 2016). This also goes in line with determined SD-4 mean levels in AD-/EoE-patients with 18 ng/ml compared to 9 ng/ml in healthy subjects. A high inter-donor variability that hampers final evaluation has to be mentioned here. In order to confirm these results, more donors need to be analyzed. However, the increased SD-4 concentration in culture media of skin disease equivalents support the proteomics data.

SD-4 is a powerful regulator of fibroblast growth factor (FGF-) receptors 1 and 2 (Elfenbein et al. 2012; Y. Zhang et al. 2003) by either directly activating FGF-receptor signaling or functioning as co-receptor (Elfenbein and Simons 2013). Interestingly, FGF-receptors 1 and 2 in KCs are known to play a role controlling skin homeostasis, keratinocyte proliferation, and cutaneous inflammation (J. Yang et al. 2010). Thus, it might have been of interest to not only investigate the impact of SD-4 on bronchial epithelial equivalents but also on healthy skin equivalents.

It continues to play a role in the migration of DCs and eosinophils in asthma (Polte et al. 2015; Feistritzer et al. 2004). Polte et al. highlighted the role of SD-4 in DC migration and Th2-driven inflammation in AA in SD-4^{-/-} mice. In that study, OVA-sensitization resulted in decreased number of inflammatory cells in the BALF, no increase of lung resistance, and reduced OVA-specific IgE levels compared to WT mice.

The shedded form of SD-4 meanwhile has clear effects on bronchial epithelial equivalents, comparable to those observed by C3 and FN, resulting in a hyperproliferative phenotype and GCH (**Fig. 22**). Additionally, SD-4 upregulates gene and protein expression of MUC5AC, tenascin C, SCCA-1, and PAR-2; all being relevant in asthma (**Fig. 22-24**). However, SD-4 did not to induce secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, -8, -25, -33, TNF α , and TSLP (**Fig. 29**), whereas it cannot be excluded that it induces production and secretion of numerous other pro-inflammatory asthma-relevant cytokines from NHBE or NHLFb. The supplementation of immune cells such as DCs or Th2 cells to the bronchial epithelial equivalents might have been of interest in combination with SD-4, since SD-4 impacts DC migration and Th2 inflammation as mentioned above. Interestingly, SD-4 induces polarization of naïve activated CD4+ T cells towards Th1 and Th22 (**Fig. 26**).

In the case of the hyaluronic acid (HA) receptor CD44, it is known that it is increased in allergic dermatitis as well as asthma. The cell adhesion molecule CD44 is a class I transmembrane glycoprotein — consisting of a carboxylic acid-terminal-cytoplasmic domain, a transmembrane domain as well as an ectodomain with a HA binding site --found on the surface of several cell types and tissues, hence being ubiquitously expressed (Higashikawa et al. 1996; Ponta, Sherman, and Herrlich 2003). Among other things such as the interaction with several ECM components like fibronectin, laminin, collagen, and HA CD44 regulates migration, activation, and proliferation of lymphocytes; thus, playing a role in cell-cell and cell-matrix-adhesion (Borland, Ross, and Guy 1998; Naor, Sionov, and Ish-Shalom 1997; Funaro et al. 1994; Huet et al. 1989). The extensive splicing and post-translational modifications result in great structural heterogeneity of CD44 proteins making it hard to identify clear molecular mechanisms of CD44 (Ponta, Sherman, and Herrlich 2003). In the epidermis, dermis, and on lymphocytes in AD, the expression is increased compared to healthy mice (Lugović-Mihić et al. 2020). An acutely disturbed skin barrier is characterized by an increased expression of CD44 in the epidermis which in turn affects epidermal proliferation and inflammation (Man et al. 2008). In asthma models of the mouse, it was shown that CD44-deficient mice, after allergen contact, express a lower Th2-dominant inflammation as well as a reduced airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) (Katoh et al. 2011). The administration of anti-CD44 antibodies for example, additionally resulted in reduced accumulation of lymphocytes and eosinophils in the lung (Katoh et al. 2003). These studies focused on the transmembrane CD44. However, about the role of soluble form of CD44 in the atopic march little is known. The soluble CD44 is primarily used as a possible biomarker for different types of cancer (NHL, NSCLC, colon cancer); thus, being discussed as possible indicator for tumor burden and clinico-pathological outcome (Ristamäki et al. 1997; Masson et al. 1999; Takigawa et al. 1997). A possible explanation for increased levels of soluble CD44 in

serum of cancer patients and patients suffering from other inflammatory diseases might be the process of shedding, a proteolytic cleavage by different types of MMPs from the cell surface (Stamenkovic and Yu 2009; Anderegg et al. 2009) like MMP14, ADAM10, and ADAM17 (Nagano and Saya 2004). Interestingly, oligosaccharides of HA, products of HA degradation, a process that occurs extensively in asthmatic inflammation (Ghosh et al. 2015), are also able to trigger the shedding of CD44; thus, releasing soluble CD44 (Sugahara et al. 2008).

Thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) is a 450 kDa sized homotrimetric glycoprotein playing a role in angiogenesis inhibition, stimulation of endothelial cell (EC) apoptosis as well as inhibition of EC migration and proliferation, in tumor progression via integrins, integrinassociated protein (IAP), low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP), proteoglycans, sulfatides, and CD36 (Sottile, Selegue, and Mosher 1991; Sargiannidou, Qiu, and Tuszynski 2004; Dawson et al. 1997; T. Huang et al. 2017; H. Chen, Herndon, and Lawler 2000). It is also being discussed in the fields of AD and asthma. Increased TSP-1 plasma concentrations are known in AD dependent on clinical course (before treatment 942 ng/ml, after treatment 122 ng/ml with a combination of topical erythromicin, topical triamcinolonacetonide, and daily anti-histamine intake) (S. W. Huang and Kao 1993). However, for AA the role of TSP-1⁺ B cells is currently being discussed. The TSP-1 serum concentrations measured in asthma in humans are in the range of an average of 20.7 ng/ml (healthy) to 31.0 ng/ml (asthma) (Shi et al. 2018). However, the first *in vitro* tests showed an immediate effect of TSP-1 on bronchial epithelial equivalents already at a concentration of 5 ng/ml.

A direct influence of KC-derived TSP-1 is currently unknown. The role of TSP-1 in this whole process generally is quite ambiguous and contradictory. Interestingly, it is known for TSP-1 to directly induce TGFβ in vivo (Crawford et al. 1998). TGFβ meanwhile also has numerous contradictory effects depending on the addressed cell type and the microenvironment (Moses and Serra 1996). It might play a role in tissue repair or inflammation, and it is able to stimulate or inhibit cell growth (McCartney-Francis and Wahl 1994). One interesting function of TGFβ concerning asthma is its impact on human airway smooth muscle cells. Here, the integrin receptor $\alpha 5\beta 1$, a subunit of the fibronectin receptor, is stimulated by TGFB resulting in increased proliferation of alpha smooth muscle cells and, subsequently, upregulation of fibronectin deposition in human asthmatic airways, a process known to correlate with AHR and reduced lung function (Moir, Burgess, and Black 2008). Also, TGFB plays an important role in the process of epithelial-tomesenchymal (EMT) transition (J. Xu, Lamouille, and Derynck 2009). This transition, or transformation, of epithelial cells into other cell types, especially of mesenchymal origin, is known to play an important role in airway remodeling; however, the plasticity of airway epithelium in asthma is still poorly understood (Hackett 2012).

Role of selected skin secretome compounds in T cell polarization

Interestingly, all compounds led to an increase of Th1-polarized T cells. Additionally, all except for TSP-1 also induced Th22 polarization and C3, FN, and SD-4 moreover induce polarization towards Th17 cells (**Fig. 26**).

The dominating subset found in AD lesions meanwhile depends on the specific phase (acute, sub-acute, chronic). AD and AA are known to be characterized by Th2-driven inflammation (Azzawi et al. 1990; Grewe et al. 1995; Nishi et al. 2008; Robinson et al. 1992), a fact that seemed consistent for several years since Th2 cytokines IL-4 and -13 are key regulators of IgM-to-IgE isotype switch (Bacharier and Geha 2000; Wills-Karp et al. 1998), and IL-5, another Th2 cytokine, plays a role in recruitment, differentiation, and activation of eosinophils and B cells (Rosenberg, Phipps, and Foster 2007). IL-13 on the other hand strongly impacts airway smooth muscle cells and airway epithelium, leading to hypersecretion of mucus, induction of AHR, GCM, and sub-epithelial fibrosis (Wills-Karp 2004; Wills-Karp et al. 1998). In the skin, IL-13 promotes skin desquamation and induces TEWL (Kamsteeg et al. 2011). These results were confirmed in several mice models of AA where induction of airway inflammation failed in IL-4, -5, and -13 deficient mice (Brusselle et al. 1994; Foster et al. 1996; Walter et al. 2001). However, several clinical studies addressing these cytokines failed (Borish et al. 1999; S. Wenzel et al. 2007). Ongoing T cell research opens further insight into the complexity of T cell biology in AA and proposes the involvement of other T cell subtypes such as Th1, Th17, and Th22. In the acute phase of AD, Th2 and Th17 cells were found to be increased, whereas the chronic phase is characterized by Th1 and Th22 subsets (C. Su et al. 2017; A. X. Wang and Xu Landén 2015).

The signature cytokine of Th1 cells, IFN γ , upregulates hBD-2/3 and CCL20 expression, activates phagocytic cells which protect against intracellular pathogens, and enhances ceramide synthesis; thus, regulating differentiation of KCs and skin barrier function (Nakayamada et al. 2011; Pernet et al. 2003; Sawada et al. 2012). However, persistently increased levels of IFN γ may result in negative effects such as KC apoptosis and increased responsiveness of KCs towards pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF α (Johnson-Huang et al. 2012). Mice studies showed that increased Th1 activity stopped the development of AA (Gavett et al. 1995; Hofstra et al. 1998). Although Th1 cells were supposed to function as antagonists of Th2 inflammation, IFN γ was found to play a role in AHR (Sel et al. 2007). Both, Th1 and Th2 cells, are increased in asthmatic airways (Krug et al. 1996). Hence, the role of IL-17 is still not fully understood.

During Th1 differentiation in chronic phase of AD, the differentiation of its antagonistic subset Th17 is inhibited (X. O. Yang et al. 2008). Although Th2 cytokines such as IL-4 and CCL17 might also lead to decreased numbers of Th17 cells (Hayashida, Uchi, Moroi, et al. 2011; Dhingra and Guttman-Yassky 2014), in acute phase of AD Th17 cells are

increased compared to the chronic phase (Szegedi et al. 2012; Dhingra et al. 2013; Gittler et al. 2012). Additionally, the amount of Th17 cells in peripheral blood is dependent on the severity of AD (Koga et al. 2008). The key cytokine, IL-17, is known to downregulate the expression of barrier protein FLG and tight junction proteins ZO-1 and -2 (Danuta Gutowska-Owsiak et al. 2012). Contrary to that, IL-17 protects KCs from IFNy-induced apoptosis and regulates anti-microbial protein (AMP) production in KCs (Nakagawa et al. 2011). Although Th17 cells are increased in AD patients compared to healthy subjects. numbers of Th17 cells are significantly lower compared to psoriasis, suggesting a minor role in AD but a more dominant in psoriasis (Nograles et al. 2009). In asthmatic patients, increased levels of IL-17 in serum and IL-17 mRNA in airway tissue were found (Molet et al. 2001). Later, Th17 cells were also found in asthmatic bronchial biopsies, accounting for approximately 20% of all infiltrating lymphocytes in severe asthma (Pène et al. 2008). Additionally, Th17 cells recruit neutrophils, a process resulting in airway neutrophilia (Bullens et al. 2006; Hoshino et al. 2000; Traves and Donnelly 2008), and induce secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines from NHBEs and bronchial smooth muscle cells such as IL-6, -8, GM-CSF, and TNFα (Jones and Chan 2002; Kawaguchi et al. 2001; Henness et al. 2004; Laan et al. 1999).

As already mentioned, IL-22-secreting Th22 cells are more likely to be found in the chronic phase of AD and its number correlates with disease activity (Nograles et al. 2009; Trifari et al. 2009). Moreover, Th22 cells express skin-associated receptors such as CCR4, CCR6, and CCR10; and ligands for CCR4 and CCR10 like CCL17 and CCL27 are increased in chronic AD lesions (Nograles et al. 2009). IL-22, which is increased in skin and serum of AD patients in chronic phase (Trifari et al. 2009; Hayashida, Uchi, Takeuchi, et al. 2011), downregulates the expression of important barrier proteins such as FLG, IVL, LOR resulting in barrier deficiency (D. Gutowska-Owsiak et al. 2011; Sabat, Ouyang, and Wolk 2014). A finding that supports the role of Th22 in chronic AD is the lack of IL-22 regulates AMP production in KCs; thus, also playing a role in mucosal host defense (Sabat, Ouyang, and Wolk 2014). Contrary, Th2-derived cytokines exert enormous inhibitory effects on the production of AMPs, which might explain the susceptibility of AD patients towards bacterial infections (Yamasaki and Gallo 2008).

In serum and sputum of asthmatics, an increase in IL-22 was observed compared to healthy controls even with a significant increase in severe compared to moderate asthma (Besnard et al. 2011). Nevertheless, it is not at all clear if Th22 cells act pro- or anti-inflammatory in asthma. Whereas some studies highlight a pro-inflammatory role of IL-22 with effects on EMT via TGF β 1 (Johnson et al. 2013), leukocyte infiltration of BALF (Besnard et al. 2011), and IL-5 induced angiogenesis and chemotaxis (Hakemi et al. 2014), other studies show contrary effects. OVA-stimulation in IL-22-deficient mice resulted in increased number of eosinophils, increased IL-13, induced AHR, and GCH/

GCM (Fang et al. 2014; Taube et al. 2011). Additionally, *in vitro* studies showed that IL-22 inhibits chemotaxis of T cells, eosinophils, and monocytes through inhibiting IFNγ-dependent activation of CXCL10, CCL5, and CD54 in NHBE (Alkhouri et al. 2014; Pennino et al. 2013; Kalinowski et al. 2014). Interestingly, IL-22-deficient mice suffered from increased inflammation characterized by Th2-driven immune response and infiltration of eosinophils as well as neutrophils upon allergen challenge that diminished after treatment with IL-22 (Greenfeder et al. 2001; Taube et al. 2011; Besnard et al. 2011). Taken together, the effects of all five mediators on Th polarization are quite ambiguous, since not only pro- and anti-inflammatory Th subsets are induced but also the role of these subsets partly differs between AD and asthma. Although a clear impact of each compound on Th cell polarization can be observed here, these five compounds out of possibly >40 proteins of interest were chosen exemplary as representatives for ECM-associated compounds; thus, a final conclusion cannot be drawn.

Altered gene and protein expression in diseased ECM

Notably, for secretome analysis of skin disease equivalents just two bands of interest from an SDS-PAGE gel were analyzed; thus, these >40 proteins of interest cover secretome data of only a small fraction. Further transcriptomics and proteomics analysis of diseased fibroblast and ECM models revealed a highly complex picture of pathway regulations (**Fig. 27-30**).

Among numerous proteins being differently regulated in healthy and diseased ECM models, tenascin and fibronectin were significantly upregulated in healthy ECM. Both, together with periostin, are important for ECM organization and deposition of fibronectin as well as tenascin into ECM (Kii et al. 2010). A process that seems disturbed in diseased ECM; thus, possibly leading to less deposition into ECM but more release into blood circulation. Moreover, tenascin positively regulates production of COL-1 and reduces MMP-1 expression (Choi et al. 2020). Further, HTRA1 was found upregulated in AD ECM. This serine protease is involved in the fragmentation of fibronectin. These fibronectin fragments regulate cytokine activity, suppress matrix synthesis, and increase MMP activity; thus, resulting in ECM degradation and remodeling (Homandberg 2001; Grau et al. 2006). The combination of both, increased tenascin in healthy and increased HTRA1 in AD ECM - combined with their downstream effects - might partly explain the disorganized AD ECM (**Fig. 27A, B**).

Notably, two more factors, signal transducer and activator of transcription 1-alpha/beta (STAT1) and extracellular superoxide dismutase (SODE) were significantly altered. STAT1, upregulated in AD ECM, is a down-stream mediator of AD- and atopic march relevant TSLP, it is involved in B cell maturation as well as eosinophil activation, and it upregulates epidermal chemokines as well as pro-angiogenic factors (Bao, Zhang, and Chan 2013; Welsch et al. 2017). Moreover, it plays a role in Th1 immune response, hence

playing a role in chronic AD. SODE, upregulated in healthy ECM, is an anti-oxidant enzyme protecting tissues against reactive oxygen species (ROS). It is well-known that increased ROS; thus, increased oxidative stress, and its downstream activation of proinflammatory pathways plays an important role in inflammation and AD (Agrahari et al. 2020; Sah et al. 2018; Prassas et al. 2015).

Furthermore, the alteration of genes playing a role in VEGF signaling needs to be mentioned here. VEGF is pro-angiogenic and it is known to be increased in the stratum corneum as well as plasma of AD patients. Moreover, plasma levels correlate with AD severity (Samochocki et al. 2016; Koczy-Baron, Jochem, and Kasperska-Zajac 2012).

The subsequent transcriptome analysis of AD fibroblasts underlined the role of ECM in AD by showing significant alteration of fibronectin and *STAT1* on gene level as well. In addition to that, further mentionable genes were differently expressed comparing healthy and AD ECM. On the one hand, *HSP90AA1*, a gene coding for a highly conserved stress protein, the heat shock protein, and playing major roles in ECM organization as well as cytokine signaling with a yet unknown role in skin homeostasis, was upregulated in AD ECM. Its role in AD, especially an interaction with immune cells and its impact on KC differentiation, are known so far (Kapitein et al. 2013; Scieglinska et al. 2019). On the other hand, *SHC1* and *CAV1* were upregulated in AD ECM as well. *SHC1* regulates mitochondrial ROS production, whereas caveolin-1 (*CAV1*) is known to be involved in inflammatory skin conditions by interacting with MMPs, HSPs, and TGF (K. G. Su et al. 2012; Kruglikov and Scherer 2020).

Consequently, the importance of ECM in atopic diseases can clearly be shown. Concluding, there is not only a complex interplay between allergens, immune cells, genetics, and different tissues but also a high number of potential pro-inflammatory and protective ECM-associated proteins released into circulation that increases the complexity of this interplay and has to be considered when unraveling mechanisms of the atopic march.

4.3 Translation from in vitro to in vivo

Analogous to the *in vitro* polarization studies of human CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, the impact of SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1 on CD4+ T cells was analyzed *in vivo*. Therefore, weight and size of spleen were determined and CD4+ T cells were isolated from spleen for Th subset analysis on gene level. Size and weight of spleen were increased in all treated groups compared to untreated mice, which might lead to the suggestion of increased immune cell activity after a 7-day treatment (**Fig. 31**).

To further analyze the impact of SD-4, CD44, and TSP-1 on CD4+ T cells *in vivo*, genetic markers for Th1 (*Tbx21*), Th2 (*Gata3*), Th17 (R*orc*), and Th22 (*II-22*) were determined via qRT-PCR. Whereas CD44 had no effect. SD-4 induced Th17-, and TSP-1 induced Th1,

Th2, and Th17 polarization in female mice. All mediators led to Th1 and Th22 polarization in male mice with no effect on Th2 and Th17 (**Fig. 32**). Although these effects in this small sample group are marginal and a larger confirmatory study is needed, the importance of sex-specific studies can be highlighted. Due to a heterogeneous genetic and hormonal makeup, both, the innate and the adaptive immune response, vary (Klein and Flanagan 2016). The asthmatic phenotype can also differ between men and women (Zein and Erzurum 2015). Incidence, prevalence, and severity differ depending on the sex. In order to avoid this gender-bias and to generate meaningful data generally, sex-specific studies need to be considered *in vivo* and *in vitro* in order to cover donor- and sex-variability.

In this first low-dose treatment, no differences on histological level (mucus, hyperplasia, immune infiltration) in bronchi and alveoli were observed (**Fig. 33**). This might be due to inter-species related differences or due to short, single-compound treatment without allergen challenge. In the first case, surely these compounds might not affect mice lung *in vivo* as they affect reconstructed human bronchial epithelial equivalents *in vitro* due to the enormous species- (Travaglini et al. 2020; Gillich et al. 2020) as well as experimentally related differences in which a whole biological murine system is compared to a reconstructed human-based two-organ co-culture. The latter reason might concern the experimental design itself. Conventionally, an AD or asthma mouse model is characterized by artificial barrier disruption and a long-term allergen exposure over several weeks before symptoms occur (Leyva-Castillo et al. 2013; Akei et al. 2006).

Another reason might be that the mediators are not stable for 7 days in a pump being permanently exposed to around >32°C on the skin surface of mice. In the *in vitro* experiments, compounds were renewed every other day with a medium change. Here on the other hand, pumps were filled with dissolved compounds and implanted into mice for 7 days. Whereas there is comparably low metabolic activity *in vitro*, compounds may have been rapidly metabolized *in vivo* before affecting any organs.

In summary, this data demonstrates that emerging human-based *in vitro* methods are suitable models for basic research. These comparably simple and economic models can be used for complex pathophysiological research, unraveling pathways and key mediators in a simple and effective way. Strikingly, this study revealed the importance of ECM compounds in the atopic march based on exemplary experiments with only five ECM compounds by simply considering two relevant human-based reconstructed organs, skin and lung. A detailed analysis of patient-derived fibroblasts and ECM models on protein and gene level revealed significant changes in ECM composition; thus, underlining the possible role of ECM in the atopic march. Ultimately, a direct side-by-side comparison of simple, human-based reconstructed *in vitro* model systems and complex *in vivo* animal models revealed that reconstructed human-based *in vitro* models are useful systems for

investigating pathophysiological processes, determining key mediators as well as pathways, and lying foundation for further target and drug discovery studies.

4.4 Outlook

Although this data demonstrates promising results for unraveling the pathological mechanisms of atopic march with the use of human-based approaches, a deeper analysis of all involved factors and the implementation of further possible actors are crucial.

On the one hand, it is necessary to further characterize the bronchial epithelial equivalent. Since Travaglini et. al (Travaglini et al. 2020) it is known that the lung consists of a minimum of 58 cell types, of which 25 are immune and 9 are endothelial cells. Hence, 15 types of epithelial and 9 types of stromal cells exist. The two latter were used to generate a bronchial epithelial equivalent. The development of ciliated, basal, and goblet cells was observed based on (immuno-)histological analysis. A deeper look inside for example through further immunostaining, fluorescence *in situ* hybridization, or a single-cell sequencing approach might reveal further cell types evolving in this model; thus, proving the plasticity of lung cells and their role in the atopic march.

The implementation of endothelial and immune cells (Th cells, DCs, macrophages) is crucial for cell-cell crosstalk and a more complete understanding of physiological and pathophysiological conditions as well. Beside the implementation of further cell types, additional reconstructed organs need to be developed and a multi-organ co-culture of e.g., skin, lung, liver, gut, nose, and pharynx needs to be established in order to analyze the pathophysiological atopic march-relevant tissue crosstalk. Moreover, an improvement of static towards dynamic cultivation is undoubtedly necessary to get closer to physiological conditions.

In addition, it might be worth comparing AA patient-derived bronchial epithelial equivalents with those from the co-culture with a single-cell sequencing approach in order to compare the pathophysiological alterations and determine affected cell types. In line with that, the use of patient-derived NHDF and NHEK to generate atopic skin equivalents for a co-culture with bronchial epithelial equivalents will be of interest.

Another drawback of this system that needs to be overcome is the relatively short culturing period. A prolonged culture time of reconstructed models with the help of stem cells or even the use of tissue-specific organoids, whereas the latter ideally can be cultured for several months, are an option to study longterm tissue crosstalk; thus, being ideal for a long pathophysiological process like the atopic march. Organoids, due to their size and culture conditions, also allow live-cell imaging. This method might further reveal pathophysiological sub-cellular changes during the atopic march. Nevertheless, organoids are limited due to missing air-liquid-interface cultivation.

The improvement of the skin disease equivalent concerning severity of AD might also be of interest, since AD severity correlates with the development of the atopic march. Additionally, a deeper characterization of patient-derived samples (e.g., blood, biopsies) with known mild, moderate, and severe AD as well as patients suffering from the atopic march is necessary.

Moreover, a treatment of bronchial epithelial models with epithelial cytokines TSLP, IL-25, and IL-33 might be interesting in order to compare those with the effects of ECM compounds and a Th2-type of inflammation (IL-4/-13), since the atopic march seems to be a highly complex interplay of immune cells, epithelial cells, and ECM compounds.

With the implementation of immune cells, another decisive factor, the allergen, needs to be considered. In case of a successful establishment of an immunocompetent co-culture, the topical application of allergens might complement this pathophysiological process even further.

Furthermore, it will be necessary to investigate the molecular mechanisms of each compound in order to understand their interaction with bronchial epithelium and immune cells. Finally, it is of interest to address skin ECM-associated factors as possible pharmacological targets.

Taken together, a successful establishment of a dynamic, multi-organ, immunocompetent, long-term cultivation of an allergen-sensitized human-based system and a comparison with *in vivo* data needs to be performed in order to prove the validity and reproducibility of these models as alternatives to animal testing within the framework of the 3R principle. This improvement might lead to further understanding of complex pathophysiological processes and help finding options for prevention of the atopic march.

4.5 Limitations

Although the in this thesis used methods are well-established and the generated results are impressive, several limitations need to be addressed.

Most *in vitro* studies were designed as explorative studies; thus, have a small sample size. Statistical analysis has only been performed for sample size \geq 5, hence these results need to be interpreted cautiously. Inter-donor variability is relatively high resulting in high standard deviation. For a robust statistical analysis, an increased number of donors is crucial to verify these results in a follow-up confirmatory study.

Moreover, the *in vitro* equivalents lack several AD- and AA-relevant cell types such as endothelial as well as immune cells, with the unphysiological microenvironment (shear stress, allergen sensitization, etc.) as already discussed above. Moreover, unphysiological bovine collagen was used as matrix for the generation of skin and bronchial equivalents. In the future, this needs be replaced by either a human-based matrix or by stimulation of fibroblasts to produce their own ECM.

Another point worth mentioning is the induction of an AD-like phenotype in healthy cells for the generation of skin equivalents used for co-culture experiments. This method and the resulting skin disease equivalents only represent a small part of atopic skin. The use of patient-derived NHDF and NHEK will be crucial for further (confirmatory) studies.

Next, although the mouse study was mostly planned and performed according to the ARRIVE guidelines, randomization and blinding were semi-optimal. Ideally, treatment should have been assigned per mouse, not per cage and labeling of pumps should have been with random codes rather than rising numbers. Both factors would have also increased blinding. The minimal number of mice per group were chosen for animal welfare reasons and for a robust explorative study, whereas a higher number of mice per group might have shown statistically clearer results.

Another important limitation is the short treatment time *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The atopic march is a process developing over years, not one week. Due to limitations in available models, I nevertheless choose a 6- and 7-day treatment, respectively.

References

- Abonia, J. Pablo, and Marc E. Rothenberg. 2012. "Eosinophilic Esophagitis: Rapidly Advancing Insights." *Annual Review of Medicine*. Annu Rev Med. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-041610-134138.
- Abuabara, K., A. M. Yu, J. P. Okhovat, I. E. Allen, and S. M. Langan. 2018. "The Prevalence of Atopic Dermatitis beyond Childhood: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Longitudinal Studies." *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 73 (3): 696–704. https://doi.org/10.1111/all.13320.
- Addo-Yobo, Emmanuel O.D., Adnan Custovic, Simon C.O. Taggart, Mark Craven, Baffoe Bonnie, and Ashley Woodcock. 2001. "Risk Factors for Asthma in Urban Ghana." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 108 (3): 363–68. https://doi.org/10.1067/mai.2001.117464.
- Addo-Yobo, Emmanuel O.D., Ashley Woodcock, Adorkor Allotey, Benjamin Baffoe-Bonnie, David Strachan, and Adnan Custovic. 2007. "Exercise-Induced Bronchospasm and Atopy in Ghana: Two Surveys Ten Years Apart." *PLoS Medicine* 4 (2): 0355–60. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0040070.
- Addo Yobo, Emmanuel O.D., Adnan Custovic, Simon C.O. Taggart, A. P. Asafo-Agyei, and Ashley Woodcock. 1997. "Exercise Induced Bronchospasm in Ghana: Differences in Prevalence between Urban and Rural Schoolchildren." *Thorax* 52 (2): 161–65. https://doi.org/10.1136/ thx.52.2.161.
- Agarwal, Pujya, Arvind Raghavan, Sarada L. Nandiwada, Julie M. Curtsinger, Paul R. Bohjanen, Daniel L. Mueller, and Matthew F. Mescher. 2009. "Gene Regulation and Chromatin Remodeling by IL-12 and Type I IFN in Programming for CD8 T Cell Effector Function and Memory." *The Journal of Immunology* 183 (3): 1695–1704. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.0900592.
- Agrahari, Gaurav, Shyam Kishor Sah, Cuong Thach Nguyen, Sung Sik Choi, Hae Young Kim, and Tae Yoon Kim. 2020. "Superoxide Dismutase 3 Inhibits LL-37/KLK-5–Mediated Skin Inflammation through Modulation of EGFR and Associated Inflammatory Cascades." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 140 (3): 656-665.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2019.08.434.
- Akei, Hiroko Saito, Eric B. Brandt, Anil Mishra, Richard T. Strait, Fred D. Finkelman, Manoj R. Warrier, Gurjit K.Khurana Hershey, Carine Blanchard, and Marc E. Rothenberg. 2006. "Epicutaneous Aeroallergen Exposure Induces Systemic T H2 Immunity That Predisposes to Allergic Nasal Responses." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 118 (1): 62–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2006.04.046.
- Al-Muhsen, Saleh, Jill R. Johnson, and Qutayba Hamid. 2011. "Remodeling in Asthma." Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. J Allergy Clin Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaci.2011.04.047.
- Al-Ramli, Wisam, David Préfontaine, Fazila Chouiali, James G. Martin, Ron Olivenstein, Catherine Lemière, and Qutayba Hamid. 2009. "TH17-Associated Cytokines (IL-17A and IL-17F) in Severe Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. J Allergy Clin Immunol. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.02.024.
- Alagha, Khuder, Arnaud Bourdin, Charlotte Vernisse, Céline Garulli, Céline Tummino, Jérémy Charriot, Isabelle Vachier, Carey Suehs, Pascal Chanez, and Delphine Gras. 2019. "Goblet Cell Hyperplasia as a Feature of Neutrophilic Asthma." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 49 (6): 781–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/cea.13359.
- Alcala, Sarah E., Angela S. Benton, Alan M. Watson, Suraiya Kureshi, Erica M.K. Reeves, Jesse Damsker, Zuyi Wang, et al. 2014. "Mitotic Asynchrony Induces Transforming Growth Factor-B1 Secretion from Airway Epithelium." *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 51 (3): 363–69. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2013-0396OC.
- Alkhouri, H., V. Cha, K. Tong, L. M. Moir, C. L. Armour, and J. M. Hughes. 2014. "Human Lung Mast Cell Products Regulate Airway Smooth Muscle CXCL10 Levels." *Journal of Allergy* 2014 (February): 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/875105.
- Allakhverdi, Zoulfia, Dirk E. Smith, Michael R. Comeau, and Guy Delespesse. 2007. "Cutting Edge: The ST2 Ligand IL-33 Potently Activates and Drives Maturation of Human Mast Cells." *The Journal of Immunology* 179 (4): 2051–54. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.179.4.2051.
- Alves-Filho, Jose C., Fabiane Snego, Fabricio O. Souto, Andressa Freitas, Waldiceu A. Verri, Maria Auxiliadora-Martins, Anibal Basile-Filho, et al. 2010. "Interleukin-33 Attenuates Sepsis by Enhancing Neutrophil Influx to the Site of Infection." *Nature Medicine* 16 (6): 708–12. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nm.2156.
- Anderegg, Ulf, Thea Eichenberg, Tanja Parthaune, Christian Haiduk, Anja Saalbach, Linda Milkova, Andreas Ludwig, et al. 2009. "ADAM10 Is the Constitutive Functional Sheddase of CD44 in Human Melanoma Cells." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 129 (6): 1471–82. https:// doi.org/10.1038/jid.2008.323.
- Angkasekwinai, Pornpimon, Heon Park, Yui Hsi Wang, Yi Hong Wang, Hee Chang Seon, David B. Corry, Yong Jun Liu, Zhou Zhu, and Chen Dong. 2007. "Interleukin 25 Promotes the Initiation

of Proallergic Type 2 Responses." Journal of Experimental Medicine 204 (7): 1509-17. https:// doi.org/10.1084/jem.20061675.

- Apfelbacher, C. J., T. L. Diepgen, and J. Schmitt. 2011. "Determinants of Eczema: Population-Based Cross-Sectional Study in Germany." Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 66 (2): 206–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1398-9995.2010.02464.x.
- Arshad, Syed Hasan, Abid Raza, Laurie Lau, Khalid Bawakid, Wilfried Karmaus, Hongmei Zhang, Susan Ewart, Veersh Patil, Graham Roberts, and Ramesh Kurukulaaratchy. 2014. "Pathophysiological Characterization of Asthma Transitions across Adolescence." Respiratory Research 15 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12931-014-0153-7.
- Asher, M. Innes, Stephen Montefort, Bengt Björkstén, Christopher KW Lai, David P. Strachan, Stephan K. Weiland, and Hywel Williams. 2006. "Worldwide Time Trends in the Prevalence of Symptoms of Asthma, Allergic Rhinoconjunctivitis, and Eczema in Childhood: ISAAC Phases One and Three Repeat Multicountry Cross-Sectional Surveys." Lancet 368 (9537): 733-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69283-0.
- Asher, Mi, S Montefort, B Bjorksten, Ckw Lai, Dp Strachan, Sk Weiland, H Williams, and Isaac lii Phase. 2006. "Worldwide Time Trends in the Prevalence of Symptoms of Asthma, Allergic Rhinoconjunctivitis, and Eczema in Childhood." *Lancet* 368 (9537): 733–43. Aske, Kim Charles, and Courtney Alice Waugh. 2017. "Expanding the 3R Principles." *EMBO*
- Reports 18 (9): 1490-92. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201744428.
- Azzawi, M., B. Bradley, P. K. Jeffery, A. J. Frew, A. J. Wardlaw, G. Knowles, B. Assoufi, J. V. Collins, S. Durham, and A. B. Kay. 1990. "Identification of Activated T Lymphocytes and Eosinophils in Bronchial Biopsies in Stable Atopic Asthma." American Review of Respiratory Disease 142 (6): 1407–13. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm/142.6_Pt_1.1407.
- Bacharier, L. B., and R. S. Geha. 2000. "Molecular Mechanisms of IgE Regulation." Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. J Allergy Clin Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0091-6749(00)90059-9.
- Bao, Lei, Huavi Zhang, and Lawrence S Chan. 2013. "The Involvement of the JAK-STAT Signaling Pathway in Chronic Inflammatory Skin Disease Atopic Dermatitis." JAK-STAT 2 (3): e24137. https://doi.org/10.4161/jkst.24137.
- Barbers, Richard G., Ilias C. Papanikolaou, Michael N. Koss, Ashish Patel, Elton Katagihara, Maggie Arenas, Khalid Chan, Colleen G. Azen, and Om P. Sharma. 2012. "Near Fatal Asthma: Clinical and Airway Biopsy Characteristics." Pulmonary Medicine 2012. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2012/829608.
- Barlow, Jillian L., Samantha Peel, Jane Fox, Veera Panova, Clare S. Hardman, Ana Camelo, Christine Bucks, et al. 2013. "IL-33 Is More Potent than IL-25 in Provoking IL-13-Producing Nuocytes (Type 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells) and Airway Contraction." Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 132 (4): 933-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.05.012.
- Barnig, Cindy, Manuela Cernadas, Stefanie Dutile, Xiaoli Liu, Mark A. Perrella, Shamsah Kazani, Michael E. Wechsler, Elliot Israel, and Bruce D. Levy. 2013. "Lipoxin A4 Regulates Natural Killer Cell and Type 2 Innate Lymphoid Cell Activation in Asthma." Science Translational Medicine 5 (174). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3004812.
- Barton, S. J., S. Ngo, P. Costello, E. Garratt, S. El-Heis, E. Antoun, R. Clarke-Harris, et al. 2017. "DNA Methylation of Th2 Lineage Determination Genes at Birth Is Associated with Allergic Outcomes in Childhood." Clinical and Experimental Allergy 47 (12): 1599-1608. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cea.12988.
- Basu, K., C. N.A. Palmer, B. J. Lipworth, W. H. Irwin McLean, A. Terron-Kwiatkowski, Y. Zhao, H. Liao, F. J.D. Smith, A. Mitra, and S. Mukhopadhyay. 2008. "Filaggrin Null Mutations Are Associated with Increased Asthma Exacerbations in Children and Young Adults." Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 63 (9): 1211–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1398-9995.2008.01660.x.
- Bäumer, Wolfgang, B. Sülzle, H. Weigt, V. C. De Vries, M. Hecht, T. Tschernig, and M. Kietzmann. 2005. "Cilomilast, Tacrolimus and Rapamycin Modulate Dendritic Cell Function in the Elicitation Phase of Allergic Contact Dermatitis." British Journal of Dermatology 153 (1): 136-44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2005.06745.x.
- Baurecht, Hansjörg, Alan D. Irvine, Natalija Novak, Thomas Illig, Bettina Bühler, Johannes Ring, Stefan Wagenpfeil, and Stephan Weidinger. 2007. "Toward a Major Risk Factor for Atopic Eczema: Meta-Analysis of Filaggrin Polymorphism Data." Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 120 (6): 1406-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2007.08.067.
- Bazan-Socha, Stanislawa, Pawel Kuczia, Daniel P. Potaczek, Lucyna Mastalerz, Agnieszka Cybulska, Lech Zareba, Romy Kremers, Coenraad Hemker, and Anetta Undas. 2018. "Increased Blood Levels of Cellular Fibronectin in Asthma: Relation to the Asthma Severity, Inflammation, and Prothrombotic Blood Alterations." Respiratory Medicine 141 (August): 64-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2018.06.023.

- Beasly, R. 1998. "Worldwide Variation in Prevalence of Symptoms of Asthma, Allergic Rhinoconjunctivitis, and Atopic Eczema: ISAAC." *The Lancet* 351: 1225–32.
- Berroth, Andreas, Jochen Kühnl, Nina Kurschat, Agatha Schwarz, Franz Stäb, Thomas Schwarz, Horst Wenck, Regina Fölster-Holst, and Gitta Neufang. 2013. "Role of Fibroblasts in the Pathogenesis of Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 131 (6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.02.029.
- Besnard, Anne Gaelle, Robert Sabat, Laure Dumoutier, Jean Christophe Renauld, Monique Willart, Bart Lambrecht, Mauro M. Teixeira, et al. 2011. "Dual Role of IL-22 in Allergic Airway Inflammation and Its Cross-Talk with IL-17A." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 183 (9): 1153–63. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201008-1383OC.
- Bhattacharjee, Oindrila, Uttkarsh Ayyangar, Ambika S. Kurbet, Driti Ashok, and Srikala Raghavan. 2019. "Unraveling the ECM-Immune Cell Crosstalk in Skin Diseases." *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*. Frontiers. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2019.00068.
- Bizikova, Petra, Cherie M. Pucheu-Haston, Melissa N.C. Eisenschenk, Rosanna Marsella, Tim Nuttall, and Domenico Santoro. 2015. "Review: Role of Genetics and the Environment in the Pathogenesis of Canine Atopic Dermatitis." *Veterinary Dermatology*. Vet Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1111/vde.12198.
- Bizikova, Petra, Domenico Santoro, Rosanna Marsella, Tim Nuttall, Melissa N.C. Eisenschenk, and Cherie M. Pucheu-Haston. 2015. "Review: Clinical and Histological Manifestations of Canine Atopic Dermatitis." *Veterinary Dermatology*. Vet Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1111/vde.12196.
- Bjermer, Leif. 2014. "The Role of Small Airway Disease in Asthma." *Current Opinion in Pulmonary Medicine*. Curr Opin Pulm Med. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCP.00000000000018.
- Björkstén, B., P. Naaber, E. Sepp, and M. Mikelsaar. 1999. "The Intestinal Microflora in Allergic Estonian and Swedish 2-Year-Old Children." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 29 (3): 342–46. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2222.1999.00560.x.
- Björkstén, Bengt, Epp Sepp, Kaja Julge, Tiia Voor, and Marika Mikelsaar. 2001. "Allergy Development and the Intestinal Microflora during the First Year of Life." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 108 (4): 516–20. https://doi.org/10.1067/MAI.2001.118130.
- Blume, Cornelia, and Donna E. Davies. 2013. "In Vitro and Ex Vivo Models of Human Asthma." *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics* 84 (2): 394–400. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ejpb.2012.12.014.
- Borish, Larry C., Harold S. Nelson, Miguel J. Lanz, Lori Claussen, James B. Whitmore, Jan M. Agosti, and Leslie Garrison. 1999. "Interleukin-4 Receptor in Moderate Atopic Asthma: A Phase I/II Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 160 (6): 1816–23. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.160.6.9808146.
- Borland, G, J A Ross, and K Guy. 1998. "Forms and Functions of CD44." *Immunology*. Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2567.1998.00431.x.
- Boucherat, Olivier, Jorge Boczkowski, Lucie Jeannotte, and Christophe Delacourt. 2013. "Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Goblet Cell Metaplasia in the Respiratory Airways." *Experimental Lung Research*. Exp Lung Res. https://doi.org/10.3109/01902148.2013.791733.
- Boucherat, Olivier, Jamila Chakir, and Lucie Jeannotte. 2012. "The Loss of Hoxa5 Function Promotes Notch-Dependent Goblet Cell Metaplasia in Lung Airways." *Biology Open* 1 (7): 677–91. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.20121701.
- Bousquet, Jean, Philippe J. Bousquet, Philippe Godard, and Jean Pierre Daures. 2005. "The Public Health Implications of Asthma." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*. World Health Organization. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0042-96862005000700016. Licence: Creative Commons BY 3.0 IGO
- Bråbäck, L., a. Hjern, and F. Rasmussen. 2004. "Trends in Asthma, Allergic Rhinitis and Eczema among Swedish Conscripts from Farming and Non-Farming Environments. A Nationwide Study over Three Decades." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 34 (1): 38–43. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2004.01841.x.
- Bradding, Peter, Andrew F. Walls, and Stephen T. Holgate. 2006. "The Role of the Mast Cell in the Pathophysiology of Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. J Allergy Clin Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2006.02.039.
- Brandt, Eric, and Umasundari Sivaprasad. 2011. "Th2 Cytokines and Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Clinical and Cellular Immunology* 2 (3): 110. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-9899.1000110.Th2.
- Briot, Anaïs, Céline Deraison, Matthieu Lacroix, Chrystelle Bonnart, Aurélie Robin, Céline Besson, Pierre Dubus, and Alain Hovnanian. 2009. "Kallikrein 5 Induces Atopic Dermatitis-like Lesions through PAR2-Mediated Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Expression in Netherton Syndrome." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 206 (5): 1135–47. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20082242.
- Brough, Helen A., Andrew H. Liu, Scott Sicherer, Kerry Makinson, Abdel Douiri, Sara J. Brown, Alick C. Stephens, et al. 2015. "Atopic Dermatitis Increases the Effect of Exposure to Peanut

Antigen in Dust on Peanut Sensitization and Likely Peanut Allergy." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 135 (1): 164-170.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2014.10.007.

- Brough, Helen A., Angela Simpson, Kerry Makinson, Jenny Hankinson, Sara Brown, Abdel Douiri, Danielle C.M. Belgrave, et al. 2014. "Peanut Allergy: Effect of Environmental Peanut Exposure in Children with Filaggrin Loss-of-Function Mutations." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 134 (4): 867-875.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2014.08.011.
- Brown, Sara J., Yuka Asai, Heather J. Cordell, Linda E. Campbell, Yiwei Zhao, Haihui Liao, Kate Northstone, et al. 2011. "Loss-of-Function Variants in the Filaggrin Gene Are a Significant Risk Factor for Peanut Allergy." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 127 (3): 661–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2011.01.031.
- Brusselle, G. G., J. C. Kips, J. H. Tavernier, J. G. Van der Heyden, C. A. Cuvelier, R. A. Pauwels, and H. Bluethmann. 1994. "Attenuation of Allergic Airway Inflammation in IL-4 Deficient Mice." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 24 (1): 73–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2222.1994.tb00920.x.
- Brzostek, Joanna, Nicholas R.J. Gascoigne, and Vasily Rybakin. 2016. "Cell Type-Specific Regulation of Immunological Synapse Dynamics by B7 Ligand Recognition." *Frontiers in Immunology*. Frontiers. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00024.
- Bullens, Dominique M.A., Els Truyen, Liesbeth Coteur, Ellen Dilissen, Peter W. Hellings, Lieven J. Dupont, and Jan L. Ceuppens. 2006. "IL-17 MRNA in Sputum of Asthmatic Patients: Linking T Cell Driven Inflammation and Granulocytic Influx?" *Respiratory Research* 7 (1). https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1465-9921-7-135.
- Burks, A. Wesley, Mimi Tang, Scott Sicherer, Antonella Muraro, Philippe A. Eigenmann, Motohiro Ebisawa, Alessandro Fiocchi, et al. 2012. "ICON: Food Allergy." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 129 (4): 906–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2012.02.001.
- Butland, Barbara Karen, and David Peter Strachan. 2007. "Asthma Onset and Relapse in Adult Life: The British 1958 Birth Cohort Study." *Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology* 98 (4): 337–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1081-1206(10)60879-4.
- Castex-Rizzi, N., M. F. Galliano, M. F. Aries, H. Hernandez-Pigeon, C. Vaissiere, H. Delga, A. Caruana, et al. 2014. "In Vitro Approaches to Pharmacological Screening in the Field of Atopic Dermatitis." *British Journal of Dermatology*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.13106.
- Chanez, P., M. Vignola, R. Stenger, P. Vic, F. B. Michel, and J. Bousquet. 1995. "Platelet-derived Growth Factor in Asthma." *Allergy* 50 (11): 878–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1398-9995.1995.tb02493.x.
- Chen, Chun Yu, Jee Boong Lee, Bo Liu, Shoichiro Ohta, Pin Yi Wang, Andrey V. Kartashov, Luke Mugge, et al. 2015. "Induction of Interleukin-9-Producing Mucosal Mast Cells Promotes Susceptibility to IgE-Mediated Experimental Food Allergy." *Immunity* 43 (4): 788–802. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2015.08.020.
- Chen, Hui, Mary E. Herndon, and Jack Lawler. 2000. "The Cell Biology of Thrombospondin-1." *Matrix Biology*. Matrix Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0945-053X(00)00107-4.
- Chesné, Julie, Faouzi Braza, Guillaume Mahay, Sophie Brouard, Marc Aronica, and Antoine Magnan. 2014. "IL-17 in Severe Asthma: Where Do We Stand?" *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. https://doi.org/10.1164/ rccm.201405-0859PP.
- Cheung, P. F.Y., C. K. Wong, W. K. Ip, and C. W.K. Lam. 2006. "IL-25 Regulates the Expression of Adhesion Molecules on Eosinophils: Mechanism of Eosinophilia in Allergic Inflammation." *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 61 (7): 878–85. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2006.01102.x.
- Choi, Young Éun, Min Ji Song, Mari Hara, Kyoko Imanaka-Yoshida, Dong Hun Lee, Jin Ho Chung, and Seung Taek Lee. 2020. "Effects of Tenascin c on the Integrity of Extracellular Matrix and Skin Aging." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21 (22): 1–17. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms21228693.
- Chu, Derek K., Alba Llop-Guevara, Tina D. Walker, Kristin Flader, Susanna Goncharova, Jeanette E. Boudreau, Cheryl Lynn Moore, et al. 2013. "IL-33, but Not Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin or IL-25, Is Central to Mite and Peanut Allergic Sensitization." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 131 (1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2012.08.002.
- Coca, Arthur F., and Robert A. Cooke. 1923. "On the Classification of the Phenomena of Hypersensitiveness." *Journal of Immunology* 8 (3): 163–82.
- Corrigan, Chris J., Wei Wang, Qiu Meng, Cailong Fang, Ghada Eid, M. Rosario Caballero, Ze Lv, et al. 2011. "Allergen-Induced Expression of IL-25 and IL-25 Receptor in Atopic Asthmatic Airways and Late-Phase Cutaneous Responses." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 128 (1): 116–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2011.03.043.

- Crawford, Susan E., Veronica Stellmach, Joanne E. Murphy-Ullrich, Solange M.F. Ribeiro, Jack Lawler, Richard O. Hynes, Gregory P. Boivin, and Noël Bouck. 1998. "Thrombospondin-1 Is a Major Activator of TGF-B1 in Vivo." *Cell* 93 (7): 1159–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81460-9.
- Croft, Michael. 2003. "Co-Stimulatory Members of the TNFR Family: Keys to Effective T-Cell Immunity?" *Nature Reviews Immunology*. Nat Rev Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1148.
- Curtsinger, Julie M., and Matthew F. Mescher. 2010. "Inflammatory Cytokines as a Third Signal for T Cell Activation." *Current Opinion in Immunology*. Curr Opin Immunol. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.coi.2010.02.013.
- Czarnowicki, Tali, Hitokazu Esaki, Juana Gonzalez, Dana Malajian, Avner Shemer, Shinji Noda, Sreya Talasila, et al. 2015. "Early Pediatric Atopic Dermatitis Shows Only a Cutaneous Lymphocyte Antigen (CLA)+ TH2/TH1 Cell Imbalance, Whereas Adults Acquire CLA+ TH22/ TC22 Cell Subsets." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 136 (4): 941-951.e3. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2015.05.049.
- Dalgard, Florence J., Uwe Gieler, Lucia Tomas-Aragones, Lars Lien, Francoise Poot, Gregor B.E. Jemec, Laurent Misery, et al. 2015. "The Psychological Burden of Skin Diseases: A Cross-Sectional Multicenter Study among Dermatological Out-Patients in 13 European Countries." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 135 (4): 984–91. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.530.
- Danso, Mogbekeloluwa O., Vincent Van Drongelen, Aat Mulder, Jeltje Van Esch, Hannah Scott, Jeroen Van Smeden, Abdoelwaheb El Ghalbzouri, and Joke A. Bouwstra. 2014. "TNF-α and Th2 Cytokines Induce Atopic Dermatitis-like Features on Epidermal Differentiation Proteins and Stratum Corneum Lipids in Human Skin Equivalents." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 134 (7): 1941–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.83.
- Dao, Harry, and Rebecca A. Kazin. 2007. "Gender Differences in Skin: A Review of the Literature." *Gender Medicine* 4 (4): 308–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1550-8579(07)80061-1.
- Dawson, David W., S. Frieda A. Pearce, Ruiqin Zhong, Roy L. Silverstein, William A. Frazier, and Noël P. Bouck. 1997. "CD36 Mediates the in Vitro Inhibitory Effects of Thrombospondin-1 on Endothelial Cells." *Journal of Cell Biology* 138 (3): 707–17. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.138.3.707.
- Deckers, Ivette A.G., Susannah McLean, Sanne Linssen, Monique Mommers, C. P. van Schayck, and Aziz Sheikh. 2012. "Investigating International Time Trends in the Incidence and Prevalence of Atopic Eczema 1990-2010: A Systematic Review of Epidemiological Studies." *PLoS ONE*. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0039803.
- Demehri, Shadmehr, Zhenyi Liu, Jonghyeob Lee, Meei Hua Lin, Seth D. Crosby, Christopher J. Roberts, Perry W. Grigsby, Jeffrey H. Miner, Andrew G. Farr, and Raphael Kopan. 2008. "Notch-Deficient Skin Induces a Lethal Systemic B-Lymphoproliferative Disorder by Secreting TSLP, a Sentinel for Epidermal Integrity." *PLoS Biology* 6 (5): 0992–1005. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pbio.0060123.
- Demehri, Shadmehr, Ahu Turkoz, Sindhu Manivasagam, Laura J. Yockey, Mustafa Turkoz, and Raphael Kopan. 2012. "Elevated Epidermal Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Levels Establish an Antitumor Environment in the Skin." *Cancer Cell* 22 (4): 494–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.08.017.
- Desideria, Descalzi, Folli Chiara, Scordamaglia Francesca, Riccio Maria, Gamalero Cinzia, and Canonica Walter. 2008. "Importance of Fibroblasts-Myofibroblasts in Asthma-Induced Airway Remodeling." *Recent Patents on Inflammation & Allergy Drug Discovery* 1 (3): 237–41. https://doi.org/10.2174/187221307782418847.
- Dewas, Cedric, Xi Chen, Tetsuya Honda, Ilkka Junttila, Jay Linton, Mark C. Udey, Stephen F. Porcella, et al. 2015. "TSLP Expression: Analysis with a ZsGreen TSLP Reporter Mouse." *The Journal of Immunology* 194 (3): 1372–80. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1400519.
- Dharmage, S. C., a. J. Lowe, M. C. Matheson, J. a. Burgess, K. J. Allen, and M. J. Abramson. 2014. "Atopic Dermatitis and the Atopic March Revisited." *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 69 (1): 17–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/all.12268.
- Dhingra, Nikhil, and Emma Guttman-Yassky. 2014. "A Possible Role for IL-17A in Establishing Th2 Inflammation in Murine Models of Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. J Invest Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.141.
- Dhingra, Nikhil, Mayte Suárez-Fariñas, Judilyn Fuentes-Duculan, Julia K. Gittler, Avner Shemer, Assaf Raz, Vincent A. Fischetti, James G. Krueger, and Emma Guttman-Yassky. 2013. "Attenuated Neutrophil Axis in Atopic Dermatitis Compared to Psoriasis Reflects TH17 Pathway Differences between These Diseases." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 132 (2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.04.043.
- Dietert, Kristina, Birgitt Gutbier, Sandra M. Wienhold, Katrin Reppe, Xiaohui Jiang, Ling Yao, Catherine Chaput, et al. 2017. "Spectrum of Pathogen- and Model-Specific Histopathologies

in Mouse Models of Acute Pneumonia." *PloS One* 12 (11): e0188251. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0188251.

- Dillard, Patricia, Rick A. Wetsel, and Scott M. Drouin. 2007. "Complement C3a Regulates Muc5ac Expression by Airway Clara Cells Independently of Th2 Responses." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 175 (12): 1250–58. https://doi.org/10.1164/ rccm.200701-049OC.
- Djukanovic, R., W. R. Roche, J. W. Wilson, C. R.W. Beasley, O. P. Twentyman, P. H. Howarth, and S. T. Holgate. 1990. "Mucosal Inflammation in Asthma." *American Review of Respiratory Disease*. Am Rev Respir Dis. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm/142.2.434.
- Dobin, Alexander, Carrie A. Davis, Felix Schlesinger, Jorg Drenkow, Chris Zaleski, Sonali Jha, Philippe Batut, Mark Chaisson, and Thomas R. Gingeras. 2013. "STAR: Ultrafast Universal RNA-Seq Aligner." *Bioinformatics* 29 (1): 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bts635.
- Drouin, Scott M., David B. Corry, Jens Kildsgaard, and Rick A. Wetsel. 2001. "Cutting Edge: The Absence of C3 Demonstrates a Role for Complement in Th2 Effector Functions in a Murine Model of Pulmonary Allergy." *The Journal of Immunology* 167 (8): 4141–45. https://doi.org/ 10.4049/jimmunol.167.8.4141.
- Drouin, Scott M., Jens Kildsgaard, Joie Haviland, Joseph Zabner, Hong Pen Jia, Paul B. McCray, Brian F. Tack, and Rick A. Wetsel. 2001. "Expression of the Complement Anaphylatoxin C3a and C5a Receptors on Bronchial Epithelial and Smooth Muscle Cells in Models of Sepsis and Asthma." *The Journal of Immunology* 166 (3): 2025–32. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.166.3.2025.
- Drucker, Aaron M., Annie R. Wang, Wen Qing Li, Erika Sevetson, Julie K. Block, and Abrar a. Qureshi. 2017. "The Burden of Atopic Dermatitis: Summary of a Report for the National Eczema Association." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 137 (1): 26–30. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jid.2016.07.012.
- Eckl, Katja Martina, Thomas Alef, Serena Torres, and Hans Christian Hennies. 2011. "Full-Thickness Human Skin Models for Congenital Ichthyosis and Related Keratinization Disorders." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. J Invest Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1038/ jid.2011.126.
- Ege, Markus J., Melanie Mayer, Anne-Cécile Normand, Jon Genuneit, William O.C.M. Cookson, Charlotte Braun-Fahrländer, Dick Heederik, Renaud Piarroux, and Erika von Mutius. 2011.
 "Exposure to Environmental Microorganisms and Childhood Asthma." New England Journal of Medicine 364 (8): 701–9. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1007302.
- Elfenbein, Arye, Anthony Lanahan, Theresa X. Zhou, Alisa Yamasaki, Eugene Tkachenko, Michiyuki Matsuda, and Michael Simons. 2012. "Syndecan 4 Regulates FGFR1 Signaling in Endothelial Cells by Directing Macropinocytosis." *Science Signaling* 5 (223). https://doi.org/ 10.1126/scisignal.2002495.
- Elfenbein, Arye, and Michael Simons. 2013. "Syndecan-4 Signaling at a Glance." *Journal of Cell Science* 126 (17): 3799–3804. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.124636.
- Eller, Esben, Henrik Fomsgaard Kjaer, Arne Høst, Klaus Ejner Andersen, and Carsten Bindslev-Jensen. 2010. "Development of Atopic Dermatitis in the DARC Birth Cohort." *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology* 21 (2 PART 1): 307–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3038.2009.00914.x.
- Ellinghaus, David, Hansjörg Baurecht, Jorge Esparza-Gordillo, Elke Rodríguez, Anja Matanovic, Ingo Marenholz, Norbert Hübner, et al. 2013. "High-Density Genotyping Study Identifies Four New Susceptibility Loci for Atopic Dermatitis." *Nature Genetics* 45 (7): 808–12. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/NG.2642.
- Endara, P, M Vaca, T. A.E. Platts-Mills, L Workman, M E Chico, M L Barreto, L C Rodrigues, and P J Cooper. 2015. "Effect of Urban vs. Rural Residence on the Association between Atopy and Wheeze in Latin America: Findings from a Case-Control Analysis." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 45 (2): 438–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/cea.12399.
- Esparza-Gordillo, Jorge, Stephan Weidinger, Regina Fölster-Holst, Anja Bauerfeind, Franz Ruschendorf, Giannino Patone, Klaus Rohde, et al. 2009. "A Common Variant on Chromosome 11q13 Is Associated with Atopic Dermatitis." *Nature Genetics* 41 (5): 596–601. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.347.
- Fahy, John V. 2015. "Type 2 Inflammation in Asthma-Present in Most, Absent in Many." *Nature Reviews Immunology*. Nat Rev Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3786.
- Fang, Ping, Li Zhou, Yuqi Zhou, Jay K. Kolis, Tao Zheng, and Zhou Zhu. 2014. "Immune Modulatory Effects of IL-22 on Allergen-Induced Pulmonary Inflammation." PLOS ONE 9 (9): e107454. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0107454.
- Favrot, Claude, Jean Steffan, Wolfgang Seewald, and Federicca Picco. 2010. "A Prospective Study on the Clinical Features of Chronic Canine Atopic Dermatitis and Its Diagnosis." *Veterinary Dermatology* 21 (1): 23–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3164.2009.00758.x.

- Feistritzer, C., N. C. Kaneider, D. H. Sturn, and C. J. Wiedermann. 2004. "Syndecan-4-Dependent Migration of Human Eosinophils." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 34 (5): 696–703. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2222.2004.1853.x.
- Fernandez-Godino, Rosario, Kinga M. Bujakowska, and Eric A. Pierce. 2018. "Changes in Extracellular Matrix Cause RPE Cells to Make Basal Deposits and Activate the Alternative Complement Pathway." *Human Molecular Genetics* 27 (1): 147–59. https://doi.org/10.1093/ hmg/ddx392.
- Ferreira, Manuel A., Judith M. Vonk, Hansjörg Baurecht, Ingo Marenholz, Chao Tian, Joshua D. Hoffman, Quinta Helmer, et al. 2017. "Shared Genetic Origin of Asthma, Hay Fever and Eczema Elucidates Allergic Disease Biology." *Nature Genetics* 49 (12): 1752–57. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ng.3985.
- Flohr, C., D. Pascoe, and H. C. Williams. 2005. "Atopic Dermatitis and the 'Hygiene Hypothesis': Too Clean to Be True?" *British Journal of Dermatology* 152 (2): 202–16. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2004.06436.x.
- Flohr, Carsten, and Lindsey Yeo. 2011. "Atopic Dermatitis and the Hygiene Hypothesis Revisited." *Current Problems in Dermatology* 41: 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1159/000323290.
- Foroushani, Amir B.K., Fiona S.L. Brinkman, and David J. Lynn. 2013. "Pathway-GPS and SIGORA: Identifying Relevant Pathways Based on the over-Representation of Their Gene-Pair Signatures." *PeerJ* 2013 (1). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.229.
- Fort, Madeline M., Jeanne Cheung, David Yen, Joana Li, Sandra M. Zurawski, Sylvia Lo, Satish Menon, et al. 2001. "IL-25 Induces IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 and Th2-Associated Pathologies in Vivo." *Immunity* 15 (6): 985–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00243-6.
- Foster, Paul S., Simon P. Hogan, Alistair J. Ramsay, Klaus I. Matthaei, and Ian G. Young. 1996. "Interleukin 5 Deficiency Abolishes Eosinophilia, Airways Hyperreactivity, and Lung Damage in a Mouse Asthma Model." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 183 (1): 195–201. https:// doi.org/10.1084/jem.183.1.195.
- Fregonese, Laura, Fiona J. Swan, Annemarie Van Schadewijk, Marisa Dolhnikoff, Mario A. Santos, Mohamed R. Daha, Jan Stolk, et al. 2005. "Expression of the Anaphylatoxin Receptors C3aR and C5aR Is Increased in Fatal Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 115 (6): 1148–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2005.01.068.
- Fuhlbrigge, Anne L, Benita Jackson, and Rosalind J Wright. 2002. "Gender and Asthma." *Immunology and Allergy Clinics of North America*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0889-8561(02)00022-X.
- Funaro, Ada, Giulio C. Spagnoli, Monica Momo, Walter Knapp, and Fabio Malavasi. 1994. "Stimulation of T Cells via CD44 Requires Leukocyte-Function-Associated Antigen Interactions and Interleukin-2 Production." *Human Immunology* 40 (4): 267–78. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0198-8859(94)90026-4.
- Galand, Claire, Juan Manuel Leyva-Castillo, Juhan Yoon, Alex Han, Margaret S. Lee, Andrew N.J. McKenzie, Michael Stassen, Michiko K. Oyoshi, Fred D. Finkelman, and Raif S. Geha. 2016.
 "IL-33 Promotes Food Anaphylaxis in Epicutaneously Sensitized Mice by Targeting Mast Cells." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 138 (5): 1356–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2016.03.056.
- Gao, Pei Song, Nicholas M. Rafaels, Deguang Mu, Tracey Hand, Tanda Murray, Mark Boguniewicz, Tissa Hata, et al. 2010. "Genetic Variants in Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Are Associated with Atopic Dermatitis and Eczema Herpeticum." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. J Allergy Clin Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2010.03.016.
- Gavett, Stephen H., Daniel J. O'Hearn, Xiumin Li, Shau Ku Huang, Fred D. Finkelman, and Marsha Wills-Karp. 1995. "Interleukin 12 Inhibits Antigen-Induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness, Inflammation, and Th2 Cytokine Expression in Mice." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 182 (5): 1527–36. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.182.5.1527.
- Gawkrodger, David J., Marek J. Mortimer, and Ann G. Jaron. 1994. "The Prevalence of Childhood Atopic Eczema in a General Population." *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 30 (1): 35–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0190-9622(94)70004-4.
- Gerbe, François, Emmanuelle Sidot, Danielle J. Smyth, Makoto Ohmoto, Ichiro Matsumoto, Valérie Dardalhon, Pierre Cesses, et al. 2016. "Intestinal Epithelial Tuft Cells Initiate Type 2 Mucosal Immunity to Helminth Parasites." *Nature* 529 (7585): 226–30. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature16527.
- Ghosh, Sumit, Scott A. Hoselton, Glenn P. Dorsam, and Jane M. Schuh. 2015. "Hyaluronan Fragments as Mediators of Inflammation in Allergic Pulmonary Disease." *Immunobiology*. Immunobiology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2014.12.005.
- Gillich, Astrid, Fan Zhang, Colleen G. Farmer, Kyle J. Travaglini, Serena Y. Tan, Mingxia Gu, Bin Zhou, Jeffrey A. Feinstein, Mark A. Krasnow, and Ross J. Metzger. 2020. "Capillary Cell-Type

Specialization in the Alveolus." *Nature* 586 (7831): 785–89. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-020-2822-7.

- Gittler, Julia K., Avner Shemer, Mayte Suárez-Fariñas, Judilyn Fuentes-Duculan, Kara J. Gulewicz, Claire Q.F. Wang, Hiroshi Mitsui, et al. 2012. "Progressive Activation of TH2/TH22 Cytokines and Selective Epidermal Proteins Characterizes Acute and Chronic Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 130 (6): 1344–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaci.2012.07.012.
- Global Asthma Network. 2018. The Global Asthma Report 2018. Auckland, New Zealand. Vol. 5. http://globalasthmareport.org/.
- Gondelaud, Frank, and Sylvie Ricard-Blum. 2019. "Structures and Interactions of Syndecans." *FEBS Journal* 286 (15): 2994–3007. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14828.
- Gould, Hannah J., Brian J. Sutton, Andrew J. Beavil, Rebecca L. Beavil, Natalie McCloskey, Heather A. Coker, David Fear, and Lyn Smurthwaite. 2003. "The Biology of IgE and the Basis of Allergic Disease." *Annual Review of Immunology*. Annu Rev Immunol. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141103.
- Gould, Hannah J., Pooja Takhar, Helen E. Harries, Stephen R. Durham, and Christopher J. Corrigan. 2006. "Germinal-Centre Reactions in Allergic Inflammation." *Trends in Immunology*. Trends Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2006.08.007.
- Gratchev, A., J. Kzhyshkowska, K. Duperrier, J. Utikal, F. W. Velten, and S. Goerdt. 2004. "The Receptor for Interleukin-17E Is Induced by Th2 Cytokines in Antigen-Presenting Cells." *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology* 60 (3): 233–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0300-9475.2004.01443.x.
- Grau, Sandra, Peter J. Richards, Briedgeen Kerr, Clare Hughes, Bruce Caterson, Anwen S. Williams, Uwe Junker, Simon A. Jones, Tim Clausen, and Michael Ehrmann. 2006. "The Role of Human HtrA1 in Arthritic Disease." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281 (10): 6124–29. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M500361200.
- Greenfeder, Scott, Shelby P. Umland, Francis M. Cuss, Richard W. Chapman, and Robert W. Egan. 2001. "Th2 Cytokines and Asthma. The Role of Interleukin-5 in Allergic Eosinophilic Disease." *Respiratory Research*. Respir Res. https://doi.org/10.1186/rr41.
- Grewe, M., S. Walther, K. Gyufko, W. Czech, E. Schopf, and J. Krutmann. 1995. "Analysis of the Cytokine Pattern Expressed in Situ in Inhalant Allergen Patch Test Reactions of Atopic Dermatitis Patients." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 105 (3): 407–10. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12321078.
- Grootendorst, Diana C., and Klaus F. Rabe. 2004. "Mechanisms of Bronchial Hyperreactivity in Asthma and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease." *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*. Proc Am Thorac Soc. https://doi.org/10.1513/pats.2306025.
- Gry, Marcus, Rebecca Rimini, Sara Strömberg, Anna Asplund, Fredrik Pontén, Mathias Uhlén, and Peter Nilsson. 2009. "Correlations between RNA and Protein Expression Profiles in 23 Human Cell Lines." *BMC Genomics* 10 (1): 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-10-365.
- Guo, Yanfang, Peng Xiao, Shufeng Lei, Féiyan Deng, Gary Guishan Xiao, Yaozhong Liu, Xiangding Chen, et al. 2008. "How Is MRNA Expression Predictive for Protein Expression? A Correlation Study on Human Circulating Monocytes." *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica* 40 (5): 426–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-7270.2008.00418.x.
- Gustafsson, Dan, O Sjöberg, and T Foucard. 2000. "Development of Allergies and Asthma in Infants and Young Children with Atopic Dermatitis A Prospective Follow-up to 7 Years Age." *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 55 (3): 240–45. https://doi.org/ 10.1034/j.1398-9995.2000.00391.x.
- Gutowska-Owsiak, D., A. L. Schaupp, M. Salimi, S. Taylor, and G. S. Ogg. 2011. "Interleukin-22 Downregulates Filaggrin Expression and Affects Expression of Profilaggrin Processing Enzymes." *British Journal of Dermatology* 165 (3): 492–98. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10400.x.
- Gutowska-Owsiak, Danuta, Anna L. Schaupp, Maryam Salimi, Tharini A. Selvakumar, Tess McPherson, Stephen Taylor, and Graham S. Ogg. 2012. "IL-17 Downregulates Filaggrin and Affects Keratinocyte Expression of Genes Associated with Cellular Adhesion." *Experimental Dermatology* 21 (2): 104–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.2011.01412.x.
- Haan, Joke M.M. den, Ramon Arens, and Menno C. van Zelm. 2014. "The Activation of the Adaptive Immune System: Cross-Talk between Antigen-Presenting Cells, T Cells and B Cells." *Immunology Letters*. Immunol Lett. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2014.10.011.
- Hackett, Tillie Louise. 2012. "Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in the Pathophysiology of Airway Remodelling in Asthma." *Current Opinion in Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACI.0b013e32834ec6eb.
- Hackett, Tillie Louise, Gurpreet K. Singhera, Furquan Shaheen, Patrick Hayden, George R. Jackson, Richard G. Hegele, Stephan Van Eeden, Tony R. Bai, Delbert R. Dorscheid, and

Darryl A. Knight. 2011. "Intrinsic Phenotypic Differences of Asthmatic Epithelium and Its Inflammatory Responses to Respiratory Syncytial Virus and Air Pollution." *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 45 (5): 1090–1100. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2011-0031OC.

- Hakemi, MazdakGanjalikhani, Nahid Eskandari, Reza Yazdani, Rahim Farahani, and Roya Sherkat. 2014. "Cytokines (Interleukin-9, IL-17, IL-22, IL-25 and IL-33) and Asthma." *Advanced Biomedical Research* 3 (1): 127. https://doi.org/10.4103/2277-9175.133249.
- Haley, Patrick J. 2003. "Species Differences in the Structure and Function of the Immune System." *Toxicology* 188 (1): 49–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-483X(03)00043-X.
- Han, H., F. Roan, and S.F. Ziegler. 2017. "The Atopic March: Current Insights into Skin Barrier Dysfunction and Epithelial Cell-Derived Cytokines" 5 (5): 395–404. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acssynbio.5b00266.Quantitative.
- Han, H., W. Xu, M. B. Headley, H. K. Jessup, K. S. Lee, M. Omori, M. R. Comeau, A. Marshak-Rothstein, and S. F. Ziegler. 2012. "Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin (TSLP)-Mediated Dermal Inflammation Aggravates Experimental Asthma." *Mucosal Immunology* 5 (3): 342–51. https:// doi.org/10.1038/mi.2012.14.
- Han, Hongwei, Florence Roan, and Steven F. Ziegler. 2017. "The Atopic March: Current Insights into Skin Barrier Dysfunction and Epithelial Cell-Derived Cytokines." *Immunological Reviews*. NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12546.
- Han, Hongwei, Tennille D. Thelen, Michael R. Comeau, and Steven F. Ziegler. 2014. "Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin-Mediated Epicutaneous Inflammation Promotes Acute Diarrhea and Anaphylaxis." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 124 (12): 5442–52. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI77798.
- Harada, Michishige, Tomomitsu Hirota, Aya I. Jodo, Yuki Hitomi, Masafumi Sakashita, Tatsuhiko Tsunoda, Takehiko Miyagawa, et al. 2011. "Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Gene Promoter Polymorphisms Are Associated with Susceptibility to Bronchial Asthma." *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 44 (6): 787–93. https://doi.org/10.1165/ rcmb.2009-0418OC.
- Hardman, Clare S., Veera Panova, and Andrew N.J. Mckenzie. 2013. "IL-33 Citrine Reporter Mice Reveal the Temporal and Spatial Expression of IL-33 during Allergic Lung Inflammation." *European Journal of Immunology* 43 (2): 488–98. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201242863.
- Hargreave, Frederick E., Jerry Dolovich, Paul M. O'Byrne, E. Helen Ramsdale, and Edwin E. Daniel. 1986. "The Origin of Airway Hyperresponsiveness." *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 78 (5 PART 1): 825–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-6749(86)90226-5.
- Harkness, Louise M., Anthony W. Ashton, and Janette K. Burgess. 2015. "Asthma Is Not Only an Airway Disease, but Also a Vascular Disease." *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*. Pharmacol Ther. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2014.11.010.
- Hayashi, Toshiharu, Aiko Ishii, Satoru Nakai, and Keiko Hasegawa. 2004. "Ultrastructure of Goblet-Cell Metaplasia from Clara Cell in the Allergic Asthmatic Airway Inflammation in a Mouse Model of Asthma in Vivo." *Virchows Archiv* 444 (1): 66–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00428-003-0926-8.
- Hayashida, Sayaka, Hiroshi Uchi, Yoichi Moroi, and Masutaka Furue. 2011. "Decrease in Circulating Th17 Cells Correlates with Increased Levels of CCL17, IgE and Eosinophils in Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Dermatological Science* 61 (3): 180–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdermsci.2010.10.013.
- Hayashida, Sayaka, Hiroshi Uchi, Satoshi Takeuchi, Hitokazu Esaki, Yoichi Moroi, and Masutaka Furue. 2011. "Significant Correlation of Serum IL-22 Levels with CCL17 Levels in Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Dermatological Science*. J Dermatol Sci. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jdermsci.2010.08.013.
- Henderson, John, Kate Northstone, Simon P. Lee, Haihui Liao, Yiwei Zhao, Marcus Pembrey, Somnath Mukhopadhyay, et al. 2008. "The Burden of Disease Associated with Filaggrin Mutations: A Population-Based, Longitudinal Birth Cohort Study." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 121 (4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2008.01.026.
- Henness, Sheridan, Colleen K. Johnson, Qi Ge, Carol L. Armour, J. Margaret Hughes, and Alaina J. Ammit. 2004. "IL-17A Augments TNF-α-Induced IL-6 Expression in Airway Smooth Muscle by Enhancing MRNA Stability." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 114 (4): 958–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2004.06.023.
- Higashikawa, Koichiro, Hiroshi Yokozaki, Teruyoshi Ue, Kiyomi Taniyama, Takenori Ishikawa, David Tarin, and Eiichi Tahara. 1996. "Evaluation of CD44 Transcription Variants in Human Digestive Tract Carcinomas and Normal Tissues." In *International Journal of Cancer*, 66:11–17. Wiley-Liss, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19960328)66:1<11::AID-IJC3>3.0.CO;2-1.
- Hill, David A., Robert W. Grundmeier, Gita Ram, and Jonathan M. Spergel. 2016. "The Epidemiologic Characteristics of Healthcare Provider-Diagnosed Eczema, Asthma, Allergic

Rhinitis, and Food Allergy in Children: A Retrospective Cohort Study." *BMC Pediatrics* 16 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-016-0673-z.

- Hill, David A., and Jonathan M. Spergel. 2018. "The Atopic March: Critical Evidence and Clinical Relevance." *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 120 (2): 131–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anai.2017.10.037.
- Hofstra, Claudia, Ingrid van Ark, Gerard Hofman, Mirjam Kool, Frans P. Nijkamp, and Antoon J.M. van Oosterhout. 1998. "Prevention of Th2-Like Cell Responses by Coadministration of IL-12 and IL-18 Is Associated with Inhibition of Antigen-Induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness, Eosinophilia, and Serum Ig Levels." *The Journal of Immunology*, 1–6.
- Holgate, Stephen T. 2012. "Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses in Asthma." *Nature Medicine*. Nat Med. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2731.
- Holgate, Stephen T., John Holloway, Susan Wilson, Fabio Bucchieri, Sarah Puddicombe, and Donna E. Davies. 2004. "Epithelial-Mesenchymal Communication in the Pathogenesis of Chronic Asthma." *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*. Proc Am Thorac Soc. https://doi.org/10.1513/pats.2306034.
- Homandberg, G. A. 2001. "Cartilage Damage by Matrix Degradation Products: Fibronectin Fragments." In *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*. Clin Orthop Relat Res. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003086-200110001-00010.
- Hönzke, Stefan, Christian Gerecke, Anja Elpelt, Nan Zhang, Michael Unbehauen, Vivian Kral, Emanuel Fleige, et al. 2016. "Tailored Dendritic Core-Multishell Nanocarriers for Efficient Dermal Drug Delivery: A Systematic Top-down Approach from Synthesis to Preclinical Testing." *Journal of Controlled Release* 242: 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jconrel.2016.06.030.
- Hönzke, Stefan, Leonie Wallmeyer, Anja Ostrowski, Moritz Radbruch, Lars Mundhenk, Monika Sch??fer-Korting, and Sarah Hedtrich. 2016. "Influence of Th2 Cytokines on the Cornified Envelope, Tight Junction Proteins, and ??-Defensins in Filaggrin-Deficient Skin Equivalents." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 136 (3): 631–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jid.2015.11.007.
- Hoshino, Hiroshi, Martti Laan, Margarete Sjöstrand, Jan Lötvall, Bengt Eric Skoogh, and Anders Lindén. 2000. "Increased Elastase and Myeloperoxidase Activity Associated with Neutrophil Recruitment by IL-17 in Airways in Vivo." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 105 (1 I): 143–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-6749(00)90189-1.
- Howitt, Michael R., Sydney Lavoie, Monia Michaud, Arthur M. Blum, Sara V. Tran, Joel V. Weinstock, Carey Ann Gallini, et al. 2016. "Tuft Cells, Taste-Chemosensory Cells, Orchestrate Parasite Type 2 Immunity in the Gut." *Science* 351 (6279): 1329–33. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.aaf1648.
- Huang, S. W., and K. J. Kao. 1993. "The Relationship between Plasma Thrombospondin Level and the Clinical Course of Atopic Dermatitis." *Allergy Proceedings* 14 (5): 357–61. https://doi.org/ 10.2500/108854193778774074.
- Huang, Tingting, Li Sun, Xianglin Yuan, and Hong Qiu. 2017. "Thrombospondin-1 Is a Multifaceted Player in Tumor Progression." *Oncotarget*. Impact Journals, LLC. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.19165.
- Huet, S, H Groux, B Caillou, H Valentin, A M Prieur, and A Bernard. 1989. "CD44 Contributes to T Cell Activation." *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 143 (3): 798–801. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2568380.
- Humbert, Marc, Stephen R. Durham, Patrick Kimmitt, Nicholas Powell, Basil Assoufi, Rudi Pfister, Günter Menz, A. Barry Kay, and Chris J. Corrigan. 1997. "Elevated Expression of Messenger Ribonucleic Acid Encoding IL-13 in the Bronchial Mucosa of Atopic and Nonatopic Subjects with Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 99 (5): 657–65. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0091-6749(97)70028-9.
- Hurst, Stephen D., Tony Muchamuel, Daniel M. Gorman, Jonathan M. Gilbert, Theresa Clifford, Sylvia Kwan, Satish Menon, et al. 2002. "New IL-17 Family Members Promote Th1 or Th2 Responses in the Lung: In Vivo Function of the Novel Cytokine IL-25." *The Journal of Immunology* 169 (1): 443–53. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.169.1.443.
- Hvid, Malene, Christian Vestergaard, Kaare Kemp, Gitte B. Christensen, Bent Deleuran, and Mette Deleuran. 2011. "IL-25 in Atopic Dermatitis: A Possible Link between Inflammation and Skin Barrier Dysfunction." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 131 (1): 150–57. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/jid.2010.277.
- Imai, Yasutomo, Koubun Yasuda, Yoshiko Sakaguchi, Takashi Haneda, Hitoshi Mizutani, Tomohiro Yoshimoto, Kenji Nakanishi, and Kiyofumi Yamanishi. 2013. "Skin-Specific Expression of IL-33 Activates Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells and Elicits Atopic Dermatitis-like Inflammation in Mice." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110 (34): 13921–26. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1307321110.

- Irvine, Alan D., W.H. Irwin McLean, and Donald Y.M. Leung. 2011. "Filaggrin Mutations Associated with Skin and Allergic Diseases." *New England Journal of Medicine* 365 (14): 1315–27. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmra1011040.
- Ito, Tomoki, Yui Hsi Wang, Omar Duramad, Toshiyuki Hori, Guy J. Delespesse, Norihiko Watanabe, F. Xiao Feng Qin, Zhengbin Yao, Wei Cao, and Yong Jun Liu. 2005. "TSLP-Activated Dendritic Cells Induce an Inflammatory T Helper Type 2 Cell Response through OX40 Ligand." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 202 (9): 1213–23. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.20051135.
- Jackson, Daniel J., Tina V. Hartert, Fernando D. Martinez, Scott T. Weiss, and John V. Fahy. 2014. "Asthma: NHLBI Workshop on the Primary Prevention of Chronic Lung Diseases." In *Annals of the American Thoracic Society*. Vol. 11. Ann Am Thorac Soc. https://doi.org/10.1513/ AnnalsATS.201312-448LD.
- Jacquet, A. 2011. "Interactions of Airway Epithelium with Protease Allergens in the Allergic Response." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*. Clin Exp Allergy. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2222.2010.03661.x.
- Janssen-Heininger, Yvonne M.W., Matthew E. Poynter, Scott W. Aesif, Cristen Pantano, Jennifer L. Ather, Niki L. Reynaert, Karina Ckless, et al. 2009. "Nuclear Factor KB, Airway Epithelium, and Asthma Avenues for Redox Control." *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society* 6 (3): 249–55. https://doi.org/10.1513/pats.200806-054RM.
- Johnson-Huang, Leanne M., Mayte Suárez-Fariñas, Katherine C. Pierson, Judilyn Fuentes-Duculan, Inna Cueto, Tim Lentini, Mary Sullivan-Whalen, et al. 2012. "A Single Intradermal Injection of IFN-γ Induces an Inflammatory State in Both Non-Lesional Psoriatic and Healthy Skin." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 132 (4): 1177–87. https://doi.org/10.1038/ jid.2011.458.
- Johnson, Jill R., Erika Folestad, Jessica E. Rowley, Elisa M. Noll, Simone A. Walker, Clare M. Lloyd, Sara M. Rankin, Kristian Pietras, Ulf Eriksson, and Jonas Fuxe. 2015. "Pericytes Contribute to Airway Remodeling in a Mouse Model of Chronic Allergic Asthma." *American Journal of Physiology Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 308 (7): L658–71. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00286.2014.
- Johnson, Jill R., Michiyoshi Nishioka, Jamila Chakir, Paul André Risse, Ibrahim Almaghlouth, Ahmad N. Bazarbashi, Sophie Plante, James G. Martin, David Eidelman, and Qutayba Hamid. 2013. "IL-22 Contributes to TGF-B1-Mediated Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Asthmatic Bronchial Epithelial Cells." *Respiratory Research* 14 (1). https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1465-9921-14-118.
- Jones, Carol E., and Katie Chan. 2002. "Interleukin-17 Stimulates the Expression of Interleukin-8, Growth-Related Oncogene-α, and Granulocyte-Colony-Stimulating Factor by Human Airway Epithelial Cells." *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 26 (6): 748–53. https://doi.org/10.1165/ajrcmb.26.6.4757.
- Jung, Eui Chang, and Howard I. Maibach. 2015. "Animal Models for Percutaneous Absorption." Journal of Applied Toxicology. J Appl Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.3004.
- Jungersted, J. M., H. Scheer, M. Mempel, H. Baurecht, L. Cifuentes, J. K. Høgh, L. I. Hellgren, G. B.E. Jemec, T. Agner, and S. Weidinger. 2010. "Stratum Corneum Lipids, Skin Barrier Function and Filaggrin Mutations in Patients with Atopic Eczema." *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 65 (7): 911–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1398-9995.2010.02326.x.
- Jungersted, Jakob Mutanu, Julie K. Høgh, Lars I. Hellgren, Gregor B.E. Jemec, and Tove Agner. 2010. "Skin Barrier Response to Occlusion of Healthy and Irritated Skin: Differences in Trans-Epidermal Water Loss, Erythema and Stratum Corneum Lipids." *Contact Dermatitis* 63 (6): 313–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0536.2010.01773.x.
- Kalinowski, April, Iris Ueki, Gundula Min-Oo, Eric Ballon-Landa, David Knoff, Benjamin Galen, Lewis L. Lanier, Jay A. Nadel, and Jonathan L. Koff. 2014. "EGFR Activation Suppresses Respiratory Virus-Induced IRF1-Dependent CXCL10 Production." *American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 307 (2): 186–96. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajplung.00368.2013.
- Kambayashi, Taku, and Terri M. Laufer. 2014. "Atypical MHC Class II-Expressing Antigen-Presenting Cells: Can Anything Replace a Dendritic Cell?" *Nature Reviews Immunology*. Nat Rev Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3754.
- Kamsteeg, Marijke, Mieke Bergers, Roelie De Boer, Patrick L.J.M. Zeeuwen, Stanleyson V. Hato, Joost Schalkwijk, and Geuranne S. Tjabringa. 2011. "Type 2 Helper T-Cell Cytokines Induce Morphologic and Molecular Characteristics of Atopic Dermatitis in Human Skin Equivalent." *American Journal of Pathology* 178 (5): 2091–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ajpath.2011.01.037.

- Kanemitsu, Yoshihiro, Isao Ito, Akio Niimi, Kenji Izuhara, Shoichiro Ohta, Junya Ono, Toshiyuki Iwata, Hisako Matsumoto, and Michiaki Mishima. 2014. "Osteopontin and Periostin Are Associated with a 20-Year Decline of Pulmonary Function in Patients with Asthma." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. https://doi.org/ 10.1164/rccm.201403-0562LE.
- Kang, Chun Mi, An Soo Jang, Mi Hyun Ahn, Jeong Ah Shin, Ji Hye Kim, Yun Sung Choi, Tai Youn Rhim, and Choon Sik Park. 2005. "Interleukin-25 and Interleukin-13 Production by Alveolar Macrophages in Response to Particles." *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 33 (3): 290–96. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2005-0003OC.
- Kapitein, Berber, Joost A. Aalberse, Mark R. Klein, Wilco De Jager, Maarten O. Hoekstra, Edward F. Knol, and Berent J. Prakken. 2013. "Recognition of Self-Heat Shock Protein 60 by T Cells from Patients with Atopic Dermatitis." *Cell Stress and Chaperones* 18 (1): 87–95. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12192-012-0361-3.
- Kashem, Sakeen W., Muzlifah Haniffa, and Daniel H. Kaplan. 2017. "Antigen-Presenting Cells in the Skin." *Annual Review of Immunology*. Annu Rev Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-immunol-051116-052215.
- Kashiwagi, Mariko, Junichi Hosoi, Jen Feng Lai, Janice Brissette, Steven F. Ziegler, Bruce A. Morgan, and Katia Georgopoulos. 2017. "Direct Control of Regulatory T Cells by Keratinocytes." *Nature Immunology* 18 (3): 334–43. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3661.
- Kashyap, Mohit, Yrina Rochman, Rosanne Spolski, Leigh Samsel, and Warren J. Leonard. 2011. "Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Is Produced by Dendritic Cells." *The Journal of Immunology* 187 (3): 1207–11. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1100355.
- Katoh, Shigeki, Osamu Kaminuma, Takachika Hiroi, Akio Mori, Takayuki Ohtomo, Sachie Maeda, Hiroki Shimizu, Yasushi Obase, and Mikio Oka. 2011. "CD44 Is Critical for Airway Accumulation of Antigen-Specific Th2, but Not Th1, Cells Induced by Antigen Challenge in Mice." *European Journal of Immunology* 41 (11): 3198–3207. https://doi.org/10.1002/ eji.201141521.
- Katoh, Shigeki, Nobuhiro Matsumoto, Kumiko Kawakita, Akira Tominaga, Paul W. Kincade, and Shigeru Matsukura. 2003. "A Role for CD44 in an Antigen-Induced Murine Model of Pulmonary Eosinophilia." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 111 (10): 1563–70. https://doi.org/ 10.1172/JCI16583.
- Kawaguchi, Mio, Fumio Kokubu, Hideki Kuga, Satoshi Matsukura, Hiroshi Hoshino, Koushi leki, Toshimichi Imai, Mitsuru Adachi, and Shau Ku Huang. 2001. "Modulation of Bronchial Epithelial Cells by IL-17." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 108 (5): 804–9. https:// doi.org/10.1067/mai.2001.119027.
- Kawakami, Toshiaki, and Stephen J. Galli. 2002. "Regulation of Mast-Cell and Basophil Function and Survival by IgE." *Nature Reviews Immunology*. Nat Rev Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nri914.
- Kay, A. Barry. 2006. "The Role of T Lymphocytes in Asthma." *Chemical Immunology and Allergy*. Chem Immunol Allergy. https://doi.org/10.1159/000090230.
- Keil, T, A Bockelbrink, A Reich, U Hoffmann, W Kamin, J Forster, A Schuster, S. N. Willich, U Wahn, and S Lau. 2010. "The Natural History of Allergic Rhinitis in Childhood." *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology* 21 (6): 962–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3038.2010.01046.x.
- Kii, Isao, Takashi Nishiyama, Minqi Li, Ken Ichi Matsumoto, Mitsuru Saito, Norio Amizuka, and Akira Kudo. 2010. "Incorporation of Tenascin-C into the Extracellular Matrix by Periostin Underlies an Extracellular Meshwork Architecture." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285 (3): 2028–39. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.051961.
- Kim, Byung Eui, Lianghua Bin, Young Min Ye, Preveen Ramamoorthy, and Donald Y.M. Leung. 2013. "IL-25 Enhances HSV-1 Replication by Inhibiting Filaggrin Expression, and Acts Synergistically with TH2 Cytokines to Enhance Hsv-1 Replication." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 133 (12): 2678–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2013.223.
- Kim, Hye Young, Rosemarie H. Dekruyff, and Dale T Umetsu. 2010. "The Many Paths to Asthma: Phenotype Shaped by Innate and Adaptive Immunity." *Nature Immunology*. NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1892.
- Kinet, Jean Pierre. 1999. "The High-Affinity IgE Receptor (FcεRI): From Physiology to Pathology." *Annual Review of Immunology*. Annu Rev Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.immunol.17.1.931.
- Kirschvink, Nathalie, and Petra Reinhold. 2008. "Use of Alternative Animals as Asthma Models." *Current Drug Targets* 9 (6): 470–84. https://doi.org/10.2174/138945008784533525.
- Kitajima, Masayuki, Hai Chon Lee, Toshinori Nakayama, and Steven F. Ziegler. 2011. "TSLP Enhances the Function of Helper Type 2 Cells." *European Journal of Immunology* 41 (7): 1862–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201041195.

- Klein, Sabra L., and Katie L. Flanagan. 2016. "Sex Differences in Immune Responses." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 16 (10): 626–38. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.90.
- Kleinjan, A., J. G. Vinke, L. W.F.M. Severijnen, and W. J. Fokkens. 2000. "Local Production and Detection of (Specific) IgE in Nasal B-Cells and Plasma Cells of Allergic Rhinitis Patients." *European Respiratory Journal* 15 (3): 491–97. https://doi.org/10.1034/ j.1399-3003.2000.15.11.x.
- Kobyletzki, Laura B. von, Carl Gustaf Bornehag, Mikael Hasselgren, Malin Larsson, Cecilia B. Lindström, and Åke Svensson. 2012. "Eczema in Early Childhood Is Strongly Associated with the Development of Asthma and Rhinitis in a Prospective Cohort." *BMC Dermatology* 12 (July). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-5945-12-11.
- Koczy-Baron, E., J. Jochem, and A. Kasperska-Zajac. 2012. "Increased Plasma Concentration of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor in Patients with Atopic Dermatitis and Its Relation to Disease Severity and Platelet Activation." *Inflammation Research* 61 (12): 1405–9. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00011-012-0543-6.
- Koga, Chizuko, Kenji Kabashima, Noriko Shiraishi, Miwa Kobayashi, and Yoshiki Tokura. 2008. "Possible Pathogenic Role of Th17 Cells for Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 128 (11): 2625–30. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2008.111.
- Kohara, Y., K. Tanabe, K. Matsuoka, N. Kanda, H. Matsuda, H. Karasuyama, and H. Yonekawa. 2001. "A Major Determinant Quantitative-Trait Locus Responsible for Atopic Dermatitis-like Skin Lesions in NC/Nga Mice Is Located on Chromosome 9." *Immunogenetics* 53 (1): 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002510000286.
- Komai-Koma, M., F. Brombacher, P. N. Pushparaj, B. Arendse, C. McSharry, J. Alexander, R. Chaudhuri, et al. 2012. "Interleukin-33 Amplifies IgE Synthesis and Triggers Mast Cell Degranulation via Interleukin-4 in Naïve Mice." *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 67 (9): 1118–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1398-9995.2012.02859.x.
- Kondo, Yuichi, Tomohiro Yoshimoto, Koubun Yasuda, Shizue Futatsugi-yumikura, Mai Morimoto, Nobuki Hayashi, Tomoaki Hoshino, Jiro Fujimoto, and Kenji Nakanishi. 2008. "Administration of IL-33 Induces Airway Hyperresponsiveness and Goblet Cell Hyperplasia in the Lungs in the Absence of Adaptive Immune System." *International Immunology* 20 (6): 791–800. https:// doi.org/10.1093/intimm/dxn037.
- Kosti, Idit, Nishant Jain, Dvir Aran, Atul J. Butte, and Marina Sirota. 2016. "Cross-Tissue Analysis of Gene and Protein Expression in Normal and Cancer Tissues." *Scientific Reports* 6 (January): 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24799.
- Koussounadis, Antonis, Simon P. Langdon, In Hwa Um, David J. Harrison, and V. Anne Smith. 2015. "Relationship between Differentially Expressed MRNA and MRNA-Protein Correlations in a Xenograft Model System." *Scientific Reports* 5 (June). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep10775.
- Kraft, Stefan, and Jean Pierre Kinet. 2007. "New Developments in FccRI Regulation, Function and Inhibition." *Nature Reviews Immunology*. Nat Rev Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2072.
- Krug, Norbert, Jacqueline Madden, Anthony E. Redington, Peter Lackie, Ratko Djukanovic, Uwe Schauer, Stephen T. Holgate, Anthony J. Frew, and Peter H. Howarth. 1996. "T-Cell Cytokine Profile Evaluated at the Single Cell Level in BAL and Blood in Allergic Asthma." *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 14 (4): 319–26. https://doi.org/10.1165/ ajrcmb.14.4.8600935.
- Krug, Norbert, Thomas Tschernig, Veit J. Erpenbeck, Jens M. Hohlfeld, and Jörg Köhl. 2001. "Complement Factors C3a and C5a Are Increased in Bronchoalveolar Lavage Fluid after Segmental Allergen Provocation in Subjects with Asthma." *American Journal of Respiratory* and Critical Care Medicine 164 (10 I): 1841–43. https://doi.org/10.1164/ ajrccm.164.10.2010096.
- Kruglikov, Ilja L., and Philipp E. Scherer. 2020. "Caveolin as a Universal Target in Dermatology." International Journal of Molecular Sciences. Int J Mol Sci. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms21010080.
- Küchler, Sarah, Dominika Henkes, Katja Martina Eckl, Katharina Ackermann, Johanna Plendl, Hans Christian Korting, Hans Christian Hennies, and Monika Schäfer-Korting. 2011.
 "Hallmarks of Atopic Skin Mimicked in Vitro by Means of a Skin Disease Model Based on FLG Knock-Down." *ATLA Alternatives to Laboratory Animals* 39 (5): 471–80. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/026119291103900508.
- Kulig, Michael, Renate Bergmann, Uwe Klettke, Volker Wahn, Uta Tacke, and Ulrich Wahn. 1999. "Natural Course of Sensitization to Food and Inhalant Allergens during the First 6 Years of Life." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 103 (6): 1173–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0091-6749(99)70195-8.
- Kumar, R. K., and P. S. Foster. 2002. "ST2: Marker, Activator and Regulator of Th2 Immunity?" *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*. Clin Exp Allergy. https://doi.org/10.1046/ j.1365-2745.2002.01517.x.

- Kwon, Sunjong. 2013. "Single-Molecule Fluorescence in Situ Hybridization: Quantitative Imaging of Single RNA Molecules." BMB Reports. BMB Rep. https://doi.org/10.5483/ BMBRep.2013.46.2.016.
- Laan, M, Z H Cui, H Hoshino, J Lötvall, M Sjöstrand, D C Gruenert, B E Skoogh, and A Lindén. 1999. "Neutrophil Recruitment by Human IL-17 via C-X-C Chemokine Release in the Airways." *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 162 (4): 2347–52. http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9973514.
- Lack, Gideon, Deborah Fox, Kate Northstone, and Jean Golding. 2003. "Factors Associated with the Development of Peanut Allergy in Childhood." *New England Journal of Medicine* 348 (11): 977–85. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa013536.
- Lambrecht, Bart N., and Hamida Hammad. 2015. "The Immunology of Asthma." *Nature Immunology*. Nat Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3049.
- Langan, Sinéad M., Carsten Flohr, and Hywel C. Williams. 2007. "The Role of Furry Pets in Eczema: A Systematic Review." *Archives of Dermatology* 143 (12): 1570–77. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/archderm.143.12.1570.
- Langan, Sinéad M., Alan D. Irvine, and Stephan Weidinger. 2020. "Atopic Dermatitis." *The Lancet* 396 (10247): 345–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31286-1.
- Laughter, M. R., M. B.C. Maymone, S. Mashayekhi, B. W.M. Arents, C. Karimkhani, S. M. Langan, R. P. Dellavalle, and C. Flohr. 2020. "The Global Burden of Atopic Dermatitis: Lessons from the Global Burden of Disease Study 1990–2017." *British Journal of Dermatology*, 1–6. https:// doi.org/10.1111/bjd.19580.
- Lee, James, Wei Hsien Ho, Miko Maruoka, Racquel T. Corpuz, Daryl T. Baldwin, Jessica S. Foster, Audrey D. Goddard, et al. 2001. "IL-17E, a Novel Proinflammatory Ligand for the IL-17 Receptor Homolog IL-17Rh1." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276 (2): 1660–64. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M008289200.
- Lee, Jee Boong, Chun Yu Chen, Bo Liu, Luke Mugge, Pornpimon Angkasekwinai, Valeria Facchinetti, Chen Dong, et al. 2016. "IL-25 and CD4+ TH2 Cells Enhance Type 2 Innate Lymphoid Cell-Derived IL-13 Production, Which Promotes IgE-Mediated Experimental Food Allergy." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 137 (4): 1216-1225.e5. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.09.019.
- Leung, Donald Y.M. 2016. "Clinical Implications of New Mechanistic Insights into Atopic Dermatitis." *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*. Curr Opin Pediatr. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MOP.000000000000374.
- Lewis, S. 1998. "ISAAC A Hypothesis Generator for Asthma?" *Lancet*. Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)22017-4.
- Leyva-Castillo, Juan Manuel, Pierre Hener, Hua Jiang, and Mei Li. 2013. "TSLP Produced by Keratinocytes Promotes Allergen Sensitization through Skin and Thereby Triggers Atopic March in Mice." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 133 (1): 154–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/ jid.2012.239.
- Liesker, Jeroen JW, Nick H. Ten Hacken, Mieke Zeinstra-Smith, Steven R Rutgers, Dirkje S Postma, and Wim Timens. 2009. "Reticular Basement Membrane in Asthma and COPD: Similar Thickness, yet Different Composition." *International Journal of COPD* 4 (1): 127–35. https://doi.org/10.2147/copd.s4639.
- Liu, Yong Jun, Vasilli Soumelis, Norihiko Watanabe, Tomoki Ito, Yui Hsi Wang, Rene De Waal Malefyt, Miyuki Omori, Baohua Zhou, and Steven F. Ziegler. 2007. "TSLP: An Epithelial Cell Cytokine That Regulates t Cell Differentiation by Conditioning Dendritic Cell Maturation." *Annual Review of Immunology*. Annu Rev Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.immunol.25.022106.141718.
- Lluis, Anna, Nikolaus Ballenberger, Sabina Illi, Maximilian Schieck, Michael Kabesch, Thomas Illig, Isolde Schleich, Erika Von Mutius, and Bianca Schaub. 2014. "Regulation of TH17 Markers Early in Life through Maternal Farm Exposure." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 133 (3): 864–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.09.030.
- Lopez-Guisa, Jesus M., Claire Powers, Daniele File, Elizabeth Cochrane, Nathalia Jimenez, and Jason S. Debley. 2012. "Airway Epithelial Cells from Asthmatic Children Differentially Express Proremodeling Factors." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 129 (4). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.11.035.
- Louahed, Jamila, Masao Toda, Jin Jen, Qutayba Hamid, Jean Cristophe Renauld, Roy C. Levitt, and Nicholas C. Nicolaides. 2000. "Interleukin-9 Upregulates Mucus Expression in the Airways." *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 22 (6): 649–56. https:// doi.org/10.1165/ajrcmb.22.6.3927.
- Love, Michael I, Wolfgang Huber, and Simon Anders. 2014. "Moderated Estimation of Fold Change and Dispersion for RNA-Seq Data with DESeq2." *Genome Biology* 15 (12): 1–21. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8.

- Low, Lucie A., Christine Mummery, Brian R. Berridge, Christopher P. Austin, and Danilo A. Tagle. 2021. "Organs-on-Chips: Into the next Decade." *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 20 (5): 345– 61. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41573-020-0079-3.
- Löwa, A., P. Graff, S. Kaessmeyer, and S. Hedtrich. 2020. "Fibroblasts from Atopic Dermatitis Patients Trigger Inflammatory Processes and Hyperproliferation in Human Skin Equivalents." *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology* 34 (6): e262–65. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jdv.16240.
- Lu, Hong, Deborah A. Howatt, Anju Balakrishnan, Jessica J. Moorleghen, Debra L. Rateri, Lisa A. Cassis, and Alan Daugherty. 2015. "Subcutaneous Angiotensin II Infusion Using Osmotic Pumps Induces Aortic Aneurysms in Mice." Journal of Visualized Experiments 2015 (103). https://doi.org/10.3791/53191.
- Lugović-Mihić, Liborija, Gaby Novak-Bilić, Majda Vučić, Iva Japundžić, and Iva Bukvić. 2020. "CD44 Expression in Human Skin: High Expression in Irritant and Allergic Contact Dermatitis and Moderate Expression in Psoriasis Lesions in Comparison with Healthy Controls." *Contact Dermatitis* 82 (5): 297–306. https://doi.org/10.1111/cod.13463.
- MacGlashan, Donald. 2005. "IgE and FccRI Regulation." In Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1050:73–88. Ann N Y Acad Sci. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1313.009.
- Man, Mona, Peter M. Elias, Wenyan Man, Yan Wu, Lilly Y. W. Bourguignon, Kenneth R. Feingold, and Mao-Qiang Man. 2008. "The Role of CD44 in Cutaneous Inflammation." *Bone* 23 (1): 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.371.
- Manz, Judith, Elke Rodríguez, Abdou ElSharawy, Eva Maria Oesau, Britt Sabina Petersen, Hansjörg Baurecht, Gabriele Mayr, et al. 2016. "Targeted Resequencing and Functional Testing Identifies Low-Frequency Missense Variants in the Gene Encoding GARP as Significant Contributors to Atopic Dermatitis Risk." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 136 (12): 2380–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2016.07.009.
- Marenholz, Ingo, Jorge Esparza-Gordillo, Franz Rüschendorf, Anja Bauerfeind, David P. Strachan, Ben D. Spycher, Hansjörg Baurecht, et al. 2015. "Meta-Analysis Identifies Seven Susceptibility Loci Involved in the Atopic March." *Nature Communications* 6: 8804. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9804.
- Margolis, Jacob S., Katrina Abuabara, Warren Bilker, Ole Hoffstad, and David J. Margolis. 2014. "Persistence of Mild to Moderate Atopic Dermatitis." *JAMA Dermatology* 150 (6): 593–600. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.10271.
- Martel, Britta C., Paola Lovato, Wolfgang Bäumer, and Thierry Olivry. 2017. "Translational Animal Models of Atopic Dermatitis for Preclinical Studies." *Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*. Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine. /pmc/articles/PMC5612183/.
- Martinez-Gonzalez, Itziar, Catherine A. Steer, and Fumio Takei. 2015. "Lung ILC2s Link Innate and Adaptive Responses in Allergic Inflammation." *Trends in Immunology*. Trends Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2015.01.005.
- Masson, D, M. G. Denis, M Denis, D Blanchard, M J Loirat, E Cassagnau, and P Lustenberger. 1999. "Soluble CD44: Quantification and Molecular Repartition in Plasma of Patients with Colorectal Cancer." *British Journal of Cancer* 80 (12): 1995–2000. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.bjc.6690633.
- McCartney-Francis, N. L., and S. M. Wahl. 1994. "Transforming Growth Factor β: A Matter of Life and Death." *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. J Leukoc Biol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jlb.55.3.401.
- Miyake, Yoshihiro, Shinichi Hitsumoto, Keiko Tanaka, and Masashi Arakawa. 2015. "Association Between TSLP Polymorphisms and Eczema in Japanese Women: The Kyushu Okinawa Maternal and Child Health Study." *Inflammation* 38 (4): 1663–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10753-015-0143-z.
- Moffatt, Miriam F., Ivo G. Gut, Florence Demenais, David P. Strachan, Emmanuelle Bouzigon, Simon Heath, Erika von Mutius, Martin Farrall, Mark Lathrop, and William O.C.M. Cookson. 2010. "A Large-Scale, Consortium-Based Genomewide Association Study of Asthma." *New England Journal of Medicine* 363 (13): 1211–21. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa0906312.
- Moir, Lyn M., Janette K. Burgess, and Judith L. Black. 2008. "Transforming Growth Factor B1 Increases Fibronectin Deposition through Integrin Receptor A5β1 on Human Airway Smooth Muscle." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 121 (4). https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaci.2007.12.1159.
- Molet, Sophie, Qutayba Hamid, Francis Davoine, Esra Nutku, Rame Taha, Nathalie Pagé, Ron Olivenstein, Jack Elias, and Jamila Chakir. 2001. "IL-17 Is Increased in Asthmatic Airways and Induces Human Bronchial Fibroblasts to Produce Cytokines." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 108 (3): 430–38. https://doi.org/10.1067/mai.2001.117929.
- Molofsky, Ari B., Adam K. Savage, and Richard M. Locksley. 2015. "Interleukin-33 in Tissue Homeostasis, Injury, and Inflammation." *Immunity*. Immunity. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.immuni.2015.06.006.

- Moltke, Jakob Von, Ming Ji, Hong Erh Liang, and Richard M. Locksley. 2016. "Tuft-Cell-Derived IL-25 Regulates an Intestinal ILC2-Epithelial Response Circuit." *Nature* 529 (7585): 221–25. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16161.
- Moon, Phil Dong, In Hwa Choi, and Hyung Min Kim. 2011. "Naringenin Suppresses the Production of Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin through the Blockade of RIP2 and Caspase-1 Signal Cascade in Mast Cells." *European Journal of Pharmacology* 671 (1–3): 128–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2011.09.163.
- Morgan, Wayne J., Debra A. Stern, Duane L. Sherrill, Stefano Guerra, Catharine J. Holberg, Theresa W. Guilbert, Lynn M. Taussig, Anne L. Wright, and Fernando D. Martinez. 2005. "Outcome of Asthma and Wheezing in the First 6 Years of Life Follow-up through Adolescence." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 172 (10): 1253– 58. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200504-525OC.
- Moses, Harold L., and Rosa Serra. 1996. "Regulation of Differentiation by TGF-β." *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* 6 (5): 581–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-437X(96)80087-6.
- Naba, Alexandra, Karl R. Clauser, Huiming Ding, Charles A. Whittaker, Steven A. Carr, and Richard O. Hynes. 2016. "The Extracellular Matrix: Tools and Insights for the 'Omics' Era." *Matrix Biology* 49 (January): 10–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MATBIO.2015.06.003.
- Nagano, Osamu, and Hideyuki Saya. 2004. "Mechanism and Biological Significance of CD44 Cleavage." Cancer Science. Cancer Sci. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2004.tb03179.x.
- Nakagawa, Ryusuke, Hideyuki Yoshida, Mayako Asakawa, Taiga Tamiya, Naoko Inoue, Rimpei Morita, Hiromasa Inoue, Atsuhito Nakao, and Akihiko Yoshimura. 2011. "Pyridone 6, a Pan-JAK Inhibitor, Ameliorates Allergic Skin Inflammation of NC/Nga Mice via Suppression of Th2 and Enhancement of Th17." *The Journal of Immunology* 187 (9): 4611–20. https://doi.org/ 10.4049/jimmunol.1100649.
- Nakao, Momoko, Makoto Sugaya, Naomi Takahashi, Sayaka Otobe, Rina Nakajima, Tomonori Oka, Miyoko Kabasawa, et al. 2016. "Increased Syndecan-4 Expression in Sera and Skin of Patients with Atopic Dermatitis." *Archives of Dermatological Research* 308 (9): 655–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00403-016-1683-2.
- Nakayamada, Shingo, Yuka Kanno, Hayato Takahashi, Dragana Jankovic, Kristina T. Lu, Thomas A. Johnson, Hong wei Sun, et al. 2011. "Early Th1 Cell Differentiation Is Marked by a Tfh Celllike Transition." *Immunity* 35 (6): 919–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.012.
- Naor, David, Ronit Vogt Sionov, and Dvorah Ish-Shalom. 1997. "CD44: Structure, Function, and Association with the Malignant Process." *Advances in Cancer Research*. Adv Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-230x(08)60101-3.
- Nascimento Pedrosa, Tatiana do, Evelyne De Vuyst, Abdallah Mound, Catherine Lambert de Rouvroit, Silvya Stuchi Maria-Engler, and Yves Poumay. 2017. "Methyl-β-Cyclodextrin Treatment Combined to Incubation with Interleukin-4 Reproduces Major Features of Atopic Dermatitis in a 3D-Culture Model." *Archives of Dermatological Research* 309 (1): 63–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00403-016-1699-7.
- Neill, Daniel R., See Heng Wong, Agustin Bellosi, Robin J. Flynn, Maria Daly, Theresa K.A. Langford, Christine Bucks, et al. 2010. "Nuocytes Represent a New Innate Effector Leukocyte That Mediates Type-2 Immunity." *Nature* 464 (7293): 1367–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature08900.
- Nials, Anthony T., and Sorif Uddin. 2008. "Mouse Models of Allergic Asthma: Acute and Chronic Allergen Challenge." *DMM Disease Models and Mechanisms* 1 (4–5): 213–20. https://doi.org/ 10.1242/dmm.000323.
- Nishi, Natsuko, Shuichi Yamamoto, Weilin Ou, Eriko Muro, Yukiko Inada, and Yuhei Hamasaki. 2008. "Enhanced CCL26 Production by IL-4 through IFN-γ-Induced Upregulation of Type 1 IL-4 Receptor in Keratinocytes." *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 376 (1): 234–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.08.136.
- Nograles, Kristine E., Lisa C. Zaba, Avner Shemer, Judilyn Fuentes-Duculan, Irma Cardinale, Toyoko Kikuchi, Michal Ramon, Reuven Bergman, James G. Krueger, and Emma Guttman-Yassky. 2009. "IL-22-Producing 'T22' T Cells Account for Upregulated IL-22 in Atopic Dermatitis despite Reduced IL-17-Producing TH17 T Cells." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 123 (6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.03.041.
- Noti, Mario, Brian S. Kim, Mark C. Siracusa, Gregory D. Rak, Masato Kubo, Amin E. Moghaddam, Quentin A. Sattentau, Michael R. Comeau, Jonathan M. Spergel, and David Artis. 2014. "Exposure to Food Allergens through Inflamed Skin Promotes Intestinal Food Allergy through the Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin-Basophil Axis." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 133 (5): 1390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2014.01.021.
- Noti, Mario, Elia D.Tait Wojno, Brian S. Kim, Mark C. Siracusa, Paul R. Giacomin, Meera G. Nair, Alain J. Benitez, et al. 2013. "Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin-Elicited Basophil Responses
Promote Eosinophilic Esophagitis." *Nature Medicine* 19 (8): 1005–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nm.3281.

- Novak, Natalija, Rudolf Valenta, Barbara Bohle, Sylvia Laffer, Jörg Haberstok, Stefan Kraft, and Thomas Bieber. 2004. "FccRI Engagement of Langerhans Cell-like Dendritic Cells and Inflammatory Dendritic Epidermal Cell-like Dendritic Cells Induces Chemotactic Signals and Different T-Cell Phenotypes in Vitro." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 113 (5): 949– 57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2004.02.005.
- Odhiambo, Joseph A., Hywel C. Williams, Tadd O. Clayton, Colin F. Robertson, M. Innes Asher, N. AÃ⁻t-Khaled, H. R. Anderson, et al. 2009. "Global Variations in Prevalence of Eczema Symptoms in Children from ISAAC Phase Three." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 124 (6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.10.009.
- Ohke, Masashi, Shinya Tada, Mikio Kataoka, Kiyoshi Matsuo, Makoto Nabe, and Mine Harada. 2001. "Plasma Fibrinectin in Asthmatic Patients and Its Relation to Asthma Attack.Pdf." *Acta Medica Okayama* 55 (2): 91–96.
- Ohke, Masashi, Shinya Tada, Makoto Nabe, Kiyoshi Matsuo, Mikio Kataoka, and Mine Harada. 2001. "The Role of Fibronectin in Bronchoalveolar Lavage Fluid of Asthmatic Patients." *Acta Medica Okayama* 55 (2): 83–89. https://doi.org/10.18926/AMO/32009.
- Olgart Höglund, C., F. de Blay, J. P. Oster, C. Duvernelle, O. Kassel, G. Pauli, and N. Frossard. 2002. "Nerve Growth Factor Levels and Localisation in Human Asthmatic Bronchi." *European Respiratory Journal* 20 (5): 1110–16. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.02.00205402.
- Olivry, Thierry, Douglas J. DeBoer, Claude Favrot, Hilary A. Jackson, Ralf S. Mueller, Tim Nuttall, and Pascal Prélaud. 2015. "Treatment of Canine Atopic Dermatitis: 2015 Updated Guidelines from the International Committee on Allergic Diseases of Animals (ICADA)." *BMC Veterinary Research*. BioMed Central. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-015-0514-6.
- Omori, Miyuki, and Steven Ziegler. 2007. "Induction of IL-4 Expression in CD4 + T Cells by Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin." *The Journal of Immunology* 178 (3): 1396–1404. https://doi.org/ 10.4049/jimmunol.178.3.1396.
- Oord, Rosanne a.H.M. Van Den, and Aziz Sheikh. 2009. "Filaggrin Gene Defects and Risk of Developing Allergic Sensitisation and Allergic Disorders: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." BMJ (Online) 339 (7712): 86–88. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b2433.
- Ordoñez, Claudia L., Ramin Khashayar, Hofer H. Wong, Ron Ferrando, Reen Wu, Dallas M. Hyde, Jon A. Hotchkiss, et al. 2001. "Mild and Moderate Asthma Is Associated with Airway Goblet Cell Hyperplasia and Abnormalities in Mucin Gene Expression." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 163 (2): 517–23. https://doi.org/10.1164/ ajrccm.163.2.2004039.
- Paller, Amy S., Jonathan M. Spergel, Paola Mina-Osorio, and Alan D. Irvine. 2019. "The Atopic March and Atopic Multimorbidity: Many Trajectories, Many Pathways." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 143 (1): 46–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2018.11.006.
- Palmer, Colin N.A., Alan D. Irvine, Ana Terron-Kwiatkowski, Yiwei Zhao, Haihui Liao, Simon P. Lee, David R. Goudie, et al. 2006. "Common Loss-of-Function Variants of the Epidermal Barrier Protein Filaggrin Are a Major Predisposing Factor for Atopic Dermatitis." *Nature Genetics* 38 (4): 441–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1767.
- Palmer, Colin N.A., Tahmina Ismail, Simon P. Lee, Ana Terron-Kwiatkowski, Yiwei Zhao, Haihui Liao, Frances J.D. Smith, W. H.Irwin McLean, and Somnath Mukhopadhyay. 2007. "Filaggrin Null Mutations Are Associated with Increased Asthma Severity in Children and Young Adults." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 120 (1): 64–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaci.2007.04.001.
- Pasch, Marcel C., Norbert H.A. Van Den Bosch, Mohamed R. Daha, Bos Jan D, and Syed S. Asghar. 2000. "Synthesis of Complement Components C3 and Factor B in Human Keratinocytes Is Differentially Regulated by Cytokines." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 114 (1): 78–82. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1747.2000.00841.x.
- Pasparakis, Manolis, Ingo Haase, and Frank O. Nestle. 2014. "Mechanisms Regulating Skin Immunity and Inflammation." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 14 (5): 289–301. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nri3646.
- Paternoster, Lavinia, Marie Standl, Chih-Mei Chen, Adaikalavan Ramasamy, Klaus Bonnelyke, Liesbeth Duijts, Manuel a. Ferreira, and Alexessander Couto Alves. 2012. "Meta-Analysis of Genome Wide Association Studies Identifies Three New Risk Loci for Atopic Dermatitis." *Nat Gen* 44 (2): 187–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.1017.META-ANALYSIS.
- Paternoster, Lavinia, Marie Standl, Johannes Waage, Hansjörg Baurecht, Melanie Hotze, David P. Strachan, John a. Curtin, et al. 2015. "Multi-Ancestry Genome-Wide Association Study of 21,000 Cases and 95,000 Controls Identifies New Risk Loci for Atopic Dermatitis." *Nature Genetics* 47 (12): 1449–56. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3424.

- Pecaric-Petkovic, Tatjana, Svetlana A. Didichenko, Sacha Kaempfer, Nicole Spiegl, and Clemens A. Dahinden. 2009. "Human Basophils and Eosinophils Are the Direct Target Leukocytes of the Novel IL-1 Family Member IL-33." *Blood* 113 (7): 1526–34. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-05-157818.
- Pendaries, V, M Le Lamer, L Cau, B Hansmann, J Malaisse, S Kezic, G Serre, and M Simon. 2015. "In a Three-Dimensional Reconstructed Human Epidermis Filaggrin-2 Is Essential for Proper Cornification." *Cell Death and Disease* 6 (2): e1656–e1656. https://doi.org/10.1038/ cddis.2015.29.
- Pendaries, Valérie, Jeremy Malaisse, Laurence Pellerin, Marina Le Lamer, Rachida Nachat, Sanja Kezic, Anne Marie Schmitt, et al. 2014. "Knockdown of Filaggrin in a Three-Dimensional Reconstructed Human Epidermis Impairs Keratinocyte Differentiation." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 134 (12): 2938–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.259.
- Pène, Jérôme, Sylvie Chevalier, Laurence Preisser, Emilie Vénéreau, Marie-Hélène Guilleux, Soufiane Ghannam, Jean-Pierre Molès, et al. 2008. "Chronically Inflamed Human Tissues Are Infiltrated by Highly Differentiated Th17 Lymphocytes." *The Journal of Immunology* 180 (11): 7423–30. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.180.11.7423.
- Pennino, Davide, Pankaj K. Bhavsar, Renate Effner, Simona Avitabile, Pascal Venn, Maria Quaranta, Viviana Marzaioli, et al. 2013. "IL-22 Suppresses IFN-γ-Mediated Lung Inflammation in Asthmatic Patients." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 131 (2): 562–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2012.09.036.
- Pernet, I., C. Reymermier, A. Guezennec, J. E. Branka, J. Guesnet, E. Perrier, C. Dezutter-Dambuyant, D. Schmitt, and J. Viac. 2003. "Calcium Triggers β-Defensin (HBD-2 and HBD-3) and Chemokine Macrophage Inflammatory Protein-3α (MIP-3α/CCL20) Expression in Monolayers of Activated Human Keratinocytes." *Experimental Dermatology* 12 (6): 755–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0906-6705.2003.00086.x.
- Perrin, Steve. 2014. "Make Mouse Studies Work." Nature. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/507423a.
- Pfisterer, Karin, Lisa E. Shaw, Dörte Symmank, and Wolfgang Weninger. 2021. "The Extracellular Matrix in Skin Inflammation and Infection." *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*. Frontiers. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.682414.
- Phelan, Peter D., Colin F. Robertson, and Anthony Olinsky. 2002. "The Melbourne Asthma Study: 1964-1999." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 109 (2): 189–94. https://doi.org/ 10.1067/mai.2002.120951.
- Piazza, Matteo Di, Craig S. Nowell, Ute Koch, André Dante Durham, and Freddy Radtke. 2012. "Loss of Cutaneous TSLP-Dependent Immune Responses Skews the Balance of Inflammation from Tumor Protective to Tumor Promoting." *Cancer Cell* 22 (4): 479–93. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.08.016.
- Polte, Tobias, Susanne Petzold, Jessica Bertrand, Nicole Schütze, Denise Hinz, Jan C. Simon, Irina Lehmann, Frank Echtermeyer, Thomas Pap, and Marco Averbeck. 2015. "Critical Role for Syndecan-4 in Dendritic Cell Migration during Development of Allergic Airway Inflammation." *Nature Communications* 6 (May): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8554.
- Ponta, Helmut, Larry Sherman, and Peter A. Herrlich. 2003. "CD44: From Adhesion Molecules to Signalling Regulators." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1004.
- Prasad, Vinay, and Sham Mailankody. 2017. "Research and Development Spending to Bring a Single Cancer Drug to Market and Revenues after Approval." *JAMA Internal Medicine* 177 (11): 1569–75. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.3601.
- Prassas, Ioannis, Azza Eissa, Gennadiy Poda, and Eleftherios P. Diamandis. 2015. "Unleashing the Therapeutic Potential of Human Kallikrein-Related Serine Proteases." *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4534.
- Puddicombe, S. M. 2000. "Involvement of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor in Epithelial Repair in Asthma." *The FASEB Journal* 14 (10): 1362–74. https://doi.org/10.1096/ fj.14.10.1362.
- Puddicombe, Sarah M., Carlos Torres-Lozano, Audrey Richter, Fabio Bucchieri, James L. Lordan, Peter H. Howarth, Bart Vrugt, et al. 2003. "Increased Expression of P21waf Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor in Asthmatic Bronchial Epithelium." *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 28 (1): 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.4715.
- Purwar, Rahul, Wolfgang Bäumer, Margarete Niebuhr, Thomas Tschernig, Manfred Kietzmann, and Thomas Werfel. 2011. "A Protective Role of Complement Component 3 in T Cell-Mediated Skin Inflammation." *Experimental Dermatology* 20 (9): 709–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1600-0625.2011.01295.x.
- Rancé, Fabienne. 2008. "Food Allergy in Children Suffering from Atopic Eczema." *Pediatric Allergy* and Immunology 19 (3): 279–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3038.2008.00719.x.

- Rawlings, a. V., and Clive R. Harding. 2004. "Moisturization and Skin Barrier Function." *Dermatologic Therapy* 17 (1): 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1396-0296.2004.04s1005.x.
- Reader, J. Rachel, Jeffrey S. Tepper, Edward S. Schelegle, Melinda C. Aldrich, Lei F. Putney, Juergen W. Pfeiffer, and Dallas M. Hyde. 2003. "Pathogenesis of Mucous Cell Metaplasia in a Murine Asthma Model." *American Journal of Pathology* 162 (6): 2069–78. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64338-6.
- Reche, Pedro A., Vassili Soumelis, Daniel M. Gorman, Teresa Clifford, Man-ru Liu, Marilyn Travis, Sandra M. Zurawski, et al. 2001. "Human Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Preferentially Stimulates Myeloid Cells." *The Journal of Immunology* 167 (1): 336–43. https://doi.org/ 10.4049/jimmunol.167.1.336.
- Reiner, Orly, Tamar Sapir, and Arpan Parichha. 2021. "Using Multi-Organ Culture Systems to Study Parkinson's Disease." *Molecular Psychiatry* 26 (3): 725–35. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41380-020-00936-8.
- Rhodes, Helen L., Richard Sporik, Peter Thomas, Stephen T. Holgate, and Jeremy J. Cogswell. 2001. "Early Life Risk Factors for Adult Asthma: A Birth Cohort Study of Subjects at Risk." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 108 (5): 720–25. https://doi.org/10.1067/ mai.2001.119151.
- Rhodes, Helen L., Peter Thomas, Richard Sporik, Stephen T. Holgate, and Jeremy J. Cogswell. 2002. "A Birth Cohort Study of Subjects at Risk of Atopy: Twenty-Two-Year Follow-up of Wheeze and Atopic Status." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 165 (2): 176–80. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.165.2.2104032.
- Rickel, Erika A., Lori A. Siegel, Bo-Rin Park Yoon, James B. Rottman, David G. Kugler, David A. Swart, Penny M. Anders, Joel E. Tocker, Michael R. Comeau, and Alison L. Budelsky. 2008.
 "Identification of Functional Roles for Both IL-17RB and IL-17RA in Mediating IL-25-Induced Activities." *The Journal of Immunology* 181 (6): 4299–4310. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.181.6.4299.
- Ristamäki, Raija, Heikki Joensuu, Kimmo Lappalainen, Lasse Teerenhovi, and Sirpa Jalkanen. 1997. "Elevated Serum CD44 Level Is Associated with Unfavorable Outcome in Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma." *Blood* 90 (10): 4039–45. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v90.10.4039.
- Robinson, Douglas S., Qutayba Hamid, Sun Ying, Anne Tsicopoulos, Julia Barkans, Andrew M. Bentley, Christopher Corrigan, Stephen R. Durham, and A. Barry Kay. 1992. "Predominant T H2 -like Bronchoalveolar T-Lymphocyte Population in Atopic Asthma." *New England Journal* of Medicine 326 (5): 298–304. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199201303260504.
- Roche, William R., Julie H. Williams, Richard Beasley, and Stephen T. Holgate. 1989. "SUBEPITHELIAL FIBROSIS IN THE BRONCHI OF ASTHMATICS." *The Lancet* 333 (8637): 520–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(89)90067-6.
- Rochman, Irina, Norihiko Watanabe, Kazuhiko Arima, Yong-Jun Liu, and Warren J. Leonard. 2007. "Cutting Edge: Direct Action of Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin on Activated Human CD4 + T Cells." *The Journal of Immunology* 178 (11): 6720–24. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.178.11.6720.
- Rose, Mary Callaghan, and Judith A. Voynow. 2006. "Respiratory Tract Mucin Genes and Mucin Glycoproteins in Health and Disease." *Physiological Reviews*. Physiol Rev. https://doi.org/ 10.1152/physrev.00010.2005.
- Rosenberg, Helene F., Simon Phipps, and Paul S. Foster. 2007. "Eosinophil Trafficking in Allergy and Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. J Allergy Clin Immunol. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2007.03.048.
- Rothenberg, Marc E., Jonathan M. Spergel, Joseph D. Sherrill, Kiran Annaiah, Lisa J. Martin, Antonella Cianferoni, Laura Gober, et al. 2010. "Common Variants at 5q22 Associate with Pediatric Eosinophilic Esophagitis." *Nature Genetics* 42 (4): 289–91. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ng.547.
- Rouaud-Tinguely, P., D. Boudier, L. Marchand, V. Barruche, S. Bordes, H. Coppin, M. P. Roth, and B. Closs. 2015. "From the Morphological to the Transcriptomic Characterization of a Compromised Three-Dimensional in Vitro Model Mimicking Atopic Dermatitis." *British Journal* of Dermatology 173 (4): 1006–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.14012.
- Sabat, Robert, Wenjun Ouyang, and Kerstin Wolk. 2014. "Therapeutic Opportunities of the IL-22-IL-22R1 System." *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrd4176.
- Saenz, Steven A., Mark C. Siracusa, Jacqueline G. Perrigoue, Sean P. Spencer, Joseph F. Urban, Joel E. Tocker, Alison L. Budelsky, et al. 2010. "IL25 Elicits a Multipotent Progenitor Cell Population That Promotes T H 2 Cytokine Responses." *Nature* 464 (7293): 1362–66. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature08901.
- Sah, Shyam Kishor, Gaurav Agrahari, Cuong Thach Nguyen, Yeon Soo Kim, Kyung Sun Kang, and Tae Yoon Kim. 2018. "Enhanced Therapeutic Effects of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Transduced with Superoxide Dismutase 3 in a Murine Atopic Dermatitis-like Skin Inflammation Model." *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 73 (12): 2364–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/all.13594.

- Salimi, Maryam, Jillian L. Barlow, Sean P. Saunders, Luzheng Xue, Danuta Gutowska-Owsiak, Xinwen Wang, Li Chieh Huang, et al. 2013. "A Role for IL-25 and IL-33-Driven Type-2 Innate Lymphoid Cells in Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 210 (13): 2939–50. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20130351.
- Samarel, Allen M. 2008. "Syndecan-4: A Component of the Mechanosensory Apparatus of Cardiac Fibroblasts." *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 23 (1): 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.371.
- Samochocki, Zbigniew, Jarosław Bogaczewicz, Anna Sysa-Jedrzejowska, Daniel P. Mccauliffe, Ewa Kontny, and Anna Wozniacka. 2016. "Expression of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Other Cytokines in Atopic Dermatitis, and Correlation with Clinical Features." *International Journal of Dermatology* 55 (3): e141–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijd.13132.
- Sandilands, Aileen, Calum Sutherland, Alan D. Irvine, and W. H.Irwin McLean. 2009. "Filaggrin in the Frontline: Role in Skin Barrier Function and Disease." *Journal of Cell Science* 122 (9): 1285–94. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.033969.
- Sandilands, Aileen, Ana Terron-Kwiatkowski, Peter R. Hull, Gráinne M. O'Regan, Timothy H. Clayton, Rosemarie M. Watson, Thomas Carrick, et al. 2007. "Comprehensive Analysis of the Gene Encoding Filaggrin Uncovers Prevalent and Rare Mutations in Ichthyosis Vulgaris and Atopic Eczema." *Nature Genetics* 39 (5): 650–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng2020.
- Sargiannidou, Irene, Cuie Qiu, and George P. Tuszynski. 2004. "Mechanisms of Thrombospondin-1-Mediated Metastasis and Angiogenesis." *Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis*. Semin Thromb Hemost. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-822977.
- Sasaki, Takashi, Aiko Shiohama, Akiharu Kubo, Hiroshi Kawasaki, Akemi Ishida-Yamamoto, Taketo Yamada, Takayuki Hachiya, et al. 2013. "A Homozygous Nonsense Mutation in the Gene for Tmem79, a Component for the Lamellar Granule Secretory System, Produces Spontaneous Eczema in an Experimental Model of Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 132 (5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.08.027.
- Saude, Erik J., Christopher D. Skappak, Shana Regush, Kim Cook, Amos Ben-Zvi, Allan Becker, Redwan Moqbel, Brian D. Sykes, Brian H. Rowe, and Darryl J. Adamko. 2011. "Metabolomic Profiling of Asthma: Diagnostic Utility of Urine Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 127 (3): 757-764.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaci.2010.12.1077.
- Savenije, Olga E., Jestinah M. Mahachie John, Raquel Granell, Marjan Kerkhof, F. Nicole Dijk, Johan C. De Jongste, Henriëtte A. Smit, et al. 2014. "Association of IL33-IL-1 Receptor-like 1 (IL1RL1) Pathway Polymorphisms with Wheezing Phenotypes and Asthma in Childhood." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 134 (1): 170–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaci.2013.12.1080.
- Savinko, Terhi, Piia Karisola, Sari Lehtimäki, Anna Mari Lappeteläinen, Rita Haapakoski, Henrik Wolff, Antti Lauerma, and Harri Alenius. 2013. "ST2 Regulates Allergic Airway Inflammation and T-Cell Polarization in Epicutaneously Sensitized Mice." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 133 (11): 2522–29. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2013.195.
- Savinko, Terhi, Sampsa Matikainen, Ulpu Saarialho-Kere, Maili Lehto, Guoying Wang, Sari Lehtimäki, Piia Karisola, et al. 2012. "IL-33 and ST2 in Atopic Dermatitis: Expression Profiles and Modulation by Triggering Factors." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 132 (5): 1392–1400. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2011.446.
- Sawada, Eri, Naoki Yoshida, Ayumi Sugiura, and Genji Imokawa. 2012. "Th1 Cytokines Accentuate but Th2 Cytokines Attenuate Ceramide Production in the Stratum Corneum of Human Epidermal Equivalents: An Implication for the Disrupted Barrier Mechanism in Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Dermatological Science* 68 (1): 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jdermsci.2012.07.004.
- Schiering, Chris, Thomas Krausgruber, Agnieszka Chomka, Anja Fröhlich, Krista Adelmann, Elizabeth A. Wohlfert, Johanna Pott, et al. 2014. "The Alarmin IL-33 Promotes Regulatory T-Cell Function in the Intestine." *Nature* 513 (7519): 564–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature13577.
- Schimek, Katharina, Stefan Frentzel, Karsta Luettich, David Bovard, Isabel Rütschle, Laura Boden, Felix Rambo, et al. 2020. "Human Multi-Organ Chip Co-Culture of Bronchial Lung Culture and Liver Spheroids for Substance Exposure Studies." *Scientific Reports* 10 (1): 1–13. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-64219-6.
- Schmitt, Jochen, Christian Apfelbacher, Phyllis I. Spuls, Kim S. Thomas, Eric L. Simpson, Masutaka Furue, Joanne Chalmers, and Hywel C. Williams. 2015. "The Harmonizing Outcome Measures for Eczema (HOME) Roadmap: A Methodological Framework to Develop

Core Sets of Outcome Measurements in Dermatology." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 135 (1): 24–30. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.320.

- Schuijs, Martijn J., Monique A. Willart, Karl Vergote, Delphine Gras, Kim Deswarte, Markus J. Ege, Filipe Branco Madeira, et al. 2015. "Farm Dust and Endotoxin Protect against Allergy through A20 Induction in Lung Epithelial Cells." *Science* 349 (6252): 1106–10. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.aac6623.
- Schuttelaar, M. L.a., M. Kerkhof, M. F. Jonkman, G. H. Koppelman, B. Brunekreef, J. C. De Jongste, a. Wijga, W. H.I. McLean, and D. S. Postma. 2009. "Filaggrin Mutations in the Onset of Eczema, Sensitization, Asthma, Hay Fever and the Interaction with Cat Exposure." *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 64 (12): 1758–65. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2009.02080.x.
- Scieglinska, Dorota, Zdzisław Krawczyk, Damian Robert Sojka, and Agnieszka Gogler-Pigłowska. 2019. "Heat Shock Proteins in the Physiology and Pathophysiology of Epidermal Keratinocytes." *Cell Stress and Chaperones*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12192-019-01044-5.
- Sel, Serdar, Michael Wegmann, Sarper Sel, Stefan Bauer, Holger Garn, Gottfried Alber, and Harald Renz. 2007. "Immunomodulatory Effects of Viral TLR Ligands on Experimental Asthma Depend on the Additive Effects of IL-12 and IL-10." *The Journal of Immunology* 178 (12): 7805–13. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.12.7805.
- Sellers, R. S., C. B. Clifford, P. M. Treuting, and C. Brayton. 2012. "Immunological Variation between Inbred Laboratory Mouse Strains: Points to Consider in Phenotyping Genetically Immunomodified Mice." Veterinary Pathology 49 (1): 32–43. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0300985811429314.
- Seltmann, Jenny, Lennart M. Roesner, Friedrich Wilhelm Von Hesler, Miriam Wittmann, and Thomas Werfel. 2015. "IL-33 Impacts on the Skin Barrier by Downregulating the Expression of Filaggrin." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 135 (6): 1659-1661.e4. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2015.01.048.
- Shapiro, Steven D. 2008. "The Use of Transgenic Mice for Modeling Airways Disease." *Pulmonary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 21 (5): 699–701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pupt.2008.01.006.
- Sherrill, Joseph D., Pei Song Gao, Emily M. Stucke, Carine Blanchard, Margaret H. Collins, Phil E. Putnam, James P. Franciosi, et al. 2010. "Variants of Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin and Its Receptor Associate with Eosinophilic Esophagitis." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 126 (1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2010.04.037.
- Shi, Guang, Jun Wei Zhao, Xiao Xu Sun, Jun Fen Ma, Pan Wang, Fu Cheng He, and Liang Ming. 2018. "TIPE2 Is Negatively Correlated with Tissue Factor and Thrombospondin-1 Expression in Patients with Bronchial Asthma." *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine* 15 (4): 3449–54. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2018.5870.
- Shikotra, Aarti, David F. Choy, Chandra M. Ohri, Emma Doran, Claire Butler, Beverley Hargadon, Maria Shelley, et al. 2012. "Increased Expression of Immunoreactive Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin in Patients with Severe Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 129 (1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2011.08.031.
- Shimbara, Ayako, Pota Christodoulopoulos, Abdelilah Soussi-Gounni, Ronald Olivenstein, Yutaka Nakamura, Roy C. Levitt, Nicholas C. Nicolaides, et al. 2000. "IL-9 and Its Receptor in Allergic and Nonallergic Lung Disease: Increased Expression in Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 105 (1 I): 108–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-6749(00)90185-4.
- Shimizu, Makiko, Akira Matsuda, Ken Yanagisawa, Tomomitsu Hirota, Mitsuteru Akahoshi, Naoko Inomata, Kouji Ebe, et al. 2005. "Functional SNPs in the Distal Promoter of the ST2 Gene Are Associated with Atopic Dermatitis." *Human Molecular Genetics* 14 (19): 2919–27. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddi323.
- Shimizu, Takeshi, Yukimitsu Takahashi, Shinya Kawaguchi, and Yasuo Sakakura. 1996. "Hypertrophic and Metaplastic Changes of Goblet Cells in Rat Nasal Epithelium Induced by Endotoxin." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 153 (4): 1412–18. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.153.4.8616574.
- Shimshoni, Elee, Idan Adir, Ran Afik, Inna Solomonov, Anjana Shenoy, Miri Adler, Luca Puricelli, et al. 2021. "Distinct Extracellular-Matrix Remodeling Events Precede Symptoms of Inflammation." *Matrix Biology* 96 (February): 47–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.matbio.2020.11.001.
- Sicherer, Scott H., and Donald Y.M. Leung. 2012. "Advances in Allergic Skin Disease, Anaphylaxis, and Hypersensitivity Reactions to Foods, Drugs, and Insects in 2011." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 129 (1): 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2011.11.016.
- Somanunt, Sinjira, Sasawan Chinratanapisit, Punchama Pacharn, Nualanong Visitsunthorn, and Orathai Jirapongsananuruk. 2017. "The Natural History of Atopic Dermatitis and Its

Association with Atopic March." Asian Pacific Journal of Allergy and Immunology 35 (3): 137–43. https://doi.org/10.12932/AP0825.

- Son, Eui Dong, Hyoung June Kim, Taehun Park, Kyeho Shin, II Hong Bae, Kyung Min Lim, Eun Gyung Cho, and Tae Ryong Lee. 2014. "Staphylococcus Aureus Inhibits Terminal Differentiation of Normal Human Keratinocytes by Stimulating Interleukin-6 Secretion." *Journal of Dermatological Science* 74 (1): 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdermsci.2013.12.004.
- Sottile, Jane, Jane Selegue, and Deane F. Mosher. 1991. "Synthesis of Truncated Amino-Terminal Trimers of Thrombospondin." *Biochemistry* 30 (26): 6556–62. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00240a028.
- Soumelis, Vassili, Pedro a. Reche, Holger Kanzler, Wei Yuan, Gina Edward, Bernhart Homey, Michel Gilliet, Steve Ho, Svetlana Antonenko, Annti Lauerma, Kathleen Smith, Daniel Gorman, Sandra Zurawski, Jon Abrams, Satish Menon, Terri McClanahan, Rene De Waal-Malefyt, et al. 2002. "Human Epithelial Cells Trigger Dendritic Cell–Mediated Allergic Inflammation by Producing TSLP." *Nature Immunology* 3 (7): 673–80. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ni805.
- Soumelis, Vassili, Pedro A. Reche, Holger Kanzler, Wei Yuan, Gina Edward, Bernhart Homey, Michel Gilliet, Steve Ho, Svetlana Antonenko, Annti Lauerma, Kathleen Smith, Daniel Gorman, Sandra Zurawski, Jon Abrams, Satish Menon, Terri McClanahan, Rene De Waal-Malefyt, et al. 2002. "Human Epithelial Cells Trigger Dendritic Cell-Mediated Allergic Inflammation by Producing TSLP." *Nature Immunology* 3 (7): 673–80. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ni805.
- Spergel, Jonathan M. 2005. "Atopic March: Link to Upper Airways." *Current Opinion in Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/00130832-200502000-00005.
- Spergel, Jonathan M, Emiko Mizoguchi, Joanne P Brewer, Thomas R Martin, Atul K Bhan, and Raif S Geha. 1998. "Epicutaneous Sensitization with Protein Antigen Induces Localized Allergic Dermatitis and Hyperresponsiveness to Methacholine after Single Exposure to Aerosolized Antigen in Mice." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 101 (8): 1614–22. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI1647.
- Sporik, Richard, Stephen T. Holgate, Thomas A.E. Platts-Mills, and Jeremy J. Cogswell. 1990. "Exposure to House-Dust Mite Allergen (Der p I) and the Development of Asthma in Childhood." *New England Journal of Medicine* 323 (8): 502–7. https://doi.org/10.1056/ nejm199008233230802.
- Stamenkovic, Ivan, and Qin Yu. 2009. "Shedding Light on Proteolytic Cleavage of CD44: The Responsible Sheddase and Functional Significance of Shedding." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. J Invest Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2009.13.
- Stefano, A. Di, G. Caramori, T. Oates, A. Capelli, M. Lusuardi, I. Gnemmi, F. Ioli, et al. 2002. "Increased Expression of Nuclear Factor-KB in Bronchial Biopsies from Smokers and Patients with COPD." *European Respiratory Journal* 20 (3): 556–63. https://doi.org/ 10.1183/09031936.02.00272002.
- Stein, Michelle M., Cara L. Hrusch, Justyna Gozdz, Catherine Igartua, Vadim Pivniouk, Sean E. Murray, Julie G. Ledford, et al. 2016. "Innate Immunity and Asthma Risk in Amish and Hutterite Farm Children." *New England Journal of Medicine* 375 (5): 411–21. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/nejmoa1508749.
- Sterk, P. J. 1993. "Bronchial Hyperresponsiveness Today." *Respiratory Medicine* 87 (August): 27–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0954-6111(06)80350-1.
- Stevens, W., E. Addo-Yobo, J. Roper, A. Woodcock, H. James, T. Platts-Mills, and A. Custovic. 2011. "Differences in Both Prevalence and Titre of Specific Immunoglobulin E among Children with Asthma in Affluent and Poor Communities within a Large Town in Ghana." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 41 (11): 1587–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2222.2011.03832.x.
- Stolarski, Bartosz, Mariola Kurowska-Stolarska, Peter Kewin, Damo Xu, and Foo Y. Liew. 2010. "IL-33 Exacerbates Eosinophil-Mediated Airway Inflammation." *The Journal of Immunology* 185 (6): 3472–80. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1000730.
- Stone, Kelly D., Calman Prussin, and Dean D. Metcalfe. 2010. "IgE, Mast Cells, Basophils, and Eosinophils." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 125 (2 SUPPL. 2). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.11.017.
- Strachan, D. P. 1989. "Hay Fever, Hygiene, and Household Size." *British Medical Journal* 299 (6710): 1259–60. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.299.6710.1259.
- Su, Chuanli, Tao Yang, Zhihong Wu, Jiang Zhong, Yunshu Huang, Tao Huang, and Enjin Zheng. 2017. "Differentiation of T-Helper Cells in Distinct Phases of Atopic Dermatitis Involves Th1/ Th2 and Th17/Treg." *European Journal of Inflammation* 15 (1): 46–52. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1721727X17703271.

- Su, Kimmy G., Costanza Savino, Gail Marracci, Priya Chaudhary, Xiaolin Yu, Brooke Morris, Danielle Galipeau, Marco Giorgio, Michael Forte, and Dennis Bourdette. 2012. "Genetic Inactivation of the P66 Isoform of ShcA Is Neuroprotective in a Murine Model of Multiple Sclerosis." *European Journal of Neuroscience* 35 (3–4): 562–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1460-9568.2011.07972.x.
- Sugahara, Kazuki N., Takako Hirata, Toshiyuki Tanaka, Shinji Ogino, Mitsuhiro Takeda, Hiroaki Terasawa, Ichio Shimada, et al. 2008. "Chondroitin Sulfate E Fragments Enhance CD44 Cleavage and CD44-Dependent Motility in Tumor Cells." *Cancer Research* 68 (17): 7191–99. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6198.
- Sumimoto, S, M Kawai, Y Kasajima, and T Hamamoto. 1992. "Increased Plasma Tumour Necrosis Factor-α Concentration in Atopic Dermatitis." *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 67 (3): 277–79. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.67.3.277.
- Sun, Liang Dan, Feng Li Xiao, Yang Li, Wen Ming Zhou, Hua Yang Tang, Xian Fa Tang, Hui Zhang, et al. 2011. "Genome-Wide Association Study Identifies Two New Susceptibility Loci for Atopic Dermatitis in the Chinese Han Population." In *Nature Genetics*, 43:690–94. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ng.851.
- Suzukawa, Maho, Motoyasu likura, Rikiya Koketsu, Hiroyuki Nagase, Chise Tamura, Akiko Komiya, Susumu Nakae, et al. 2008. "An IL-1 Cytokine Member, IL-33, Induces Human Basophil Activation via Its ST2 Receptor." *The Journal of Immunology* 181 (9): 5981–89. https://doi.org/ 10.4049/jimmunol.181.9.5981.
- Szefler, Stanley J. 2015. "Advances in Pediatric Asthma in 2014: Moving toward a Population Health Perspective." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.12.1921.
- Szegedi, Krisztina, Andreas E. Kremer, Sanja Kezic, Marcel B.M. Teunissen, Jan D. Bos, Rosalie M. Luiten, Pieter C. Res, and Maritza A. Middelkamp-Hup. 2012. "Increased Frequencies of IL-31-Producing T Cells Are Found in Chronic Atopic Dermatitis Skin." *Experimental Dermatology* 21 (6): 431–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.2012.01487.x.
- Tait Wojno, Elia D., and David Artis. 2016. "Emerging Concepts and Future Challenges in Innate Lymphoid Cell Biology." *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. J Exp Med. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20160525.
- Takeyama, Kiyoshi, Karim Dabbagh, Heung Man Lee, Carlos Agustí, James A. Lausier, Iris F. Ueki, Kathleen M. Grattan, and Jay A. Nadel. 1999. "Epidermal Growth Factor System Regulates Mucin Production in Airways." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 96 (6): 3081–86. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.6.3081.
- Takeyama, Kiyoshi, John V. Fahy, and Jay A. Nadel. 2001. "Relationship of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptors to Goblet Cell Production in Human Bronchi." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 163 (2): 511–16. https://doi.org/10.1164/ ajrccm.163.2.2001038.
- Takhar, Pooja, Christopher J. Corrigan, Lyn Smurthwaite, Brian J. O'Connor, Stephen R. Durham, Tak H. Lee, and Hannah J. Gould. 2007. "Class Switch Recombination to IgE in the Bronchial Mucosa of Atopic and Nonatopic Patients with Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 119 (1): 213–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2006.09.045.
- Takhar, Pooja, Lyn Smurthwaite, Heather A. Coker, David J. Fear, Graham K. Banfield, Victoria A. Carr, Stephen R. Durham, and Hannah J. Gould. 2005. "Allergen Drives Class Switching to IgE in the Nasal Mucosa in Allergic Rhinitis." *The Journal of Immunology* 174 (8): 5024–32. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.174.8.5024.
- Takigawa, Nagio, Yoshihiko Segawa, Koichi Mandai, Ichiro Takata, and Nobukazu Fujimoto. 1997. "Serum CD44 Levels in Patients with Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer and Their Relationship with Clinicopathological Features." *Lung Cancer* 18 (2): 147–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0169-5002(97)00060-3.
- Tamachi, Tomohiro, Yuko Maezawa, Kei Ikeda, Shin ichiro Kagami, Masahiko Hatano, Yohei Seto, Akira Suto, et al. 2006. "IL-25 Enhances Allergic Airway Inflammation by Amplifying a T H2 Cell-Dependent Pathway in Mice." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 118 (3): 606– 14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2006.04.051.
- Taube, Christian, Christine Tertilt, Gabor Gyülveszi, Nina Dehzad, Katharina Kreymborg, Kristin Schneeweiss, Erich Michel, et al. 2011. "IL-22 Is Produced by Innate Lymphoid Cells and Limits Inflammation in Allergic Airway Disease." *PLoS ONE* 6 (7). https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0021799.
- To, Teresa, Sanja Stanojevic, Ginette Moores, Andrea S Gershon, Eric D Bateman, Alvaro A Cruz, and Louis Philippe Boulet. 2012. "Global Asthma Prevalence in Adults: Findings from the Cross-Sectional World Health Survey." *BMC Public Health*. BioMed Central. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2458-12-204.

- Tordesillas, Leticia, Ritobrata Goswami, Sara Benedé, Galina Grishina, David Dunkin, Kirsi M. Järvinen, Soheila J. Maleki, Hugh A. Sampson, and M. Cecilia Berin. 2014. "Skin Exposure Promotes a Th2-Dependent Sensitization to Peanut Allergens." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 124 (11): 4965–75. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI75660.
- Toshitani, Akito, John C. Ansel, Sai C. Chan, Shi Hua Li, and Jon M. Hanifin. 1993. "Increased Interleukin 6 Production by T Cells Derived from Patients with Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 100 (3): 299–304. https://doi.org/10.1111/1523-1747.ep12469875.
- Tran, Maxwell M., Diana L. Lefebvre, Christoffer Dharma, David Dai, Wendy Y.W. Lou, Padmaja Subbarao, Allan B. Becker, et al. 2018. "Predicting the Atopic March: Results from the Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development Study." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 141 (2): 601-607.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.024.
- Travaglini, Kyle J, Ahmad N Nabhan, Lolita Penland, Rahul Sinha, Astrid Gillich, Rene V Sit, Stephen Chang, et al. 2020. "A Molecular Cell Atlas of the Human Lung from Single-Cell RNA Sequencing." *Nature* 587 (7835): 619–25. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2922-4.
- Sequencing." *Nature* 587 (7835): 619–25. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2922-4. Traves, Suzanne, and Louise Donnelly. 2008. "Th17 Cells in Airway Diseases." *Current Molecular Medicine* 8 (5): 416–26. https://doi.org/10.2174/156652408785160998.
- Trifari, Sara, Charles D. Kaplan, Elise H. Tran, Natasha K. Crellin, and Hergen Spits. 2009. "Identification of a Human Helper T Cell Population That Has Abundant Production of Interleukin 22 and Is Distinct from TH-17, TH1 and TH2 Cells." *Nature Immunology* 10 (8): 864–71. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1770.
- Truyen, E., L. Coteur, E. Dilissen, L. Overbergh, L. J. Dupont, J. L. Ceuppens, and D. M.A. Bullens. 2006. "Evaluation of Airway Inflammation by Quantitative Th1/Th2 Cytokine MRNA Measurement in Sputum of Asthma Patients." *Thorax* 61 (3): 202–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/ thx.2005.052399.
- Tsakok, Teresa, Tom Marrs, Mahrose Mohsin, Susannah Baron, George Du Toit, Stephen Till, and Carsten Flohr. 2016. "Does Atopic Dermatitis Cause Food Allergy? A Systematic Review." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 137 (4): 1071–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaci.2015.10.049.
- Tworek, Damian, Steven G. Smith, Brittany M. Salter, Adrian J. Baatjes, Tara Scime, Rick Watson, Caitlin Obminski, Gail M. Gauvreau, and Paul M. O'Byrne. 2016. "IL-25 Receptor Expression on Airway Dendritic Cells after Allergen Challenge in Subjects with Asthma." *American Journal* of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 193 (9): 957–64. https://doi.org/10.1164/ rccm.201509-1751OC.
- Tyner, Jeffrey W., Edy Y. Kim, Kyotaro Ide, Mark R. Pelletier, William T. Roswit, Jeffrey D. Morton, John T. Battaile, et al. 2006. "Blocking Airway Mucous Cell Metaplasia by Inhibiting EGFR Antiapoptosis and IL-13 Transdifferentiation Signals." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 116 (2): 309–21. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI25167.
- Vannella, Kevin M., Thirumalai R. Ramalingam, Lee A. Borthwick, Luke Barron, Kevin M. Hart, Robert W. Thompson, Kristen N. Kindrachuk, et al. 2016. "Combinatorial Targeting of TSLP, IL-25, and IL-33 in Type 2 Cytokine-Driven Inflammation and Fibrosis." *Science Translational Medicine* 8 (337). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf1938.
- Venkataraman, Devasmitha, Nelís Šoto-Ramírez, Ramesh J. Kurukulaaratchy, John W. Holloway, Wilfried Karmaus, Susan L. Ewart, S. Hasan Arshad, and Mich Erlewyn-Lajeunesse. 2014. "Filaggrin Loss-of-Function Mutations Are Associated with Food Allergy in Childhood and Adolescence." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 134 (4): 876-882.e4. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.07.033.
- Villani, Axel P., Ana B. Pavel, Jianni Wu, Marie Fernandes, Catherine Maari, Etienne Saint-Cyr Proulx, Carolyn Jack, et al. 2021. "Vascular Inflammation in Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis Is Associated with Enhanced Th2 Response." *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/all.14859.
- Vos, Theo, Amanuel Alemu Abajobir, Cristiana Abbafati, Kaja M. Abbas, Kalkidan Hassen Abate, Foad Abd-Allah, Abdishakur M. Abdulle, et al. 2017. "Global, Regional, and National Incidence, Prevalence, and Years Lived with Disability for 328 Diseases and Injuries for 195 Countries, 1990-2016: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016." *The Lancet* 390 (10100): 1211–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32154-2.
- Wadonda-Kabondo, N., J. A.C. Sterne, J. Golding, C. T.C. Kennedy, C. B. Archer, and M. G.S. Dunnill. 2004. "Association of Parental Eczema, Hayfever, and Asthma with Atopic Dermatitis in Infancy: Birth Cohort Study." *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 89 (10): 917–21. https:// doi.org/10.1136/adc.2003.034033.
- Wadsworth, Sam J., D. D. Sin, and D. R. Dorscheid. 2011. "Clinical Update on the Use of Biomarkers of Airway Inflammation in the Management of Asthma." *Journal of Asthma and Allergy*. Dove Press. https://doi.org/10.2147/JAA.S15081.

- Wahn, U. 2000. "What Drives the Allergic March?" Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. Allergy. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1398-9995.2000.00111.x.
- Wallmeyer, Leonie, Kristina Dietert, Michaela Sochorová, Achim D. Gruber, Burkhard Kleuser, Kateřina Vávrová, and Sarah Hedtrich. 2017. "TSLP Is a Direct Trigger for T Cell Migration in Filaggrin-Deficient Skin Equivalents." *Scientific Reports* 7 (1): 774. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-017-00670-2.
- Walter, David M., Jennifer J. McIntire, Gerald Berry, Andrew N. J. McKenzie, Debra D. Donaldson, Rosemarie H. DeKruyff, and Dale T. Umetsu. 2001. "Critical Role for IL-13 in the Development of Allergen-Induced Airway Hyperreactivity." *The Journal of Immunology* 167 (8): 4668–75. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.167.8.4668.
- Wang, Ao Xue, and Ning Xu Landén. 2015. "New Insights into T Cells and Their Signature Cytokines in Atopic Dermatitis." *IUBMB Life*. IUBMB Life. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.1405.
- Wang, Dexiang, Wei Xiao, Dedong Ma, Yuke Zhang, Qin Wang, Chuan Wang, Xiuli Ji, et al. 2013. "A Survey of Asthma in Jinan." *Respirology* 18 (2): 313–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/ resp.12005.
- Wang, Yui Hsi, Pornpimon Angkasekwinai, Ning Lu, Kui Shin Voo, Kazuhiko Arima, Shino Hanabuchi, Andreas Hippe, et al. 2007. "IL-25 Augments Type 2 Immune Responses by Enhancing the Expansion and Functions of TSLP-DC-Activated Th2 Memory Cells." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 204 (8): 1837–47. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20070406.
- Watanabe, Norihiko, Shino Hanabuchi, Vassili Soumelis, Wei Yuan, Stephen Ho, Rene de Waal Malefyt, and Yong Jun Liu. 2004. "Human Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Promotes Dendritic Cell-Mediated CD4+ T Cell Homeostatic Expansion." *Nature Immunology* 5 (4): 426–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1048.
- Weidinger, Stephan, Maureen O'Sullivan, Thomas Illig, Hansjörg Baurecht, Martin Depner, Elke Rodriguez, Andreas Ruether, et al. 2008. "Filaggrin Mutations, Atopic Eczema, Hay Fever, and Asthma in Children." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 121 (5): 1203–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2008.02.014.
- Weidinger, Stephan, Saffron A.G. Willis-Owen, Yoichiro Kamatani, Hansjörg Baurecht, Nilesh Morar, Liming Liang, Pauline Edser, et al. 2013. "A Genome-Wide Association Study of Atopic Dermatitis Identifies Loci with Overlapping Effects on Asthma and Psoriasis." *Human Molecular Genetics* 22 (23): 4841–56. https://doi.org/10.1093/HMG/DDT317.
- Welsch, Katharina, Julia Holstein, Arian Laurence, and Kamran Ghoreschi. 2017. "Targeting JAK/ STAT Signalling in Inflammatory Skin Diseases with Small Molecule Inhibitors." *European Journal of Immunology*. Eur J Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201646680.
- Wenzel, Sally E. 2012. "Asthma Phenotypes: The Evolution from Clinical to Molecular Approaches." *Nature Medicine*. Nat Med. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2678.
- Wenzel, Sally, Darren Wilbraham, Rick Fuller, Elise Burmeister Getz, and Malinda Longphre. 2007. "Effect of an Interleukin-4 Variant on Late Phase Asthmatic Response to Allergen Challenge in Asthmatic Patients: Results of Two Phase 2a Studies." *Lancet* 370 (9596): 1422–31. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61600-6.
- WHO Global estimates. 2020. "Mortality and Global Health Estimates." Global Health Observatory.: World Health Organization. 2020. https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/mortality-andglobal-health-estimates.
- WHO Global surveillance. 2008. "Global Surveillance, Prevention and Control of Chronic Respiratory Diseases: A Comprehensive Approach." *Journal of Pharmacy Technology* 24 (2): 122–122. https://doi.org/10.1177/875512250802400215.
- Wills-Karp, Marsha. 2004. "Interleukin-13 in Asthma Pathogenesis." *Immunological Reviews*. Immunol Rev. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.00215.x.
- ——. 2007. "Complement Activation Pathways: A Bridge between Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses in Asthma." *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society* 4 (3): 247–51. https:// doi.org/10.1513/pats.200704-046AW.
- Wills-Karp, Marsha, Jackie Luyimbazi, Xueying Xu, Brian Schofield, Tamlyn Y. Neben, Christopher L. Karp, and Debra D. Donaldson. 1998. "Interleukin-13: Central Mediator of Allergic Asthma." *Science* 282 (5397): 2258–61. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5397.2258.
- Wonderen, K. E. Van, L. B. Van Der Mark, J. Mohrs, P. J.E. Bindels, W. M.C. Van Aalderen, and G. Ter Riet. 2010. "Different Definitions in Childhood Asthma: How Dependable Is the Dependent Variable?" *European Respiratory Journal* 36 (1): 48–56. https://doi.org/ 10.1183/09031936.00154409.
- Wouters, Olivier J., Martin McKee, and Jeroen Luyten. 2020. "Estimated Research and Development Investment Needed to Bring a New Medicine to Market, 2009-2018." *JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association*. JAMA. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.1166.

- Xia, Jianguo, Erin E, Gill, and Robert E.W. Hancock, 2015. "NetworkAnalyst for Statistical, Visual and Network-Based Meta-Analysis of Gene Expression Data." Nature Protocols 10 (6): 823-44. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2015.052.
- Xu, Damo, Woon Ling Chan, Bernard P. Leung, Fang Ping Huang, Rachel Wheeler, David Piedrafita, John H. Robinson, and Foo Y. Liew. 1998. "Selective Expression of a Stable Cell Surface Molecule on Type 2 but Not Type 1 Helper T Cells." Journal of Experimental Medicine 187 (5): 787-94. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.187.5.787.
- Xu, Jian, Samy Lamouille, and Rik Derynck. 2009. "TGF-B-Induced Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition." Cell Research. Cell Res. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2009.5.
- Yamasaki, Kenshi, and Richard L. Gallo. 2008. "Antimicrobial Peptides in Human Skin Disease." European Journal of Dermatology. Eur J Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1684/ejd.2008.0304.
- Yang, Jingxuan, Michael Meyer, Anna Katharina Müller, Friederike Böhm, Richard Grose, Tina Dauwalder, Francois Verrey, et al. 2010. "Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptors 1 and 2 in Keratinocytes Control the Epidermal Barrier and Cutaneous Homeostasis." Journal of Cell Biology 188 (6): 935-52. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200910126.
- Yang, Xuexian O., Bhanu P. Pappu, Roza Nurieva, Askar Akimzhanov, Hong Soon Kang, Yeonseok Chung, Li Ma, et al. 2008. "T Helper 17 Lineage Differentiation Is Programmed by Orphan Nuclear Receptors RORa and RORy." Immunity 28 (1): 29-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.immuni.2007.11.016.
- Ying, Sun, Brian O'Connor, Jonathan Ratoff, Qiu Meng, Cailong Fang, David Cousins, Guizhen Zhang, et al. 2008. "Expression and Cellular Provenance of Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin and Chemokines in Patients with Severe Asthma and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease." The Journal of Immunology 181 (4): 2790-98. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.181.4.2790.
- Ying, Sun, Brian O'Connor, Jonathan Ratoff, Qiu Meng, Kirsty Mallett, David Cousins, Douglas Robinson, et al. 2005. "Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Expression Is Increased in Asthmatic Airways and Correlates with Expression of Th2-Attracting Chemokines and Disease Severity. The Journal of Immunology 174 (12): 8183–90. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.174.12.8183.
- Yoo, Jane, Miyuki Omori, Dora Gyarmati, Baohua Zhou, Theingi Aye, Avery Brewer, Michael R. Comeau, Daniel J. Campbell, and Steven F. Ziegler. 2005. "Spontaneous Atopic Dermatitis in Mice Expressing an Inducible Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Transgene Specifically in the Skin." Journal of Experimental Medicine 202 (4): 541-49. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.20041503.
- Yunginger, J. W., C. E. Reed, E. J. O'Connell, L. J. Melton, W. M. O'Fallon, and M. D. Silverstein. 1992. "A Community-Based Study of the Epidemiology of Asthma: Incidence Rates, 1964-1983." American Review of Respiratory Disease 146 (4): 888-94. https://doi.org/ 10.1164/ajrccm/146.4.888.
- Zein, Joe G., and Serpil C. Erzurum. 2015. "Asthma Is Different in Women." Current Allergy and Asthma Reports. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11882-015-0528-v.
- Zhang, Keqin, Lianyu Shan, Muhammad Sahidu Rahman, Helmut Unruh, Andrew J. Halayko, and Abdelilah Soussi Gounni. 2007. "Constitutive and Inducible Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Expression in Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells: Role in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease." American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 293 (2). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00045.2007.
- Zhang, Xun, and Jörg Khl. 2010. "A Complex Role for Complement in Allergic Asthma." Expert Review of Clinical Immunology 6 (2): 269–77. https://doi.org/10.1586/eci.09.84.
- Zhang, Yufeng, Jianyi Li, Chohreh Partovian, Frank W. Sellke, and Michael Simons. 2003. Syndecan-4 Modulates Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor 2 Signaling in Vivo." American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology 284 (6 53-6). https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajpheart.00942.2001.
- Zhang, Zhikun, Pierre Hener, Nelly Frossard, Shigeaki Kato, Daniel Metzger, Mei Li, and Pierre Chambon. 2009. "Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Overproduced by Keratinocytes in Mouse Skin Aggravates Experimental Asthma." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106 (5): 1536–41. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0812668106.
- Zhou, Baohua, Michael R. Comeau, Thibaut De Smedt, H. Denny Liggitt, Martin E. Dahl, David B. Lewis, Dora Gyarmati, Theingi Aye, Daniel J. Campbell, and Steven F. Ziegler. 2005. "Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin as a Key Initiator of Allergic Airway Inflammation in Mice." Nature Immunology 6 (10): 1047–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1247. Ziegler, Steven F. 2010. "The Role of Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin (TSLP) in Allergic Disorders."
- *Current Opinion in Immunology* 22 (6): 795. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COI.2010.10.020. Ziegler, Steven F., and David Artis. 2010. "Sensing the Outside World: TSLP Regulates Barrier Immunity." Nature Immunology. Nat Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1852.

- Ziegler, Steven F., Florence Roan, Bryan D. Bell, Thomas a. Stoklasek, Masayuki Kitajima, and Hongwei Han. 2013. "The Biology of Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin (TSLP)." Advances in Pharmacology 66: 129–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-404717-4.00004-4.
 Zosky, G. R., and P. D. Sly. 2007. "Animal Models of Asthma." Clinical and Experimental Allergy 37 (7): 973–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2222.2007.02740.x.

LIST OF FIGURES

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AND CONTRIBUTIONS

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

- P. Graff, J. Wilzpolski, O. Kershaw, T. Blimkie, P. Panwar, D. Brömme, T.Hackett, L. Loyal, A.Thiel, B. Hancock, A. Gruber, W. Bäumer, S. Hedtrich. *Extracellular Matrix Remodeling in Atopic Dermatitis Harnesses the Onset of an Asthmatic Lung Phenotype and is a Potential Driver of the Atopic March.* Manuscript currently in preparation
- P. Graff[§], S. Hönzke[§], A. A. Joshi, G. Yealland, E. Fleige, M. Unbehauen, M. Schäfer-Korting, A. Hocke, R. Haag³, S. Hedtrich. *Preclinical Testing of Dendritic Core-Multishell Nanoparticles in Inflammatory Skin Equivalents*. Submitted to Mol Pharm 2021. § shared first-authors
- A. Gruber, A. A. Joshi, **P. Graff**, J. L. Cuéllar-Camacho, S. Hedtrich, D. Klinger. *The influence of nanogel amphiphilicity on dermal delivery: Balancing surface hydrophobicity and network rigidity*. Submitted to Biomacromolecules 2021
- R. Charbaji, M. Kar, LE. Theune, J. Bergueiro, A. Eichhorst, L. Navarro, P. Graff, F. Stumpff, M. Calderón, S. Hedtrich. *Design and Testing of Efficient Mucus-Penetrating Nanogels Pitfalls of Preclinical Testing and Lessons Learned.* Small 2021
- I. Dolz-Pérez, MA. Sallam, E. Masiá, D. Morelló-Bolumar, MD. Pérez Del Caz, P. Graff, D. Abdelmonsif, S. Hedtrich, VJ. Nebot, MJ. Vicent. *Polypeptide-Corticosteroid Conjugates as a Topical Treatment Approach to Psoriasis.* J Control Release 2020
- A. Löwa, **P. Graff**, S. Kaessmeyer, S. Hedtrich. *Fibroblasts from Atopic Dermatitis Patients Trigger Inflammatory Processes and Hyperproliferation in Human Skin Equivalents*. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venerol 2020
- F. Zabihi, **P. Graff**, F. Schumacher, B. Kleuser, S.Hedtrich, R. Haag. *Synthesis of Poly(lactide-glycerol) as a Biodegradable and Biocompatible Polymer with High Loading Capacity for Dermal Tacrolimus Delivery.* Nanoscale 2018
- R. Plank, G. Yealland, E. Miceli, D. L. Cunha, P. Graff, ..., H. C. Hennies, S. Hedtrich. Transglutaminase 1 Replacement Therapy Successfully Mitigates the Autosomal Recessive Congenital Ichtyosis Phenotype in Full-Thickness Skin Disease Equivalents. J Invest Dermatol 2018

CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS

Perspectives in Percutaneous Penetration Conference 04/2018 (Poster) **P. Graff**, F. Zahibi, L. Verheyen, S. Hönzke, R. Haag, S. Hedtrich. Development of Inflammatory and Immunocompetent Skin Disease Models as Preclincal Test Systems

SCHOLARSHIPS

- Doctoral scholarship from the "Studienstiftung des deutschen Volkes" from 12/2018-05/2021
- Doctoral scholarship from the "Elsa-Neuman Stiftung des Landes Berlin" from 07/2018-11/2018
- Doctoral scholarship from the DFG-funded SFB1112 (IRTG "Nanocarrier") from 07/2017-06/2018

CURRICULUM VITAE

Due to data protection reasons, the CV has been removed.

APPENDIX

TABLES

Table 8. List of hits from proteomics analysis of skin disease equivalent secretome:Results from one donor for 150 kDa and 250kDa bands are shown. Data generated byUBC proteomics core facility.

150 kDa	Log Prob	Best Log Prob	Best score	Total Intensity
HUMAN Collagen alpha-1(VI)	61,42	6,00	601,90	11421776,0
HUMAN Kératin, type II cytoskeletal 1	47,35	8,76	755,00	7090654,0
HUMAN Keratin, type I cytoskeletal 9	30,73	10,63	884,80	4002394,0
HUMAN Collagen alpha-2(VI)	24,60	3,60	394,20	2683508,0
HUMAN Complement C3	20,47	4,33	530,80	2317328,0
HUMAN Laminin subunit beta-3	20,16	3,76	477,20	1855918,0
HUMAN Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 2 epidermal	17,87	3,67	507,70	2158950,0
HUMAN Collagen alpha-2(I)	16,43	6,20	604,30	1368398,0
HUMAN Collagen alpha-1(I)	16,30	5,75	592,80	1144412,0
HUMAN Laminin subunit gamma-2	11,57	6,75	635,40	696136,0
HUMAN Keratin, type I cytoskeletal 10	8,91	5,25	506,20	816910,0
HUMAN Thrombospondin-1	8,63	3,23	400,50	743528,0
HUMAN Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 6A	6,45	2,88	349,20	657466,0
HUMAN Keratin, type I cytoskeletal 16	6,05	3,17	437,80	396112,0
HUMAN Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 5	5,89	2,96	312,60	311670,0
HUMAN Hornerin OS=Homo sapiens	5,86	2,48	330,00	791874,0
HUMAN Decorin OS=Homo sapiens	5,59	3,80	411,30	473636,0
HUMAN Keratin, type I cytoskeletal 14	3,18	3,18	459,70	240328,0
HUMAN CD44 antigen	2,69	2,69	263,90	177028,0
HUMAN Uncharacterized protein C1orf122	2,61	2,61	242,70	303350,0

250 kDa	Log Prob	Best Log Prob	Best score	Total Intensity
HUMAN Collagen alpha-3(VI)	82,94	3,89	574,10	12374792,0
HUMAN Fibronectin	53,32	6,74	657,00	9615468,0
HUMAN Tenascin	42,92	3,88	518,40	7625964,0
HUMAN Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 1	34,00	7,24	729,40	4681734,0
HUMAN Keratin, type I cytoskeletal 9	20,67	7,29	775,90	2347358,0
HUMAN Keratin, type I cytoskeletal 10	20,63	3,76	534,90	3263792,0
HUMAN Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 2 epidermal	19,49	3,05	355,30	2230018,0
HUMAN Syndecan-4	4,60	4,60	503,20	302304,0
HUMAN Collagen alpha-3(VI)	3,69	3,70	517,10	267622,0
HUMAN Collagen alpha-1(XII)	3,64	2,66	353,20	501730,0
HUMAN Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 5	2,99	2,99	292,50	217878,0
HUMAN Adenylyl cyclase- associated protein 1	2,98	2,99	445,00	183684,0
HUMAN Laminin subunit gamma-2	2,79	1,64	295,20	416460,0
HUMAN Fibrillin-1	2,66	1,96	210,50	444986,0
HUMAN Collagen alpha-1(VII)	2,66	2,66	210,00	136208,0
HUMAN Collagen alpha-2(I)	2,53	2,53	393,90	176700,0
HUMAN Hornerin	2,39	2,34	205,80	389766,0
HUMAN Glypican-1	2,29	2,29	292,10	246724,0

Table 9. Proteomics analysis of healthy and AD ECM models:Functions of proteinsfound significantly increased in healthy or diseased ECM models (see Fig. 28)

Increased in healthy ECM				
		Function		
TENA	Tenascin	ECM Protein, anchor protein for FINC		
SODE	Extracellular superoxide dismutase	Converts superoxide radicals into hydrogen peroxide and oxygen		
ROA2	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins A2/B1	Transcription and processing of pre-mRNA		
NEST	Nestin	Promotes disassembly of phosphorylated vimentin intermediate filaments during mitosis		
LUM	Lumican	Organizes collagen fibril and ECM		
PGBM	Basement membrane- specific heparan sulfate proteoglycan core protein	Attachment substrate for cells playing an essential role in vascularization		
NID1	Nidogen 1	Organizes ECM and basement membrane		
G8JLB6	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein H	RNA binding		
FINC	Fibronectin	Involved in cell adhesion, cell motility, opsonization, wound healing, and maintenance of cell shape		

Increased in diseased ECM				
		Function		
SCOT1	Succinyl-CoA:3-ketoacid coenzyme A transferase 1, mitochondrial	Key enzyme for ketone body catabolism		
DDR-2	Discoidin domain- containing receptor 2	Regulates remodeling of ECM		
ODO1	2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase, mitochondrial	Mediates the decarboxylation of alpha- ketoglutarate		
тнік	3-ketoacyl-CoA thiolase, peroxisomal	Involved in thiolytic cleavage of straight chain 3-oxoacyl-CoAs		
MYOF	Myoferlin	Calcium/phospholipid- binding protein		
VPP1	V-type proton ATPase 116 kDa subunit a1	Involved in ion membrane transport		
MFGM	Lactadherin	Promotes VEGF-dependent neo-vascularization		
PYGB	Glycogen phosphorylase, brain form	Regulates glycogen mobilization		
STAT1	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1-alpha/beta	Mediates cellular responses to interferons and growth factors		
TNPO1	Transportin 1	Nuclear transport receptor		
G6PD	Glucose-6-phosphate 1- dehydrogenase	Provides NADPH and pentose phosphates for fatty acid and nucleic acid synthesis		
HTRA1	Serine protease HTRA	Protease targeting ECM proteins		

FIGURE



ECM organization



Cytokine signaling



TLR 4 signaling

Figure 30. Network analysis of RNA-sequencing data of healthy and AD fibroblasts Minimum order subnetworks, created in NetworkAnalyst. These were generated by extracting nodes belonging to the indicated pathway from the initial PPI network built with the 1,593 DE genes. Key nodes with biological implications for AD present in one or both networks include HSP90AA1, STAT1, ITGB5, and SHC1. Subnetworks of ECM organization, cytokine and TLR4 signaling.